NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



Isolation and characterization of RA-target genes from keratinocytes potentially involved in epithelial tumorigenesis

124212

By Brigitte Laforest

Faculty of Graduate Studies Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master

January 2005

©Brigitte Laforest



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-494-12478-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-494-12478-4

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

Retinoic acid (RA), the principal biologically active retinoid, is essential for normal differentiation of a wide variety of cell types. Vitamin A deficiency predisposes to certain cancers and it has since been discovered that retinoids display antitumorigenic activity in many models. Keratinocytes with a null mutation in the RAR γ and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ genes are predisposed to tumorigenesis *in vivo*. This outcome is reversed by the reintroduction of a functional RAR, suggesting that some retinoid-target gene(s) are implicated in tumour formation in this model. Suppressive subtractive hybridization techniques have been used to isolate RA-responsive genes no longer regulated in RARnull keratinocytes. This work led to the cloning of *gas3*, a member of the growth arrestspecific gene family. Our studies have demonstrated that *gas3* expression is regulated by RA and is greatly reduced following tumor promotion, indicating that this gene could potentially inhibit epidermal tumorigenesis elicited by retinoids.

SUMMARY

L'acide rétinoïque (AR), la principale forme biologiquement active de la vitamine A, est essentielle à la différentiation de plusieurs types cellulaires. La déficience à la vitamine A cause certains cancers et depuis, il a été découvert que les rétinoides ont un effet antitumorigénique dans plusieurs modèles. Ils ont aussi le potentiel de guérir quelques cancers épithéliaux, incluant le carcinome de la peau. L'injection de keratinocytes homozygote pour une mutation nulle pour les récepteurs RARy et RARay dans des souris nudes augmente l'incidence de la tumorigénège in vivo. Cet effet est inversé par la ré-introduction d'un RAR fonctionnel, ce qui suggère que certains gènes cibles sont impliqués dans la formation de tumeurs dans ce modèle. Des techniques de soustraction par hybridation, en utilisant des kératinocytes déficients en RARay qui ne répondent plus à l'AR, ont été employées afin d'identifier des gènes cibles de l'AR. Ces études ont menées au clonage de gas3, codant pour une protéine de la famille des gènes impliqués dans l'arrêt de la croissance cellulaire. Nos études ont démontrés que gas3 est régulé par l'AR et que son expression est fortement réduite suite à la promotion de tumeurs, indiquant que ce gène aurait un rôle potentiel dans l'inhibition de la tumorigénège élicitée par les rétinoides dans l'épiderme.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
SUMMARY	iii
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	ix
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	x

CHAPTER 1. Literature Review

1.1.	Vitam	in A metabolism	2
	1.1.1	Vitamin A uptake, storage and metabolism	2
	1.1.2	Biosynthesis of retinaldehyde	3
	1.1.3	Biosynthesis of retinoic acid	7
	1.1.4	Degradation of retinoic acid	9
	1.1.5	Intracellular retinoid binding proteins	.12
1.2.	The re	etinoic acid receptors	.14
	1.2.1	Nuclear hormone receptor superfamily	.14
	1.2.2	RXR, a common DNA binding partner	.17
	1.2.3	Retinoic acid response elements	18
1.3.	Trans	cription of retinoid target genes	.20
	1.3.1	RARs and transcriptional corepressors	.20
	1.3.2	RARs, transcriptional coactivators and histone acetylation	.24
	1.3.3	Determinants for coactivator and corepressor binding	.27
1.4.	Skin d	levelopment	.28
	1.4.1	Structure of the skin	28
	1.4.2	Growth and differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes	33
1.5.	Patho	genesis of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma	.36
	1.5.1	Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma	36
	1.5.2	The multistage skin carcinogenesis model	.36
	1.5.3	Signaling pathways involved in mouse two-stage skin carcinogenesis	.38

1.6.	Role	of RA and RARs in the epidermis	.41
	1.6.1	RA, RARs and epidermal development	41
	1.6.2	RA, RARs in epithelial tumorigenesis	.43
	1.6.3	Retinoids and chemoprevention of cancer	46
1.7.	Hypot	thesis	49

CHAPTER 2. Materials and Methods.

2.1.	Suppressive subtractive hybridization	.51
2.2.	Reverse Northern analysis	.51
2.3.	Generation of immortalized cell lines and treatment of cells	.52
	2.3.a. Primary keratinocyte culture and immortalization	.52
	2.3.b. Treatment of immortalized keratinocyte cell lines	.52
2.4.	RNA isolation	.53
	2.4.a. Total RNA	.53
	2.4.b. Poly A+ RNA	.53
2.5.	Northern blots	.53
2.6.	Animals	.53
2.7.	Treatment of animals	.54
	2.7.a. Treatment of skin	.54
	2.7.b. Tumour studies	.54
2.8.	Immunohistochemistry	.54

CHAPTER 3. Results

3.1.	Suppression subtractive hybridization (SHH)	
3.2.	Identification of differentially expressed transcripts from SHH	.60
3.3.	Identification of RA-regulated genes	.64
3.4.	Gas3 expression in skin in vivo	69
3.5.	Gas3 induction by RA is independent of de novo protein synthesis	71
3.6.	Expression of gas3 is reduced in papillomas	.71
3.7.	Antagonistic effects of RA and TPA	74

CHAPTER 4. General Discussion

4.1.	Isolation of RA-target genes from keratinocytes	78
4.2.	Regulation of gas3 expression by RA	80
4.3.	RA regulation of gas3 gene expression	81
4.4.	Is Gas3 involved in epithelial tumourigenesis?	.82
4.5.	TPA represses expression of gas3	82
4.6.	Future perspectives	84
4.7.	Summary	85

EFERENCES

ABBREVIATIONS

AD:	Activation domain
ADH:	Alcohol dehydrogenase
AF-1:	Activation function-1
AF-2:	Activation function-2
ALDH:	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
AK:	Actinic keratoses
AP-1:	Activating protein-1
BCC:	Basal cell carcinoma
BM:	Basement membrane
CBP:	CREB-binding protein
Cdk:	Cyclin dependent kinase
CEL:	Cholesteryl ester hydrolase
CRABP:	Cellular retinoic-acid binding protein
CRBP:	Cellular retinoid binding protein
CHX:	Cycloheximide
DBD:	DNA binding domain
DEJ:	Dermal-epidermal junction
DMBA:	7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene
DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
dnRAR:	dominant negative RAR
DR:	Direct repeat
DRIP:	vitamin D receptor-interacting protein
ECM:	Extracellular matrix
EGFR:	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ER:	Estrogen receptor
Gas3:	Growth arrest-specific gene 3
GR:	Glucocorticoid receptor
HAT:	Histone acetyltransferase
HDAC:	Histone deacetyltransferase
4-HPR:	N-(4-hydroxyphenyl) retinamide
HRE:	Hormone response element
ID:	Interacting domain
IKK:	I kappa kinase
IRS:	Inner root sheat
LBD:	Ligand-binding domain
MAPK:	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MRGX:	MORF-related factor X
N-CoR:	Nuclear receptor corepressor
NF-κB:	Nuclear factor- κB
NR:	Nuclear receptor
ODC:	Orthinine decarboxylase
ORS:	Outer root sheat
PKA:	Protein kinase A
PKC:	Protein kinase C

PMP22:	Peripheral myelin protein 22
PPAR:	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
RA:	Retinoic acid
RAL:	Retinaldehyde
RALDH:	Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase
RAR:	Retinoic acid receptor
RARE:	Retinoic acid response element
RBP:	Retinol binding protein
RD:	Repression domain
REH:	Retinyl ester hydrolase
RID:	Receptor interacting domain
RoDH:	Retinol dehydrogenase
ROL:	Retinol
RXR:	Retinoid X receptor
SCC:	Squamous cell carcinoma
SDR:	Short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase/reductase
SMRT:	Silencing mediator for retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptors
SRC:	Steroid receptor coactivator
SRRP:	Small proline-rich region protein
Tgase:	Transglutaminase
TGFβ:	Transforming growth factor β
TR:	Thyroid hormone receptor
TRAP:	Thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein
TRE:	Thyroid receptor response element
TTR:	Transthyretin
VAD:	Vitamin A deficiency
VDR:	Vitamin D ₃ receptor

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1. Litterature review

Figure 1-1	Schematic representation of vitamin A metabolism	4
Figure 1-2	Structure of nuclear hormone receptors	15
Figure 1-3	Transcriptional regulation by the retinoic acid receptors	23
Figure 1-4	Structure of the skin	29
Figure 1-5	Schematic representation of mouse skin carcinogenesis	37

CHAPTER 3. Results

Figure 3-1	Suppressive subtractive hybridization (SSH))
Figure 3-2.	Differential expression of candidate RA target genes	
	by reverse northern analysis	2
Figure 3-3	Temporal induction of retinoic acid-responsive genes6	8
Figure 3-4	Gas3 is induced in primary keratinocytes70	0
Figure 3-5.	Gas3 expression in murine skin72	2
Figure 3-6	Gas3 induction by RA is independent of de novo protein synthesis7	3
Figure 3-7	Gas3 expression is reduced in papillomas7	'5
Figure 3-8	TPA antagonizes the induction of gas3 by RA70	6

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 3. Results

Table 3-1	Suppression subtractive hybridization results	63
Table 3-2	RA-regulated candidate genes	65

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. David Lohnes, for his guidance, support and advice throughout my graduate studies. I am thankful to him for giving me the opportunity to work on this promising project. I always found the lab meetings to be a great source of knowledge and the brainstorming that we did during these hours helped me focus, think and come up with new ideas for my project. I really appreciated my time under his supervision.

I wish to express my gratitude to the members of my laboratory for the memorable times we passed together and the help they provided to my project. I am really grateful to Martin Houle and Angello Iulianella for sharing their scientific knowledge with me and for all the interesting and intriguing discussions we had together during these years. These memorable times made my laboratory hours enjoyable. A special thanks to Jean-Rene Sylvestre who took really good care of all the animals and showed me how to kill my first mouse. I also would like to thank our two research assistants, Nathalie Bouchard and Karen Oh, for the advices and support they granted me. Last but not least, I want to thank Philippe Goyette for his scientific knowledge and for giving me a chance to work on this project and to Chen Fang Chen for his contribution.

I wish to thank my parents for their unconditional love. They have always been besides me to support all my decisions, to guide me whenever I was lost and to give me advice when ever I required their help. This was especially appreciated.

Most of all, I am truly grateful to my boyfriend, Benoit Cardinal-David, who was always there to support me and guide me through all the good and bad times in the lab. His understanding, patience, friendship, faith and love gave me strength and inspired me to go forward. I have learned a great deal about life and science with him by my side and I will always be thankful. This was remarkably appreciated.

Chapter 1

Literature Review

1.1. Vitamin A metabolism

1.1.1. Vitamin A uptake, storage and metabolism

All vitamin A in the body is acquired from the diet either as preformed vitamin A (retinyl esters) or provitamin A carotenoids (β -carotene) (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Napoli, 1996; Vogel et al., 1999). Animal fats and fish liver oils are major sources of retinyl esters whereas carotenoids are primarily found in yellow and green vegetables. Dietary retinoids undergo a series of metabolic conversions within the lumen or the mucosa of the small intestine, resulting in the production of all-trans-retinol (vitamin A), which represents the most abundant retinoid in blood (Figure 1-1; Vogel et al., 1999). However, processing of dietary retinoids depends on their source of origin. Retinyl esters are hydrolyzed to ROL whereas provitamin A carotenoids are oxidized to retinal and subsequently reduced to ROL (Gottesman et al., 2001; Napoli et al., 1999b). It has long been thought that triglyceride lipase and cholesteryl ester hydrolase (CEL) are able to hydrolyze retinyl esters (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Van Bennekum et al., 2000). However, other evidence demonstrates that a hydrolase activity intrinsic to the brush border membrane of the small intestine cleaves retinyl palmitate (Rigtrup and Ong, 1992; Rigtrup et al., 1994). This notion is further supported by the fact that the rate and amount of vitamin A taken up by the small intestine from bolus doses of ROL, retinyl acetate and retinyl palmitate, is equivalent between CEL-deficient and wild-type mice (Vogel et al., 1999).

The synthesized ROL is then reesterified by lecithin:retinol acetyltransferase (LRAT) within the enterocyte and is packaged, along with other dietary lipids, into nascent chylomicrons (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Vogel *et al.*, 1999). Of note, LRAT uses ROL bound to cellular retinol-binding protein II (CRBPII, discussed in section 1.1.5) as a substrate for esterification (Ong, 1994). Following secretion of these lipoproteins into the lymphatic system, the majority is taken and stored by the liver and other organs, with the liver serving as the main site of storage (Blaner and Olson, 1994). For biological activity, ROL must be first oxidized to all-*trans* retinaldehyde (RAL) and

subsequently to all-*trans* RA by the action of several enzymes (discussed in section 1.1.2 and 1.1.3).

ROL travels in the general circulation complexed to its specific plasma transport protein, retinol-binding protein (RBP, Gottesman et al., 2001; Quadro et al., 2003; Vogel et al., 1999). Moreover, retinol-Rbp circulates in the blood in a 1:1 molar complex with transthyretin (TTR), which prevents glomerular filtration of RBP (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Vogel et al., 1999). It has long been thought that the sole function of RBP was to deliver ROL to tissues (Blaner and Olson, 1994). In particular, targeted disruption of *Rbp* in mice has provided interesting insights into the role of this protein in vitamin A metabolism. *Rbp*-null mice are unable to mobilize ROL from hepatic stores and have impaired vision during the first several months of life (Quadro et al., 1999, 2003; Vogel et al., 2002). However, when these mice are maintained on a standard chow diet, they accumulate sufficient RAL levels to achieve normal vision by 4-5 months of age (Quadro et al., 1999). Therefore, Rbp^{-/-} mice are able to use RBPindependent pathways to mobilize retinoids. These mechanisms include circulation of albumin bound RA, retinyl esters in chylomicrons and chylomicron remnants, and provitamin A carotenoids that can be converted to RA within tissues (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Gottesman et al., 2001; Vogel et al., 1999). However, RBP knockout mice accumulate significantly higher concentrations of hepatic ROL than wild-type animals by 5 months of age (Quadro et al., 2003). Their hepatic levels of total ROL do not fall after exposure to a vitamin A-deficient diet, clearly indicating that they cannot mobilize hepatic retinoid stores. These studies suggest that the major role of RBP is to ensure that ROL is available for maintaining normal cellular functions in times of inadequate vitamin A intake.

1.1.2. Biosynthesis of retinaldehyde

The reversible oxidation of ROL to RAL is catalyzed by two different classes of ROL dehydrogenases, referred as medium-chain alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) and short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR; Figure 1-1; Duester, 2000, 2001; Duester *et al.*, 2003; Jörnvall *et al.*, 1995). All members of the ADH and SDR families require NAD+ to catalyze the oxidation of substrates. Therefore, in the



Figure 1-1. Schematic representation of vitamin A metabolism. ADH, alcohol dehydrogenase; LRAT, lecithin:retinol acetyl transferase; RALDH, retinaldehyde dehydrogenase; REH, retinyl ester hydrolase; RetSDR,; RoDH, retinol dehydrogenase. See text for details.

presence of NAD, ROL will be oxidized to RAL whereas the reverse reaction will take place in the presence of NADH.

Medium-chain alcohol dehydrogenases (ADHs). Orthologs of the ADH family have been identified in mouse, rat, human, fish and frog (Duester, 2000). The mediumchain alcohol dehydrogenases are dimeric zinc metalloenzymes that are divided into eight classes in vertebrates (ADH1-8; Duester *et al.*, 1999; Duester, 2000, 2001). ADH1-7 are NAD-dependent enzymes whereas ADH8 is NADP(H)-dependent. These enzymes have different affinities for all-*trans* ROL, 9-*cis* and 13-*cis* retinoid isomers as well as ethanol (Boleda *et al.*, 1993; Duester *et al.*, 1999; Yang *et al.*, 1994). In support of this, ADH8 has very high activity for reduction of all-*trans* ROL (kcat/km = 33.8 μ M⁻¹Xmin⁻¹) and also has moderate affinity for 9-*cis* RAL (kcat/Km = 7.8 μ M⁻¹Xmin⁻¹; Duester, 2000). However, only six ADHs (ADH1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 8) are able to use ROL as substrate. Of these, ADH1, ADH3 and ADH4 have been found to play an important role in retinoid metabolism (Ang *et al.*, 1996a, 1996b; Duester *et al.*, 2003; Yang *et al.*, 1994).

ADH1 is conserved across many species including frogs, bony fish, birds, rodents and humans (Duester *et al.*, 1999). Both ADH1 and ADH4 are expressed in many retinoid target tissues (Ang *et al.*, 1996a, 1996b; Bilanchone *et al.*, 1986; Deltour *et al.*, 1997; Haselbeck *et al.*, 1997a; Hoffmann *et al.*, 1998; Vonesch *et al.*, 1994). ADH1 is also found in the liver where it represents about 1% of cytosolic protein (Vallée *et al.*, 1983). In addition, ADH4 is more efficient at metabolizing ROL compared with other members of the family (Yang *et al.*, 1994). *Adh1* and *Adh4*-null mice exhibit no obvious embryonic defects when maintained on a sufficient vitamin A diet (Deltour *et al.*, 1999a, 1999b; Duester *et al.*, 2003). However, *Adh1^{-/-}* mice show a severe reduction in ROL metabolism when subjected to large doses of ROL, leading to excessive vitamin A toxicity (Molotkov *et al.*, 2002a). On the same line, *Adh4^{-/-}* newborn mice, but not *Adh1*-null mutants, exhibit reduced growth and die by day 15 when deprived of vitamin A (Deltour *et al.*, 1999b; Molotkov *et al.*, 2002a). Interestingly, *Adh1:Adh4^{-/-}* double mutant mice do not have a more severe vitamin A toxicity than *Adh1*-null mutants, and exhibit postnatal lethality by day 24 during VAD,

similar to *Adh4*-null mice (Molotkov *et al.*, 2002a). Overall, these studies indicate that ADH1 and ADH4 have non-overlapping roles in RA synthesis.

ADH3 is a ubiquitous enzyme that was first described as a glutathionedependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase (Fernandez *et al.*, 1995). However, studies of *Adh3*-null mice revealed that it is associated with ROL metabolism (Duester *et al.*, 2003; Molotkov *et al.*, 2002b). In contrast to both *Adh1*^{-/-} and *Adh4*^{-/-} mice, *Adh3*-null mutants exhibit reduced viability and growth when maintained on a retinoid sufficient diet. Moreover, *Adh3*^{-/-} mice display high vitamin A toxicity when given large doses of ROL, have a postnatal lethal phenotype evoked by VAD and exhibit reduced RAgeneration *in vivo* (Molotkov *et al.*, 2002a, 2002b). Overall, these results suggest that ADH3 performs an essential role in retinoid signaling with additional contributions from ADH1 and ADH4 (Ang *et al.*, 1996a, 1996b; Molotkov *et al.*, 2002a). Moreover, neither ADH1 nor ADH4 can fully compensate for ADH3 function when ROL becomes limiting (Molotkov *et al.*, 2002b).

Short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR). These enzymes were originally purified as microsomal ROL dehydrogenases in the liver, where they are highly expressed (Leo et al., 1987; Napoli and Race, 1990). SDRs are evolutionarily related to the ADH family, but are smaller and do not require a catalytic metal ion for activity (Duester, 2000, 2003; Persson et al., 1995). The vertebrate SDR family is composed of eight members, including RoDH1-4, CRAD1, CRAD2, RDH5 and retSDR1 (Chai et al., 1997; Driessen et al., 1998; Duester, 2000; Gamble et al., 1999; Haeseleer et al., 1998). Of these, RoDH1, RoDH3-4, CRAD1-2 and RDH5 are NADor NADP-dependent whereas RoDH2 and retSDR1 are NADPH-dependent (Haeseleer et al., 1998). SDRs, like ADHs, have wide substrate specificities encompassing hydroxysteroids, retinoids as well as other alcohols and aldehydes of physiological importance (Duester, 2000). They also show different affinities towards retinoids, including all-trans, 9-cis and 11-cis ROL. With exception of RDH5, no genetic investigations or *in vivo* studies have been reported and thus, a role for these enzymes in retinoid signaling has not been clearly established (Driessen et al., 2000; Duester et al., 2003; Shang et al., 2002).

1.1.3. Biosynthesis of retinoic acid

Various aldehyde or retinaldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDH or RALDH) have been proposed to catalyze the oxidation of RAL to RA (Figure 1-1; Duester, 1999, 2000; Duester *et al.*, 2003; Napoli, 1996). The vertebrate ALDH family consists of 16 distinct enzymes, with RALDH1 (ALDH1A1), RALDH2 (ALDH1A2) and RALDH3 (ALDH1A3) representing cytosolic forms (Vasiliou *et al.*, 1999; Yoshida *et al.*, 1998). RALDHs require NAD as a coenzyme to catalyze oxidation of substrates. Of the 16 members of the family, only RALDH1, RALDH2, RALDH3 and ALDH2 are able to use retinal as a substrate (Duester *et al.*, 2003). Unlike ROL oxidation, the oxidation of retinal to RA is irreversible.

Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (RALDH1). RALDH1 is expressed in a subset of RA-dependent embryonic tissues as well as adult organs including the eye, thymus, lung and the liver, among others (Ang and Duester., 1999a; Duester, 2001; Wagner et al., 2000). The expression of RALDH1 in the embryonic eye has been linked to synthesis of RA and injection of mouse or frog RALDH1 mRNA into Xenopus embryos results in premature RA synthesis during embryogenesis (Ang and Duester, 1999b; McCaffery et al., 1999). Thus, these studies provided the first insight that this protein could synthesize RA in vivo. However, Raldh1^{-/-} mice are viable and exhibit normal retinal morphology even though there is complete absence of this protein in the dorsal neural retina, which is inconsistent with an essential role for RALDH1 in development of the eye (Fan et al., 2003). This suggests that other RA-generating enzymes may compensate for proper retina development. In support of this, RALDH3 is expressed in the dorsal retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and ventral neural retina and has a 10-fold higher activity than RALDH1 for oxidation of RAL (Grün et al., 2000). Thus, it has been proposed that RALDH3 in the RPE is sufficient to generate RA observed in the dorsal eye of Raldh1^{-/-} embryos (Fan et al., 2003). However, it still remains unclear what role RALDH1 might play in retinoid signaling in vivo.

Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2). RALDH2 is highly conserved across many species including mouse, human, chick and zebrafish (Begemann *et al.*, 2001; Swindell *et al.*, 1999; Zhao *et al.*, 1996). RALDH2 is first expressed in the embryonic mesoderm on each side of the primitive streak concomitant with RA production at embryonic day (E) 7.5 (Niederreither *et al.*, 1997). Subsequently, RALDH2 is expressed in the posterior part of the embryo up to the base of the headfold, including undifferentiated somites, the optic vesicle, inner ear, flank mesoderm, posterior hindbrain mesenchyme, posterior heart mesoderm, trunk mesoderm, proximal limb bud and in various organs at foetal stages (Berggren *et al.*, 1999; Niederreither *et al.*, 1997). It is also expressed in several retinoid-target tissues in the adult, indicative of a role in retinoid signaling (Duester, 2001; Haselbeck *et al.*, 1999; Zhao *et al.*, 1996).

Overexpression of RALDH2 in *Xenopus* embryos, like RALDH1, results in increased RA levels, indicative of a role for this enzyme in retinoid metabolism (Haselbeck *et al.*, 1999). *Raldh2* null mutants suffer from embryonic lethality at E10.5 (Mic and Duester, 2003; Mic *et al.*, 2002; Niederreither *et al.*, 1999, 2001, 2003). Interestingly, *Raldh2^{-/-}* embryos develop normally until E8.5 at which point they fail to undergo axial rotation and become shortened along their anteroposterior axis by E9.5. Other defects include arrested development of trunk mesoderm, lack of heart looping and chamber morphogenesis, impaired posterior hindbrain development, and lack of development of branchial arches (Duester, 2001, 2003; Niederreither *et al.*, 2000, 2001). In general, *Raldh2* null mutants lack RA everywhere except the eye. Furthermore, these malformations can be rescued by maternal RA administration from E7 to at least E8.5 (Mic *et al.*, 2002; Niederreither *et al.*, 2003). These studies therefore provide strong evidence that RALDH2 is indispensable for generation of RA during embryonic development.

Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 3 (RALDH3). RALDH3 was recently isolated from mouse and chick (Grün et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000a; Mic et al., 2000; Suzuki et al., 2000). The human homolog is known as ALDH6 or ALDH1A3 (Hsu et al., 1994). RALDH3 is highly restricted to the eye, more particularly the ventral retina, dorsal retina and pigment epithelium, olfactory pit, otic vesicle and at low levels in the forebrain and ureteric buds (Duester et al., 2003; Grün et al., 2000; Mic et al., 2000; Suzuki et al., 2000). Similar to RALDH1 and RALDH2, it is able to oxidize RAL *in vitro* (Grün et al., 2000). Moreover, injection of ALDH inhibitors into the ectodermal site of RALDH3 expression adjacent to the forebrain in chick results in frontonasal developmental defects (Schneider et al., 2001). Raldh3-null mutants suffer from severe malformations restricted to ocular and nasal regions, including choanal atresia (a rare and heritable developmental defect), followed by death at birth (Dupé *et al.*, 2003). Interestingly, these defects are highly similar to those observed in vitamin A deficient embryos and RAR-null mutants (Dickman *et al.*, 1997; Lohnes *et al.*, 1994; Wendling *et al.*, 2000; White *et al.*, 2000b;). Furthermore, maternal administration of RA between E8.5 and E14.5 prevented choanal atresia and nasolacrimal groove persistence. Fan *et al.* hypothesized that RALDH3 could provide sufficient RA for retina development when RALDH1 is missing (Fan *et al.*, 2003). However, the ventral retina appears normal at E18.8 in *Raldh3* knockout mice, suggesting that RALDH1 could compensate for RALDH3 (Dupé *et al.*, 2003). Overall, these studies strongly indicate that RALDH3 is critical to provide RA for nasal development and to prevent choanal atresia, that may be due to mutations in the *Raldh3* locus.

1.1.4. Degradation of retinoic acid

Tight regulation of RA levels during embryogenesis is critical as either RA excess or deficiency have detrimental effects resulting in various malformations. The availability of RA during embryogenesis is achieved by retinoid synthesizing enzymes, including members of the ALDH and RALDH families. However, vertebrates have also evolved degradative mechanisms to protect tissues from inappropriate exposure to RA. RA degradation involves several pathways including oxidation, formation of glucuronides and taurine conjugates, with oxidation being the major route of degradation (Genchi *et al.*, 1996; Kojima *et al.*, 1994; Shirley *et al.*, 1996).

The cytochrome *P*-450 family has known to be involved in RA metabolism for some time (van Wauve *et al.*, 1990; Williams and Napoli, 1987). Recently, a new member, referred as P450RAI or Cyp26A1, was identified in zebrafish, mouse, human, chick and *Xenopus* (Blentic *et al.*, 2003; de Roos *et al.*, 1999; Fuji *et al.*, 1997; Haque *et al.*, 1998; Swindell *et al.*, 1999; White *et al.*, 1996). Cyp26A1 is believed to be essential in inactivation of all-*trans* RA. In support of this, overexpression of Cyp26A1 in several cell lines results in higher production of polar metabolites including 4hydroxy, 4-oxo and 18-hydroxy RA from all-*trans* RA (Fuji *et al.*, 1997; White *et al.*, 1996). Exogenous RA can strongly induce the expression of *Cyp26A1*, which is required for induction of reporter gene expression in response to RA (Abu-Abed *et al.*, 1998; Loudig *et al.*, 2000; Ray *et al.*, 1997; Sonneveld *et al.*, 1998). This is believed to create a negative feedback loop whereby RA induces *Cyp26A1* expression resulting in RA degradation (Abu-Abed *et al.*, 1998; Fuji *et al.*, 1997; Ray *et al.*, 1997; White *et al.*, 1996).

Studies in mouse and *Xenopus* have shown that *Cyp26A1* exhibits a complex spatiotemporal pattern of expression during development (de Roos *et al.*, 1999; Holleman *et al.*, 1998; McCaffery *et al.*, 1999). Of particular interest, *Cyp26A1* transcripts are expressed in the primitive streak and the mesoderm of the early gastrulating mouse embryo (E6.5-E7.5) whereas expression shifts more posteriorly, becoming restricted to the neuropore, the hindgut and the tail bud, by late gastrulation (E8.5-E10; de Roos *et al.*, 1999; Fujii *et al.*, 1997). From E9.5 onwards, *Cyp26A1* transcripts can also be detected in various regions including the hindbrain, pharynx, tailbud, neural retina, stomach, cartilage condensations of the digits and epithelium of the limbs among others (de Roos *et al.*, 1999; Fujii *et al.*, 1997).

Targeted inactivation of Cyp26A1 results in embryonic lethality by mid-late gestation and results in severe morphogenetic defect, which are similar to RA administration, suggesting that Cyp26A1 is essential in controlling RA levels during development. (Abu-Abed et al., 2001; Padmanabhan, 1998). These defects include spina bifida, agenesis of caudal portions of the digestive and urogenital tracts, vertebral transformations and abnormal hindbrain patterning (Abu-Abed et al., 2001; Sakai et al., 2001). Furthermore, the $Cyp26A1^{-1-}$ phenotype seems to result from the deleterious effects of excess embryonic RA rather than a lack of signaling by polar RA metabolites like 4-oxo-RA (Niederreither et al., 2002). To support this notion, injection of Cyp26A1 into Xenopus embryos is able to rescue the developmental defects induced by excess RA administration (Hollemann et al., 1998). Niederreither et al. hypothesized that if Cyp26A1 functions to protect the embryo from excess RA, the phenotype of $Cyp26A1^{-/-}$ mice should be attenuated in a Raldh2^{+/-} background whereas it should be exaggerated if Cyp26A1-generated metabolites are essential. Indeed, the early lethal phenotype of Cyp26A1-null mice is largely rescued in a RALDH2^{+/-} background (Niederreither et al., 2002). This genetic evidence suggests that these polar derivatives are biologically inactive and thus, are not involved in retinoid signaling but rather are likely catabolites (Niederreither et al., 2002). These studies also suggest that Cyp26A1 and RALDH2 generate local embryonic RA concentrations that must be delicately regulated to allow proper development.

The limbs are largely normal in Cyp26A1^{-/-} mutants, indicating that other RAdegrading enzymes can compensate for the lack of Cyp26A1. Indeed, a second P450RAI enzyme, termed Cyp26B1, has been cloned from mouse, zebrafish, chick and human (Abu-Abed et al., 2002; MacLean et al., 2001; Nelson, 1999; White et al., 2000a). Its enzymatic activity is indistinguishable from that of Cyp26A1 (White et al., 2000a). Cyp26B1 is expressed in the distal region of the developing limb bud, indicating that it could compensate for lack of Cyp26A1 during limb development (MacLean et al., 2001; Yashiro et al., 2004). Indeed, targeted deletion of Cyp26B1 results in severe limb malformations (meromelia) including impaired proximal-distal patterning, increased apoptotic cell death of the proximal region and delayed chondrocyte maturation (Yashiro *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, excess RA evokes exactly the same limb defects as seen in Cyp26B1-null mutants. Thus, Yashiro et al. propose that mesenchymal cells in the developing limb establish their proximal-distal (P-D) identity according to a concentration of RA determined by RA synthesis in the trunk (where RALDH2 is expressed) and RA degradation at the distal end of the limb (where Cyp26B1 is located). Their results provide evidence for an RA gradient along the P-D axis of the developing limb.

Cyp26C1, the third member of the CYP26 family of cytochrome P450s, was cloned recently from human and mouse (Tahayato *et al.*, 2003; Taimi *et al.*, 2004). Cyp26C1 is expressed in the hindbrain and branchial arches at early developmental stages and becomes strongly induced in the tooth buds and inner ear at late stages of embryogenesis (Tahayato *et al.*, 2003). Similar to Cyp26A1 and Cyp26B1, Cyp26C1 is able to convert RA to more polar metabolites and this activity is indistinguishable from the other two members of the family (Taimi *et al.*, 2004). Although Cyp26C1 shares significant sequence similarity with Cyp26A1 and Cyp26B1, it exhibits a unique catalytic activity as it can metabolize 9-*cis* RA to 4-*hydroxy*-9-*cis* RA and 4-*oxo*-9-*cis* RA (Chithalen *et al.*, 2002; Montplaisir *et al.*, 2002; Taimi *et al.*, 2004). However, the

physiological role of 9-*cis* RA remains unclear. To summarize, the distinct pattern of expression of the three Cyp26 enzymes support unique roles for each during embryogenesis.

1.1.5. Intracellular retinoid binding proteins

Due to their hydrophobic nature, retinoids must associate with proteins in an aqueous environment. To date, several evolutionary conserved intracellular retinoid binding proteins have been characterized in vertebrates: type I and II cellular ROLbinding proteins (CRBPI and CRBPII) and type I and II cellular RA-binding proteins (CRABPI and CRABPII) and type I and II cellular RA-binding proteins (CRABPI and CRABPII; Li *et al.*, 1996; Ong, 1987, 1994). CRBPs recognize both ROL and retinal while CRABPs specifically bind to RA and some of its metabolites.

Cellular retinol binding proteins (CRBPs). Although highly conserved between rat, human, mouse, pig and chick orthologs, CRBPI and CRBPII exhibit remarkably different tissue distribution (Li *et al.*, 1996). Of note, CRBPI expression domains include multiple tissues during embryogenesis and also in the adult (Dolle *et al.*, 1990; Gustafson *et al.*, 1993; de Leeuw *et al.*, 1990; Wardlaw *et al.*, 1997; Zetterstrom *et al.*, 1994). In contrast, CRBPII is highly restricted to the intestine in the adult and in the yolk sac and foetal liver (Crow *et al.*, 1985; Li *et al.*, 1986; Noy, 2000; Schaefer *et al.*, 1989).

Both holo-CRBPI and holo-CRBPII deliver ROL to LRAT for esterification (Blaner and Olson, 1994; Noy, 2000; Ong *et al.*, 1988; Yost *et al.*, 1988). CRBPs also prevent spontaneous nonenzymatic isomerization and oxidation of ROL, which occurs in their absence (Noy, 2000; Ong *et al.*, 1988; Yost *et al.*, 1988). Furthermore, apo-CRBPI acts as an inhibitor of LRAT, thereby stimulating hydrolysis of retinyl esters and subsequent release of ROL to the circulation (Herr and Ong, 1992; Noy, 2000). However, *CrbpI* null mutant mice do not display any signs of congenital abnormalities related to RA deficiency, indicating that it is largely dispensable for RA synthesis (Ghyselinck *et al.*, 1999). Nevertheless, it does play an important role in vitamin A storage and mobilization as $CrbpI^{-/-}$ mice have decreased capacity to store ROL and to maintain retinyl ester stores in the liver due to impaired transfer of dietary ROL from hepatocytes to stellate cells.

The exclusive expression of CRBPII in absorptive cells, where it represents about 0.4-1% of total cytosolic protein, suggests that it plays a role in intestinal absorption (Noy, 2000; Ong et al., 1994). In support of this, overexpression of CRBPII in Caco-2 cells leads to increased uptake and esterification of ROL (Levin, 1993). Similar to CRBPI, CRBPII binds both all-trans retinol and all-trans retinal and determines the specificity of enzymes that will gain access to these substrates (Napoli, 2000; Napoli et al., 1991; Noy, 2000). $Crbp \Pi^{-/-}$ mice appear healthy and fertile but have reduced hepatic stores (a 40% reduction) of ROL when maintained on a vitamin A-enriched diet (Ghyselinck et al., 1999; E et al., 2002). However, increased neonatal lethality is achieved when vitamin A is reduced during mid-late gestation (E et al., 2002). This phenotype is greatly reduced when dietary vitamin A is increased to sufficient levels, suggesting that neonatal mortality was due to inadequate delivery of vitamin A to the developing fetus. Because CRBPII is highly expressed in the small intestine, E et al. had hypothesized that its primary function was to facilitate intestinal absorption and metabolism of ROL (E et al., 2002). However, the increased neonatal mortality observed in CrbpII-null mice may be primarily due to the loss of extra intestinal CRBPII. Overall, these studies indicate that foetal CRBPII is required to ensure adequate delivery of RA to the developing fetus when maternal vitamin A is limited.

Cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins (CRABPs). Both CRABPI and CRABPII are expressed during embryonic development and in adult tissues although they do not co-exist in the same cell (Maden, 1994; Noy, 2000; Ruberte *et al.*, 1992; Zheng and Ong, 1998). CRABPII is found in almost every tissue while CRABPI expression is restricted to the skin, uterus, ovary and choroid plexus.

CRABPI and CRABPII have been suggested to solubilize and protect RA in the cytosol and to transport retinoids between different cellular compartments (Noy, 2000; Takase *et al.*, 1986). To support this notion, both CRABP types can be detected in both the cytosol and nuclei of cells (Takase *et al.*, 1986). CRABPI also appears to transfer RA to CYP26-isoenzymes while CRABPII facilitates transport of RA to the nucleus (Delva *et al.*, 1999; Donovan *et al.*, 1995; Noy, 2000). Thus, CRABPI stimulates the conversion of RA to more polar metabolites such as 4-hydroxy-, 4-oxo-, and 18-hydroxy-retinoic acids by serving as a substrate for the Cyp26 family (Fuji *et al.*, 1997;

White *et al.*, 1996). However, both of these proteins seem to be dispensable for retinoid metabolism and function under normal physiological conditions as *CrabpI*, *CrabpII* or *CrabpI:CrabpII* double null mice are fertile, healthy and develop normally with the exception of a minor limb defect in *CrabpII*^{-/-} and *CrabpII:CrabpII*^{-/-} mice (Fawcett *et al.*, 1995; Lampron *et al.*, 1995).

1.2. The retinoic acid receptors

1.2.1. The nuclear hormone receptor superfamily.

The cloning of the RA receptors (RARs) in the late 1980's marked the beginning of an era leading to a better understanding of the retinoid signaling pathway (Giguère *et al.*, 1987; Giguère and Evans, 1990; Mangelsdorf *et al.*, 1990; Petkovich *et al.*, 1987). The RARs belong to the nuclear receptor (NR) family, which includes receptors for progestins (PR), estrogens (ER), androgens (AR), glucocorticoids (GR), thyroid hormone (TR), vitamin D₃ (VDR) as well as orphan receptors (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Evans, 1988; Mangelsdorf *et al.*, 1995; Ribeiro *et al.*, 1995). These receptors all share a common modular structure comprised of a variable N-terminal domain, a well conserved DNA-binding domain (DBD), a hinge region, a ligand binding domain (LBD), and both a ligand-dependent and independent activation function (AF) (Figure 1-2; Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Kumar and Thompson, 1999; Tenbaum and Baniahmad, 1997).

Multiple receptor isoforms can be generated for several NRs to achieve additional complexity as this is the case for the TRs and RARs (Aranda and Pascual, 2001). For RAR α and RAR γ , two different isoforms (RAR α 1, RAR α 2, RAR γ 1 and RAR γ 2) are created by alternate promoter usage while the combination of differential splicing, isoform-specific start codons and alternate promoter usage produces four isoforms for RAR β in mice (RAR β 1 to RAR β 4; Kastner *et al.*, 1990; Leroy *et al.*, 1991; Nagpal *et al.*, 1992; Zelent *et al.*, 1991).



Figure 1-2. Structure of nuclear hormone receptors.

Nuclear receptors are composed of six modular domains; a DNA binding domain, a hinge region, a ligand binding domain and both a ligand-dependent and independent activation functions. AF: activation function; DBD: DNA binding domain;

The amino-terminal region (A/B) is highly variable both in size and sequence. The N-terminal region of the RARs contains a transcriptional activation function (AF-1) that can act autonomously and ligand-independently (Nagpal *et al.*, 1993). An interesting feature of the AF-1 domain of RAR α and RAR γ is that it contains consensus phosphorylation sites for cyclin-dependent kinases (Rochette-Egly, 2003). As the serine residues targeted by cdk7 lie within surfaces that interact with transcription factors, it is believed that their phosphorylation would help the recruitment of coactivators and thus increase the efficiency of chromatin derepression (Bastien *et al.*, 2000; Rochette-Egly *et al.*, 1997). The AF-1 domain of RAR γ can also be phosphorylated by p38MAPK, positively regulating its transcriptional properties through the recruitment of the ubiquitylation machinery (Gianni *et al.*, 2002a, 2002b, 2003; Kopf *et al.*, 2000). However, phosphorylation of Serine 66 on RAR γ 2 is also a signal for degradation by the 26S proteasome (Gianni *et al.*, 2003).

The RARs, like all other nuclear receptors, contain a sequence-specific DNA binding domain (C) that has the most conserved amino acid sequence (66 residues) within the family. It contains two zinc-finger motifs, which may be considered as an invariant pattern of eight cysteines, arranged in two groups of four, so as to coordinate the binding of two zinc atoms (Kumar and Thompson, 1999). These zinc fingers form two α -helices, the first of which is involved in site-specific recognition and discrimination of binding (Lee *et al.*, 1993). This α -helix, termed the recognition helix, makes specific contacts with the bases of the conserved half-site of the hormone response element (HRE) in the major groove of DNA (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Kumar and Thompson, 1999). The second α -helix, which encompasses a carboxy-terminal extension, forms a right angle with the recognition helix and is involved in DNA binding and dimerization with the retinoid X receptors (RXRs; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995; Rastinejad, 2001).

The LBD (E) not only serves the function of providing a specific ligand binding site, but is also involved in dimerization, coregulator binding and ligand-dependent transcriptional activation (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Kumar and Thompson, 2003; Nagpal *et al.*, 1993; Warnmark *et al.*, 2003). The LBD is composed of 12 α -helices

(H1-H12) and one β -turn (between H5 and H6) arranged as a three-layered antiparallel α -helical sandwich harboring an internal ligand binding core (Gronemeyer and Miturski, 2001; Kumar and Thompson, 1999). The ligand binding cavity is very hydrophobic and can only accommodate small lipophilic molecules. All ligand-activated receptors possess a carboxy-terminal activation function (AF-2), which is central to the recruitment of coactivators and co-repressors (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995; Wurtz *et al.*, 1996). As the AF-2 domain forms part of the ligand-binding pocket, its conformation would predict whether RARs are bound by co-repressors or co-activators. The AF-2 domain also seems to be a target for phosphorylation, which acts to enhance the transcriptional activities of nuclear receptors (Rochette-Egly, 2003). For example, phosphorylation of RAR α by PKA on serine residues between H9 and H10 within the LBD seems to enhance its transcriptional activity by helping heterodimerization and coregulator binding (Rochette-Egly *et al.*, 1995).

In the absence of ligand, the activation function (AF-2) forms an amphipathic α -helix (corresponds to the C-terminal helix H12), that extends at a 45° angle from the body of the core structure. The presence of ligand alters this structure in such a way that the LBD becomes more compact. Ligand binding appears to shift the AF-2 helix over the ligand binding pocket, thus releasing co-repressors and creating a surface for the binding of coactivators (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000; Gronemeyer and Miturski, 2001). In this model, referred as the mouse trap model, ligand binding pocket (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000; Kumar and Thompson, 1999; Moras and Gronemeyer, 1998). In this position, H12 seals the ligand binding cavity and further stabilizes ligand binding.

1.2.2. RXR, a common DNA binding partner

All NRs bind to specific DNA sequences known as hormone response elements (HREs) which consist of a minimal core hexad consensus sequence (5'-PuGGTCA-3'). Response-element recognition occurs subsequently with the formation of dimers between the receptor DBDs. Steroid receptors bind to their cognate response elements

as homodimers while type II NRs function as heterodimers (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Forman and Evans, 1995; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995).

It was shortly discovered after the identification of the RARs, that their effect on gene transcription was potentiated by another group of nuclear receptors, the retinoid X receptors (RXRs). Thereafter, it was soon realized that the RXRs were a heterodimeric partner for various hormone and orphan receptors (Bugge *et al.*, 1992; Kliewer *et al.*, 1992a, 1992b; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995). The RXRs are also members of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily and thus, they share the same modular structure (Figure 1-2). However, RXRs can only associate with 9-*cis* RA whereas RARs can bind to both all-*trans* RA and 9-*cis* RA (Allenby *et al.*, 1993; Heyman *et al.*, 1992; Levin *et al.*, 1992; Minucci *et al.*, 1997). The ligand-induced transcriptional activity of RXR is abolished when complexed with RAR, TR and VDR (Forman and Evans, 1995; Kurokawa *et al.*, 1994; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995). The formation of the RXR/RAR heterodimer prevents RXR from binding to 9-*cis* RA, which indicates that RXR is a silent partner.

Similar to RARs, multiple isoforms can also be generated for RXRs (RXR α 1, RXR α 2, RXR β 1, RXR β 2, RXR γ 1 and RXR γ 2; Liu *et al.*, 1993; Nagata *et al.*, 1994; Seleiro *et al.*, 1994). RXR γ gives rise to two functional mRNA species (RXR γ 1 and RXR γ 2) that differ at their 5'-ends (Seleiro *et al.*, 1994). Of note, RXR γ 1 seems to be predominant in the liver, brain and muscle whereas RXR γ 2 is expressed in the eye, dorsal root ganglia, cardiac and skeletal muscle. The RXR γ 1 and RXR γ 2 proteins are predicted to differ in their N-terminal domain, in a region though to modulate transcriptional activation by this receptor. Similarly, transcription from different promoters followed by alternative splicing give rise to two isoforms of RXR β (Nagata *et al.*, 1994). Thus, the existence of multiple RXR isoforms may increase the range of heterodimers formed between RXR and the RARs, TRs, VDRs and PPARs.

1.2.3. Retinoic acid response elements

The formation of dimers between the receptor DBDs is influenced by specific repertoires of high-affinity response elements. The nuclear hormone receptor superfamily can be divided into two, with the steroid receptors binding to response

elements containing palindromic repeats whereas RXR homo- and heterodimers bind to direct repeat (DR) sequences (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Glass, 1994; Khorasanizadeh and Rastinejad, 2001; Koenig *et al.*, 1990; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995).

The RARs, like other steroid hormone receptor members, recognize the same hexameric DNA core motif with the consensus half-site 5'-PuGGTCA-3' (purine being A or G, Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Gronemeyer and Miturski, 2001; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995). Direct repeats with one to five base pairs of spacing (DR1-DR5) are binding sites for various RXR-NR heterodimers, with target selectivity dictated by the 1-to-5 rule (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Mangelsdorf and Evans, 1995; Rastinejad, 2001; Rastinejad *et al.*, 1995). According to this rule, the major element contributing to receptor binding specificity is the half-site spacing, which likely causes geometric constraints. DNA binding specificity and polarity to DRs seems to be mediated by the dimerization interface of the DBDs of the two partners (Mader *et al.*, 1993; Kurokawa *et al.*, 1994; Perlmann *et al.*, 1993; Zechel *et al.*, 1994a, 1994b). In addition to these parameters, differences in the sequence of the half-site and in the flanking nucleotides 5' upstream of the response element can have tremendous effects on binding efficiency and transcriptional activities of NRs (Mader *et al.*, 1993; Rastinejad, 2001).

The type of response element to which the RARs bind can directly affect whether they function as activators or repressors of transcription. For example, the DBDs of RXR and RAR can associate with significant cooperativity on DR2 and DR5 elements (Predki *et al.*, 1994; Rastinejad *et al.*, 2000). Several studies have established that RXR occupies the 5' half-site on the response element while the partner occupies the 3' halfsite (Kurokawa *et al.*, 1993; Perlmann *et al.*, 1993; Predki *et al.*, 1994; Zechel *et al.*, 1994). On DR1 elements, RXR can also bind as both a homo- and a heterodimer with RAR. However, the polarity of the RXR/RAR heterodimer is reversed on a DR1 such that RAR now occupies the 5' half-site, thus converting an activator of transcription to a potent repressor (Kurokawa *et al.*, 1994, 1995; Rastinejad *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, RARs do not respond to its ligand on this later element.

1.3. Transcription of retinoid target genes

1.3.1. RARs and transcriptional corepressors

The ability of nuclear receptors to switch from an inactive to an active state by simple addition of ligand has provided some insights with respect to their mechanism of action. The knowledge that the TRs and RARs actively repress transcription in the absence of hormone led to the search for corepressors. Two large proteins, referred as N-CoR (nuclear receptor corepressor) and SMRT (silencing mediator for RAR and TR), have been isolated as RAR and TR interacting proteins (Chen and Evans, 1995; Horlein *et al.*, 1995; Sande and Privalski, 1996; Seol *et al.*, 1996). Unliganded TR and RAR interact strongly with N-CoR and SMRT *in vitro* and N-CoR and SMRT mediate repression of TR and RAR reporter genes in a ligand-independent manner. Moreover, the addition of ligand induces dissociation of N-CoR/SMRT from both RAR and TR with a concomitant induction in gene expression (Chen and Evans, 1995; Horlein *et al.*, 1995).

N-CoR and SMRT contain multiple domains indispensable for gene silencing, including three repression domains (RD), a histone interacting domain and two receptor interacting domains (ID), which have been mapped to their C-terminal referred as ID1 and ID2, also known as LXXI/HIXXXI/L helices (discussed below, Cohen *et al.*, 1998; Horlein *et al.*, 1995; Hu and Lazar, 1999; Seol *et al.*, 1996; Zamir *et al.*, 1996). Horlein *et al.* demonstrated that loss of the CoRNR box attenuates repression by unliganded TR, indicating that this motif is required for efficient TR and RAR-mediated transcriptional repression. Moreover, NRs have distinct preferences and affinities for both ID boxes. For example, RAR binds to ID1 while RXR preferentially interacts with ID2 (Hu and Lazar, 2000).

Crucial insights into the potential mechanisms of transcriptional silencing by nuclear receptors were provided by the cloning of yeast Sin3 (mammalian homologs being Sin3A and Sin3B) and the discovery that these proteins interact with N-CoR and SMRT (Alland *et al.*, 1997; Ayer *et al.*, 1995; Heinzel *et al.*, 1997; Nagy *et al.*, 1997). The Sin3 scaffolding proteins are components of very large protein complexes that

contain histone deacetylases, termed RPD3 in yeast and HDAC1/ HDAC2 (class I deacetylases) in mammals (Hassig *et al.*, 1997; Laherty *et al.*, 1997; Taunton *et al.*, 1996; Zhang *et al.*, 1997). mSin3 and HDAC are required for repression by unliganded receptors, suggesting that corepressors function by recruiting the mSin3-HDAC complex (Heinzel *et al.* 1997; Nagy *et al.*, 1997). Interestingly, Heinzel *et al.* demonstrated that HDAC inhibitors decrease repression by TR or N-CoR fused to a heterologous DNA binding domain, clearly demonstrating that HDACs contribute to repression by NRs. N-CoR/SMRT also associates with class II deacetylases HDAC4, HDAC5 and HDAC7 in a Sin3-independent manner (Huang *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, both N-CoR and SMRT exist in large protein complexes with HDAC3 and this seems to be one mechanism leading to repression of the TR (Ishizuka and Lazar, 2003). HDAC3 is also activated by the deacetylase activating domain (DAD) of SMRT and mutations in the DAD abolishes interactions between HDAC3 and SMRT, suggesting that SMRT does not only act as a platform for HDAC recruitment, but also functions as an important component of an active HDAC3 enzyme (Guenther *et al.*, 2001).

The N-terminal domain of N-CoR and SMRT contains three transferable repression domains (RD1, RD2 and RD3; Hu and Lazar, 2000; Li et al., 1997b) that are crucial for association with mSin3 and HDACs. N-CoR/SMRT recruits mSin3 through RD1 and interacts with HDACs through RD2 and RD3 (Alland et al., 1997; Heinzel et al., 1997; Nagy et al., 1997). Thus, in the absence of ligand, RARs associate with N-CoR/SMRT, which recruit histone deacetylases principally by associating with mSin3 (Figure 1-3). This hypothesis is reinforced by the fact that the ternary complex formed between RAR or TR, N-CoR/SMRT and HDACs is sufficient to grant active repression on RARE or TRE reporters in vitro (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Nagy et al., 1997). The role of HDACs is to maintain a repressive nucleosomal structure. This is accomplished, at least in part, by deacetylation of lysine residues within the N-terminal domain of core histones. Histone tails become more basic upon deacetylation and, subsequently, they interact more tightly with the DNA backbone, which is acidic in nature. As a consequence, the DNA becomes more compact and less accessible to the basal transcription machinery.

Figure 1-3. Transcriptional regulation by the retinoic acid receptors. CBP, CREB-binding protein; DRIP, vitamin D receptor-interacting proteins; HDAC, histone deacetyltransferase; NCOR, nuclear receptor corepressor; RA, retinoic acid; RAR, retinoic acid receptor; RXR, retinoid X receptor; SMRT, silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone receptor; SRC, steroid receptor-coactivator; TRAP, TR-associated proteins. See text for details.


1.3.2. RARs, transcriptional coactivators and histone acetylation

In general, coactivators may play one or more of the following roles in NR transcriptional activity: 1) they function as bridging factors to recruit other coactivators to DNA-bound nuclear receptors, 2) they acetylate histones at target gene promoters and 3) they function as bridging factors between the DNA-bound receptors and the basal transcription machinery (Leo and Chen, 2000; Malik and Roeder, 2000; McKenna *et al.*, 1999).

SRC/p160 coactivators. Among the first coactivators identified were members of the p160/SRC protein family (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Cavailles *et al.*, 1994; Freedman, 1999). There are currently three related members of the p160 coactivator family referred as SRC-1/NcoA-1 (steroid receptor co-activator-1/nuclear receptor co-activator-1), TIF2/GRIP-1/NcoA-2 (transcriptional intermediary factor 2/glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein-1/nuclear receptor co-activator-2) and p/CIP/ACTR/TRAM-1/AIB-1 (p300/CBP interacting protein/activator of the thyroid and RA receptor/thyroid receptor activated molecule-1/amplified in breast cancer-1) (Anzick *et al.*, 1997; Chen *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 1997a; Onate *et al.*, 1995; Takeshita *et al.*, 1997; Torchia *et al.*, 1997). Although p160 cofactors were originally identified as steroid receptor coactivators (SRC), and interact with many nuclear receptors (PR, ER, TR, RXR, GR, PPAR, RAR), they also interact with diverse transcription factors (NFκB, SMAD3, AP-1), supporting a role for these coactivators in multiple signaling pathways (Lee *et al.*, 1998; Na *et al.*, 1998; Yanagisawa *et al.*, 1999).

The SRC family possesses distinct domains that are required for coactivation, including a highly conserved amino-terminal basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH), three receptor interaction domains (RIDs), an activation domain (AD) as well as histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity. The RID of SRC coactivators is required to mediate ligand-dependent association with NRs (Ding *et al.*, 1998; Leo and Chen, 2000; Onate *et al.*, 1998; Voegel *et al.*, 1998). Detailed analysis of the RID revealed that it is composed of an LXXLL motif, termed the NR box (discussed below; Heery *et al.*, 1997). Evidence for the requirement of this motif in mediating association between SRC members and NRs has been provided by both site-directed mutagenesis and peptide competition experiments (Ding *et al.*, 1998; Heery *et al.*, 1997; Torchia *et al.*,

1997). The AD of SRC factors also contains three LXXLL motifs that have been linked to interactions with CBP/p300 (McInerney *et al.*, 1998; Voegel *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, anti-CBP antibodies abolish the binding of SRC-1 to RAR and eliminate the ability of SRC-1 to coactivate RAR, suggesting that CBP/p300 is required for the coactivation and NR binding function of SRC-1.

The C-terminal domain of both SRC-1 and SRC-3 contains HAT activity, suggesting that they might modify the chromatin structure (Xu and Li, 2003). However, the HAT activity of these two proteins is much weaker than those of CBP, p300 or p/CAF. Inactivation of SRC-1 HAT activity does not affect its coactivation function on chromatinized templates, indicating that it is not essential for initiation of transcription. Rather, the p160 coactivators may play major roles through the direct and indirect recruitment of other coactivators.

CBP/p300. The general transcriptional activator CBP was originally identified on the basis of its interaction with the *trans*-activating protein CREB (cAMP-response element binding protein) in response to cAMP (Kwok *et al.*, 1994). In addition, a highly related protein, termed p300, was isolated through its association with the viral E1A protein (Eckner *et al.*, 1994). CBP/p300 is able to potentiate the transcription of a wide range of nuclear receptors (RXR, TR, RAR and ER among others) as well as a number of other transcription factors (AP-1, Jun, Fos, NF-κB and STATs among others; Aranda and Pascual, 20001).

CBP/p300 contains discrete domains that are required for diverse functions, including a RID at its amino-terminus, a bromodomain, a HAT domain, a CH/3 domain and a SRC-1 interaction domain located at its carboxy-terminus (Kamei *et al.*, 1996). As for p160 coactivators, the RID of CBP/p300 contains several NR boxes indispensable for ligand-dependent binding to nuclear receptors (Heery *et al.*, 1997; McKenna *et al.*, 1999). In addition, microinjection of anti-CBP antibodies abolishes transactivation by GR, RAR and RXR whereas overexpression of CBP/p300 potentiates ligand-dependent transcriptional activity of these receptors (Chakravarti *et al.*, 1996; Yao *et al.*; 1998).

CBP/p300 also interacts with the p160 coactivators through an SRC interacting domain (Kamei *et al.*, 1996; Torchia *et al.*, 1997; Voegel *et al.*, 1998). This interaction

has been identified both *in vivo* and *in vitro* and provides receptors with two different ways to interact with CBP/p300. One mechanism involves direct interaction of the NR with the N-terminal RID of CBP and the other through interaction with the p160 coactivators, the latter seems to be the prevalent model. In support of this, CBP is unable to restore transcriptional activity from RARE-linked reporter genes after immunodepletion of SRC-1 (McKenna *et al.*, 1999; Torchia *et al.*, 1997). As different regions of CBP/p300 are involved in interactions with NRs and SCR coactivators, they may form a functional ternary complex at target gene promoters. CBP/p300 also possess potent HAT activity (Aranda and Pascual, 2001; Bannister and Kouzarides, 1996; Ogryzko *et al.*, 1996). Therefore, the recruitment of HAT-containing transcription factors by NRs may lead to the opening of the condensed chromatin structure, leading to the assembly of the pre-initiation complex and to transcriptional activation.

TRAP/DRIP mediators. The search for additional receptor-interacting cofactors led to the discovery of the TRAP/DRIP complex. These coactivators were originally purified as a thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein complex (TRAP) and a vitamin D₃ receptor-interacting protein complex (DRIP; Fondell *et al.*, 1996; Ito and Roeder, 2001; McKenna et al., 1999; Rachez *et al.*, 1998). These studies have shown that the TRAP/DRIP cofactors enhance ligand-dependent transactivation of TR and VDR on chromatinized templates, raising the possibility that they activate a broader range of NRs. Indeed, the TRAP/DRIP complex also acts as a coactivator for several NRs (PPAR, RAR, RXR, ER, GR), through a single subunit, referred as TRAP220/DRIP205 (Hittelman *et al.*, 1999; Rachez *et al.*, 2000; Yuan *et al.*, 1998).

Consistent with these findings, expression of a truncated form of TRAP220 represses TR, VDR and PPAR activation whereas overexpression of full-length TRAP220 enhances their function (Hittelman *et al.*, 1999; Ito and Roeder, 2001). In contrast to p160 coactivators and CBP/p300, the TRAP/DRIP complex is devoid of HAT activity. Rather, many TRAP/DRIP components are highly similar to mediator proteins, raising the possibility that they function by bridging the nuclear receptor-coactivator complex to the basal transcription machinery (Gu *et al.*, 1999; Ito *et al.*, 1999; Näär *et al.*, 1999). In support of this, numerous mediator proteins have been

found to associate with RNA polymerase II, raising the possibility that they are an integral component of the RNA polymerase II holoenzyme (Myer and Young, 1998; Malik and Roeder, 2000).

1.3.3. Determinants for coactivator and corepressor binding

A common feature for the p160/SRC and CBP/p300 coactivator families is the presence of a leucine-rich motif of the consensus sequence LXXLL, which is present in the RID of these coactivators (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000; Heery *et al.*, 1997). This motif, also termed the NR box, forms a short α -helix that directly interacts with helix 12 of the AF-2 domain (Darimont *et al.*, 1998). Corepressors also possess a conserved sequence, similar to the LXXLL motif, within their two RIDs (Hu and Lazar, 1999; Nagy *et al.*, 1999; Perissi *et al.*, 1999). This motif, referred as the CoRNR box or as a LXXI/HIXXXI/L helix, represents an extended α -helix that is both necessary and sufficient for binding to unliganded TR and RAR (Perissi *et al.*, 1999). Molecular modeling of coregulator binding has revealed that the NR and CoRNR boxes dock into the hydrophobic pocket of the LBD formed by helices 3-6 and the AF-2 helix (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000; Perissi *et al.*, 1999).

Discrimination between the association of coactivators or corepressors occurs upon ligand binding. Hormone binding results in a displacement of helix 12 such that it now covers the hydrophobic ligand binding pocket (Figure 1-3). This results in the formation of a charge clamp that associates strongly with the LXXLL helix of coactivators and further positions this helix to allow the leucine side chains to pack tightly into the hydrophobic groove of the LBD (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000). In the absence of ligand, the CoRNR box extends into the same hydrophobic pocket but does not depend on the charge clamp formed by the AF-2 helix and helix 3. Rather, the conformation of the AF-2 helix acts to enhance the binding of corepressors (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000). The ligand-activated charge clamp is very specific for the length of the LXXLL helix of coactivators and it is believed that ligand binding inhibits the association of corepressors with nuclear receptors. Therefore, it has been suggested that the AF-2 helix has evolved to discriminate between the LXXLL motif and the CoRNR box, allowing a ligand-dependent switch of nuclear receptor activity.

1.4. Skin development

1.4.1. Structure of the skin

The skin is a large organ that protects the body against a wide range of environmental threats including ultraviolet (UV) radiation, chemical carcinogens, viruses and other pathogens and prevents dehydration. Mammalian skin can be divided into three layers; the epidermis, the dermis and the hypodermis (Figure 1-4; Haake *et al.*, 2001; Oadland, 1991).

Epidermis. Located at the surface of the skin, the epidermis forms a protective barrier. The epidermis is a thin and continuous layer of stratified keratinizing epithelium (Figure 1-4). It is composed of multiple cell types including keratinocytes, melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkel cells (Haake et al., 2001; Oadland, 1991). Keratinocytes, which contain keratin intermediate filaments, represent the major epidermal cell type (90-95%). Keratins filaments are the major structural proteins of the epidermis, provide integrity to the epidermis and participate in the formation of the stratum corneum (Candi et al., 1998; Fuchs, 1995; Smack et al., 1994). Keratins are organized into two families, the acidic type I (K10-K20) and basic type II (K1-K9) which form pairs (Fuchs, 1995; Haake *et al.*, 2001). Melanocytes are derived from the neural crest and are responsible for pigment production in the epidermis (Erickson, 1993). Langerhans cells are important composants of the immune response in the epidermis and are the primary cells responsible for the uptake, processing and presentation of soluble antigens to T lymphocytes (Haake et al., 2001; Romani et al., 1989). Merkel cells are the neuroendocrine cells of the skin. They function as mechanoreceptors and make synaptic contacts with nerve endings to form the Merkel cell-neurite complex (Narisawa et al., 1996; Tachibana, 1995).

The epidermis is organized into four layers: 1) basal cell layer (BL), 2) spinous cell layer (SL), 3) granular cell layer (GL), and 4) stratum corneum (SC; Haake *et al.*, 2001; Oadland, 1991). The basal layer is directly connected to a basement membrane via hemidesmosomes (Burgeson and Christiano, 1997; Green and Jones, 1996; Jones *et al.*, 1998). These connections not only contribute to epidermal integrity but also provide signals for keratinocyte survival, differentiation, migration and proliferation.





The skin is divided into three layers: the dermis, epidermis and hypodermis. The epidermis is further subdivided into the basal layer (BL), the spinous layer (SL), the granular layer (GL) and the stratum corneum (SC). The epidermis and the dermis are separated by the basement membrane. See text for details. Taken from Fuchs E and Raghavan S, *Nature Genetics Reviews*, 2002, 3: 199-209.

The basal layer is composed of stem cells (10%), post-mitotic differentiated cells (5%) and rapidly proliferating cells, referred as the transit amplifying cells (Jones and Watt, 1993; Haake *et al.*, 2001). The transit amplifying cells have low self-renewal capacity and a high probability of terminal differentiation. When they commit to terminal differentiation, they withdraw from the cell cycle, downregulate integrins, lose contact with the basement membrane and start their ascension towards the surface of the skin (Barrandon and Green, 1987; Fuchs and Raghavan, 2002; Watt, 1998). The terminal differentiation program of the epidermis, called keratinization, involves several changes including the loss of ability to proliferate, dehydration, increase in cell size and flattening, altered synthesis of proteins and lipids and receptors and formation of new organelles (Byrne and Hardman, 2002). The end point of keratinization is the formation of dead, enucleated and flattened cells that provide a protective barrier to the skin. These cells are shed and continuously replaced by inner cells that move upwards. Thus, the epidermis is in a constant state of dynamic equilibrium and self-renewal. The entire differentiation program from the basal layer to the surface of the skin takes about 10-14 days.

The spinous layer (stratum spinosum or prickle cell layer) lies just above of the basal layer (Haake *et al.*, 2001; Oadland, 1991). It is primarily composed of keratinocytes intertwined with desmosomes (focal junctions) that results in the formation of so-called "spines". Keratinocytes of the suprabasal spinous layer are more polyhedral, whereas those of the upper layer adopt a more flattened, larger shape with additional organelles (lamellar granules; Haake *et al.*, 2001). Keratin 1 and 10 (K1/K10) are upregulated in the suprabasal layer, concomitant with the onset of differentiation whereas expression of K5 and K14 is restricted to the basal layer (Byrne *et al.*, 1994).

The granular layer, or the stratum granulosum, is composed of two to three layers of differentiated keratinocytes that can be recognized by their cytoplasmic basophilic keratohyalin granules (Haake *et al.*, 2001; Holbrook, 1989). Keratohyalin granules form a meshwork composed of profilagrin and keratin filaments (Fukuyama *et al.*, 1980). Loricrin, a protein of the cell envelope, and profilaggrin (a histidine-rich

protein) are found within keratohyalin granules. Proteolysis of profilaggrin occurs from transition of a granular to a cornified cell. The breakdown product, filaggrin, acts as a scaffold to promote aggregation of keratin filaments (Haake *et al.*, 2001). Lamellar granules, regarded as membrane-bound organelles, are first detected in the upper spinous layer but are only active at the granular-cornified layer interface. They act to deliver lipid precursors of the stratum corneum to the intercellular space and process them to neutral lamellae that will coat the surface of cornified cells (Madison, 2003).

The stratum corneum, which is the outermost layer, is in direct contact with the environment. It is composed of multiple layers of dead, enucleated, flattened and differentiated keratinocytes (Byrne and Hardman, 2002; Haake et al., 2001; Odland, 1991). These cells, referred to as corneocytes, are filled with an aggregated keratin matrix and are surrounded by a very dense impermeable cornified envelope cross-linked to external lipids (Kalinin et al., 2002; Swartzendruber et al., 1987). The cornified cell envelope is composed of about 20 proteins including involucrin, loricrin, cystatin A, S100 family proteins, small proline-rich region proteins (SRRPs) and some desmosomal proteins (Kalinin et al., 2002; Madison, 2003; Steinert and Marekov, 1999; Steinert, 2000). The first sign of cornified envelope assembly is the association of envoplakin, periplakin and involucrin with keratin intermediate filaments and desmosomal proteins at the plasma membrane. These proteins are cross-linked together and with other lipid components by transglutaminase 1 (TG1; Nemes et al., 1999). Shortly thereafter, SPRR proteins in the cytoplasm are cross-linked into oligomers by transglutaminase 3 (TG3; Candi et al., 1999; Steinert et al., 1999; Tarcsa et al., 1998). SPRR proteins act to cross-bridge the envelope constituents in order to fortify the envelope structure (Steinert et al., 1998). Loricrin, which constitutes the major protein of the cornified envelope, becomes attached to the complex to complete barrier formation. As the isopeptide bond formed by TGase enzymes cannot be cleaved, this provides a convenient mechanism for the formation of an insoluble, stable and mechanically resistant barrier (Kalinin et al., The protein envelope is then covalently attached to ceramides, the major 2002). constituents of the lipid envelope (Kalinin et al., 2002). The lipid envelope is formed by very long chain ω -hydroxyacids amide-linked to glycosylated sphingosine bases.

Dermis. The dermis is a connective tissue located beneath the epidermis (Figure 1-4). It protects the body against mechanical injury and supplies the epidermis with nutrients. Mature dermis is primarily composed of fibroblasts, collagen, elastic fibers, extracellular matrix (ECM) and interfibrillar glycosaminoglycans (GAG)/proteoglycan gel (Byrne and Hardman, 2002; Haake et al., 2001; Odland, 1991). Collagen provides the skin with tensile strength and elasticity, contributes 75% of the skin's dry weight and aggregates to form bundles (Vuorio and Crombrugghe, 1990). These bundles are made up of three chains, all having a helical domain consisting of (Gly-X-Y) repeats, where X is a proline and Y a hydroxyproline (Haake et al., 2001; Prockop and Kivirikko, 1995). Each chain is glycosylated and assembled into soluble procollagen molecules prior to secretion from the endoplasmic reticulum. They are then cleaved by proteases and cross-linked to form collagen fibrils, filaments and networks (Vuorio and Crombrugghe, 1990). About 80-90% of the collagen in the dermis is type I collagen and 8-12% is type III collagen, with small contributions of type V and VI (Haake et al., 2001). Elastic fibers are composed of a fibrillar component, termed fibrilin, which is embedded in the matrix component, elastin. Its sole function is to return the skin to its normal shape following mechanical stress (Haake et al., 2001; Odland, 1991).

The dermis is subdivided into two anatomical regions, the papillary dermis and the reticular dermis (Haake *et al.*, 2001; Oadland, 1991). The papillary dermis is the thinner of the two layers and is closest to the epidermis. It is characterized by the presence of small bundles of collagen fibrils and elastic fibers, which are loosely distributed. In contrast, the reticular dermis is composed of dense collagenous and elastic connective tissue that forms large interwoven fiber bundles. Thus, the reticular dermis contributes to the strong mechanical properties of the skin.

The major dermal cell type is the fibroblast, which is responsible for synthesis of matrix proteins such as collagen and elastin (Haake *et al.*, 2001). Other cell types include monocytes, macrophages and dermal dendrocytes, which constitute the phagocytic system of the skin.

Basement membrane. The basement membrane (BM) physically separates the dermal and epidermal compartments (Burgeson and Christiano, 1997; Kalluri, 2003). It is highly cross-linked and insoluble, providing mechanical stability. The BM interacts

32

with epidermal cells via integrins while it is anchored to the dermis via fibrils (Bruckner-Tuderman, 1999; Byrne and Hardman, 2002). About 50 proteins are known to make up the dermal-epidermal junction with collagens comprising 50% of all BM proteins (Kalluri, 2003). The most important components of the basement membrane include type IV collagen, laminin, heparan-sulfate proteoglycans and nidogen/entactin. Minor components include agrin, osteopontin, fibulins, type XV collagen and type XVIII collagen (Kalluri, 2003; Schittny and Yurchenco, 1989; Yurchenco and Schittny, 1990).

The first sign of DEJ assembly is the synthesis of functional components by basal keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts. Following secretion, laminin, anchored to the cells via integrins and dystroglycans, initiates BM scaffold formation by self-polymerization (Kalluri, 2003). Deposition of laminin polymers leads to association and bridging with type IV collagen network at the cell surface, a process facilitated by nidogen/entactin (Aumailley *et al.*, 1989, 1993; Kalluri, 2003). The other components of the BM will then interact with this scaffold to generate a functional DEJ.

1.4.2. Growth and differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes

The morphology and function of the epidermis depends on a balance between terminal differentiation and proliferation. If this balance is perturbed, diseases such as psiorasis and epidermal cancers may result. Numerous studies have highlighted the importance of diverse signaling pathways in the epidermis (Fuchs and Raghavan, 2002).

As described above, most basal keratinocytes have a limited proliferative potential and undergo terminal differentiation, starting in the spinous layer, when they exit the cell cycle. Extracellular calcium (Ca²⁺) has profound effects on keratinocytes *in vitro*. Keratinocytes die below an extracellular concentration of 0.01 mM Ca²⁺ but proliferate rapidly between calcium concentrations of 0.01 and 0.09 mM (Hennings *et al.*, 1980a, 1980b; Kulesz-Martin *et al.*, 1984). Above 1.2 mM, keratinocytes vertically stratify, express terminal differentiation products and differentiate (Pillai *et al.*, 1990; Yuspa *et al.*, 1989). Thus, lower Ca²⁺ concentrations promote continued proliferation of keratinocytes *in vitro* whereas higher calcium concentrations leads to differentiation. As keratinocytes undergo terminal differentiation, the Ca²⁺ gradient peaks in the granular layer in adult epidermis, indicative of a role in epidermal keratinization (Dlugosz and Yuspa, 1993). The discovery of calcium sensing receptors (CaR) in suprabasal keratinocytes further strengthens this hypothesis (Bikle *et al.*, 1996; Oda *et al.*, 1998, 2000). Komuves *et al.* demonstrated that CaR^{-/-} mice display an increased number of proliferating cells and show alterations in terminal differentiation (Komuves *et al.*, 2002). Thus, Ca²⁺ is a critical regulator of epidermal differentiation.

Transduction of the Ca^{2+} signal is associated with activation of protein kinase C (PKC), which is essential for keratinocyte maturation. Four PKC isoforms (α , δ , ε and η) are present throughout the mouse epidermis. Of note, PKC ϵ is found in the proliferative basal layer, PKC α is located to the spinous and granular layers, PKC η is expressed in the granular layer and PKC δ is moderately expressed throughout the epidermis with slightly higher levels in the basal/lower spinous layer (Denning, 2004). The different expression patterns of these PKC isoforms likely reflects different roles in the epidermis. PKC ϵ drives keratinocyte proliferation, PKC α triggers irreversible growth arrest in suprabasal cells whereas PKC η and PKC δ downregulate keratin 1 and 10 and induce expression of loricrin, involucrin, filaggrin and transglutaminase during the spinous to granular cell transition (Denning, 2004; Deucher et al., 2002; Kashiwagi et al., 2002; Tibudan et al., 2002). Moreover, an RARE was found in the promoter of PKCa, suggesting that the RARs increase PKCa gene expression (Desai et al., 1999). Both PKC α and PKC γ are able to phosphorylate RAR α , resulting in a decrease in transcriptional activity (Delmotte et al., 1999). Thus, these two PKC isoforms may modulate the activity of RAR α in vivo.

Another important player in dictating terminal differentiation is the I kappa α kinase (IKK α), a member of the NF- κ B pathway. IKK α , together with its regulatory subunit IKK γ , phosphorylates cytoplasmic I κ B, leading to its degradation (Ghosh and Karin, 2002; Karin and Ben-Neriah, 2000). Degradation of I κ B results in nuclear translocation and activation of the transcription factor NF- κ B. In adult epidermis, NF- κ B is expressed in the cytoplasm of basal keratinocytes and in the nucleus of suprabasal cells (Li *et al.*, 1999). Targeted inactivation of IKK α leads to several defects, including developmental arrested after epidermal stratification but before the onset of terminal

differentiation and barrier formation (Hu *et al.*, 1999; Li *et al.*, 1999). These defects are not dependent on NF- κ B as the activity of NF- κ B was unaffected in epidermal keratinocytes. Rather, these studies suggest that IKK α seems to be responsible for the production of a secreted factor that controls terminal differentiation of keratinocytes.

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a phosphoglycoprotein that posses tyrosine kinase activity (Cohen *et al.*, 1980). In adult epidermis, EGFR is expressed in the basal layer and, to a lesser extent, in the first suprabasal layer (Jost *et al.*, 2000; Nanney *et al.*, 1990). EGFR promotes epidermal thickness and stimulates epidermal keratinocyte proliferation (Cohen, 1965; Cohen and Elliott, 1963). It has been demonstrated that the EGFR is a critical regulator of DNA synthesis and cell cycle progression (G1 to S phase) in cultured keratinocytes (Coffey *et al.*, 1988; Jost *et al.*, 2000; Kobayashi *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, EGF treatment inhibits expression of early and late terminal differentiation markers including K1, K10, transglutaminase 1 and cornified envelope precursors (Monzon *et al.*, 1996; Peus *et al.*, 1997). Consistent with these findings, EGFR^{-/-} mice display a thinner epidermis due to hypoproliferation as well as disorganization of hair follicles (Hansen *et al.*, 1997; Miettinen *et al.*, 1995).

The transcription factor activating protein-1 (AP-1) is composed of homo- and heterodimers of Jun (cJun, Jun B and Jun D), Fos (cFos, Fos B, Fra-1 and Fra-2) and ATF (ATF2, ATF3 and B-ATF; Angel and Karin, 1991; Shaulian and Karin, 2002). Jun proteins can form homodimers as well as heterodimers with the various Fos and ATF proteins. Fos members are unable to form stable homodimers whereas ATF proteins are able to homodimerize. AP-1 regulates transcription of target genes from TPA-response elements (5'-TGAG/CTCA-3'; Angel *et al.*, 1987; Bowden *et al.*, 1994).

Several Jun and Fos proteins are expressed in the epidermis. In newborn mice, c-Jun, Jun D, c-Fos, Fra-1 and Fra-2 can be detected in basal cells while Jun B and Fra-2 are expressed in the granular layer (Carrasco and Bravo, 1995; Rutberg *et al.*, 1996). In addition, c-Jun, Jun D and Fra-1 are also expressed in the spinous layer. The distinct pattern of expression of the Jun and Fos proteins suggests that they might play a role in the epidermal proliferation and differentiation. In support of this, an increasing number of genes expressed in the epidermis harbour AP-1 binding sites in their promoters.

35

These include transglutaminases and several members of the keratin gene family like K1, K5, K6, K8, K14, K18 and K19 (Angel *et al.*, 2001; Eckert and Walter, 1996). However, the phenotype of c-Fos, Fos B or JunD-null mutants does not provide evidence for a critical role of these proteins in the skin (Jochum *et al.*, 2001).

1.5. Pathogenesis of squamous cell carcinoma

1.5.1. Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma

Nonmelanoma skin cancer is the most prevalent cancer in North America. About 80% of nonmelanoma skin cancers are basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and 20% are squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs; Alam and Ratner, 2001). BCCs are rarely fatal but they can, in some cases, be invasive and destructive (Alam and Ratner, 2001; Miller, 1991). SCCs, on the other hand, are invasive and more than 10% will metastasize (Kwa *et al.*, 1992; Moller *et al.*, 1979). Actinic keratoses (AK) have been identified as a precursor of SCC (Alam and Ratner, 2001). Also, AKs are far more common than SCCs, which makes them a good target for chemoprevention. Numerous risk factors are involved in SCC development with chronic exposure to UV radiation being the single most critical factor. UV radiation produces mutations in DNA, usually thymidine dimers, which, if not correctly repaired, may lead to tumor formation (Grossman and Leffel, 1997).

1.5.2. The multistage skin carcinogenesis model

Mouse SCC can be induced by sequential application of chemical carcinogens and tumor promoters. Multistage carcinogenesis involves a complex set of genetic and epigenetic changes, which occur in a predictable sequence in experimental models (Figure 1-5; Yuspa, 1998). These studies have provided great insight into the biological processes that are associated with SCC.

The most common chemical carcinogenesis protocol is a two-stage protocol, which involves the administration of a single dose of the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon 7,12-dimethyl-benz[*a*]anthracene (DMBA) followed by multiple applications of the phorbol ester 12-*O*-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA; Slaga,



Figure 1-5. Schematic representation of mouse skin carcinogenesis. Application of DMBA generates initiated cells (*intiation*) through DNA damage. Reapeated exposure to TPA (*promotion*) confers a growthth advantage and promotes expansion of initiated cells. With time, few papillomas will convert to squamous carcinoma (*progression*) and will invade (*malignant conversion*) and migrate to other tissues through the basement membrane and the underlying stroma. See text for details. Blue cells are initiated and cancerous epidermal cells whereas green and pink ones are normal epidermal keratinocytes.



Squamous carcinoma

1984; Yupsa, 1994). Initiation is mutagenic in nature, resulting in DNA damage. DMBA intercalates into the major groove of DNA to cause simple mutations like frameshifts, transversions and point mutations and is an irreversible event. DMBA produces a subtle change in keratinocyte phenotype, which is unrecognizable at this point (Yupsa, 1994). Cells that have mutations (in the ras gene for example) that favor clonal expansion are the most likely to be subsequently expanded by tumor promoters (Boutwell, 1974; Iannaccone *et al.*, 1987). Tumour promoters, such as phorbol esters, activate protein kinase C (PKC) and accelerate terminal differentiation of normal keratinocytes as well as DMBA mutagenized cells (Yuspa *et al.*, 1980, 1982). In contrast to initiation, promotion is reversible and involves epigenetic changes.

The consequence of initiation and promotion is the formation of squamous papillomas, each representing an expanded clone of initiated cells. Papillomas are characterized by a high rate of proliferation, altered expression of keratinocyte markers, blocked or delayed terminal differentiation and hyperplasia (Roop et al., 1988; Yupsa, 1998). Tumors may have a greater risk of progression and are termed "high risk" papillomas while those that will regress with time are called "low risk" squamous papillomas (Yupsa, 1998). Premalignant progression is a generally spontaneous process that does not require further exposure to tumor promoters and is the major timedependent phase of cancer development. However, most papillomas will not become malignant. Major genetic abnormalities associated with premalignant progression of papillomas include aneuploidy and chromosomal aberrations, in particular trisomies of chromosme 6 and 7 (Aldaz et al., 1987, 1989; Conti et al., 1986). Malignant conversion is characterized by invasion through the basement membrane and migration into the underlying stroma and involves changes in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions (Yupsa, 1998). Squamous carcinomas may differ in their degree of differentiation; some remain histologically similar to papillomas whereas other are very poorly differentiated.

1.5.3. Signaling pathways involved in mouse two-stage skin carcinogenesis

Initiation and promotion. Activating mutations in the harvey Ras (Ha-ras) oncogene have been implicated in tumor initiation (Balmain and Pragnell, 1983;

Zoumpourlis *et al.*, 2003). Consistent with this, targeted deletion of the *Ha-ras* gene correlates with reduced tumor formation of DMBA-treated mouse epidermis (Brown *et al.*, 1986; Ise *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, primary mouse keratinocytes expressing the *Ha-ras* oncogene produce squamous papillomas when grafted onto nude mice. The Ras proteins are small G-proteins that transduce mitogenic signals and are constitutively activated by point mutations of codons 12, 13 or 61 (Zoumpourlis *et al.*, 2003). In virtually all DMBA-initiated tumours, the *Ha-ras* gene is activated by a mutation at codon 61, leading to accelerated cell growth and inhibition of apoptosis (Balmain and Pragnell, 1983; Brown *et al.*, 1990; Quintanilla *et al.*, 1986).

Several studies have demonstrated that the *cyclin D1* gene, a cell cycle associated nuclear protein active in the G1 phase, is overexpressed in squamous carcinomas but not in skin papillomas (Bianchi *et al.*, 1993; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2002). When grafted onto nude mice, cyclin D1-knockout keratinocytes form squamous papillomas with significantly reduced size compared to wild-type and heterozygous keratinocytes (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2002). Cyclin D1 deficiency also leads to an 80% reduction in squamous tumour development in the mouse two-step carcinogenesis protocol (Robles *et al.*, 1998; Rodriguez-Puebla *et al.*, 1999). Robles *et al.* thus suggested that Ras-mediated tumorigenesis was dependent on signaling pathways that act through cyclin D1 (Robles *et al.*, 1998). Cyclin D1 forms a complex with cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) 4 and cdk6, which are also induced in keratinocytes in response to oncogenic ras (Zoumpourlis *et al.*, 2003). Taken together, these results indicate that there is a strong correlation between activated ras and cyclin D1 expression.

In the mouse multistage carcinogenesis model, repeated topical application of TPA results in induction of AP-1 target genes (Bowden *et al.*, 1994). Moreover, several malignant SCC cells lines express constitutive AP-1 DNA binding and transactivation (Strickland *et al.*, 1988). High levels of phosphorylated, and therefore activated, c-Jun, Fra-1, Fra-2 and ATF-2 proteins correlate with increased malignant frequency (Zoumpourlis *et al.*, 2000). These studies bring strong evidence that AP-1 plays a critical role in tumor promotion, progression and/or metastasis (Barthelman *et al.*, 1998; Bowden *et al.*, 1994; Dong *et al.*, 1994). Consistent with this, a dominant negative form of c-Jun lacking the transcriptional activation domain attenuates SCC formation,

indicating that AP-1 does play a role in malignant conversion (Alani *et al.*, 1991; Brown *et al.*, 1993).

Numerous studies have shown that sustained activation of NF- κ B is linked to human cancers (Fuchs and Raghavan, 2002; Karin *et al.*, 2002). However, recent evidence shows that colon cancer cells have decreased NF- κ B activity through an interaction with the β -catenin protein (Deng *et al.*, 2002). In mice overexpressing a stabilized I κ B in the epidermis, NF- κ B is permanently inhibited and the skin becomes sensitized to developing SCCs (Seitz *et al.*, 1998; van Hogerlinden *et al.*, 1999). Taken together, these results diverge from the protumorigenic function of NF- κ B seen in other tumours, thereby suggesting that NF- κ B may play different roles in epithelial cells. In addition, co-expression of *Ras* and $I\kappa B\alpha$ generates skin tumours resembling SCCs when grafted onto nude mice, indicating that cooperativity between Ras signaling and NF- κ B function is enough to drive the formation of SCCs (Dajee *et al.*, 2003). Thus, it seems that Ras prevents the susceptibility to apoptosis by allowing cells to progress through the cell cycle. However, the exact mechanism underlying the interplay between Ras, NF- κ B inhibition and SCC development requires further studies.

Conversion and progression. The secreted factor transforming growth factor β 1 (TGF β 1) plays very important roles in epidermal homeostasis and alterations leading to the enhancement or repression of the TGF β pathway have been linked to carcinogenesis (Wang, 2001). However, its role in tumor promotion and malignant progression has been controversial. TGF β 1 is induced in the epidermis in response to TPA and its expression is often elevated in tumor cell *in vivo* (Akhurst *et al.*, 1988; Fowlis *et al.*, 1992; Krieg *et al.*, 1991). Also, loss of the mitogenic response to TGF β 1 occurs in some tumors and has been proposed to contribute to tumor outgrowth (Manning *et al.*, 1991). Moreover, intracutaneous injections of TGF β 1 suggest that it acts as a tumor promoter. TGF β 1-null keratinocytes, transduced with mutant v-ras^{Ha}, and grafted on nude mice produce tumors with enhanced malignant conversion rates compared to wild-type keratinocytes (Glick *et al.*, 1994). However, immunohistochemical analysis of endogenous TGF β 1 expression in tumors *in vivo* has suggested that TGF β 1 attenuates malignant conversion. In an attempt to resolve these controversial results, Cui *et al.*

generated transgenic mice with keratinocyte-specific expression of TGF β 1 (Cui *et al.*, 1995). Using the murine multistage carcinogenesis model, they have found that such transgenic mice exhibit reduced benign tumor growth at an early stage whereas TGF β 1 enhances malignant progression rates at later stages.

The $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin is a receptor for the laminin family of BM components and provides a link to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton and thus, it is important for epidermal integrity (Mercurio, 1995; Mercurio and Rabinovitz, 2001). Enhanced expression of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin has been linked to malignant progression in mouse skin and many other cancers (Rabinovitz and Mercurio, 1996; Tennenbaum et al., 1993). Loss of polarization of $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin and extended expression in the suprabasal layers correlates with an increased invasive phenotype of carcinomas (Rabinovitz and Mercurio, 1996; Tennenbaum et al., 1993; Witkowski et al., 2000). This likely relates to the finding that $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrin is able to mediate migration of cells through its ability to associate with the cytoskeleton and promote the formation and stabilization of fillopodia (Rabinovitz and Mercurio, 1997). This integrin can also stimulate the activity of phosphoinositide 3-OH phosphate (PI3-K) in invasive carcinoma cells, suggesting further mechanisms of action in invasive carcinoma (Mercurio and Rabinovitz, 2001; Shaw et al., 1997). Indeed, the lipid products of PI3-K, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate, could play a direct role in the formation of actin-containing motility structures as they are able to bind a number of proteins that regulate actin assembly (Hartwig et al., 1996; Lu et al., 1996).

1.6. Role of RA and RARs in the epidermis

1.6.1. RA, RARs and epidermal development

The idea that retinoids play critical roles in epithelial differentiation came from studies of vitamin A deficiency (VAD), which exhibits squamous metaplasia of diverse epithelia (Frazier and Hu, 1931; Moon, 1994; Wolbach and Howe, 1925). The effects of retinoids on cell growth have been studied extensively both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. When applied topically on human skin, retinoids increase the proliferation rate of basal keratinocytes leading to an accelerated turnover of epidermal cells and thickening of the

suprabasal layers (Connor *et al.*, 1986; Fisher and Voorhees, 1996; Thacher *et al.*, 1997). Vitamin A deprivation from the culture medium *in vitro* induces keratinocyte terminal differentiation whereas addition of vitamin A inhibits this process (Fuchs and Green, 1981).

RXR α , RXR β , RAR α and RAR γ are expressed in the epidermis with RXR α and RARy being the predominant receptors (Fisher and Voorhees, 1996). It should also be noted that RARy represents 90% of RARs in skin with the remaining 10% being RAR α (Fisher et al., 1994). A role for these receptors in epidermal differentiation has been inferred from studies of transgenic mice expressing a dominant negative (dn) form of RAR α in the basal epidermis (Saitou *et al.*, 1995). The transgenic newborn mice were characterized by very thin, shiny, wrinkleless and dry skin (Saitou et al., 1995). The suprabasal layers of these mice was severely reduced, indicating that there is a block of differentiation. However, the complete absence of both RAR α and RAR γ in adult epidermis does not markedly disturb the proliferation or differentiation of the epidermis, indicating that they are largely dispensable under normal conditions (Chapellier et al., 2002; Ghyselinck et al., 2002). In support of this, the skin of RARa-null mutants appear normal while the skin of RARy-null mutants only shows minor defects in granular keratinocyte differentiation (Fisher et al., 1994; Ghyselinck et al., 1997; Lohnes et al., 1993; Lufkin et al., 1993). However, Chapellier et al. showed that topical treatment of skin with retinoids results in a marked increase in keratinocyte proliferation mediated principally by RARy/RXR heterodimer (Chapellier et al., 2002).

Recent studies have shown that ablation of RXR α in basal keratinocytes results in hair follicle degeneration and hyperproliferation of interfolicullar keratinocytes (Li *et al.*, 2000b, 2001). As RXR acts as an heterodimeric partner for various NRs, these results probably reflect a role for either RXR/PPAR, RXR/TR or RXR/VDR signaling in hair follicle cycling as the RXR/RAR heterodimer is not critically involved in keratinocyte proliferation under physiological conditions (Chapellier *et al.*, 2002). Indeed, VDR and RXR knockouts give similar epidermal phenotypes (Li *et al.*, 2000b, 2001; Yoshizawa *et al.*, 1997).

1.6.2. RA, RARs and epithelial tumorigenesis

The connection between vitamin A status and cancer dates back to 1925 when Wolbach and Howe reported that VAD rats exhibit premalignant tumors, which can be reversed by vitamin A repletion (Wolbach and Howe, 1925). VAD has also been linked to a higher incidence of cancer in both experimental animals and humans (Moon *et al.*, 1994). Thus, these studies have led to the hypothesis that retinoids protect the organism against the development of benign and malignant tumours.

Retinoids have been found to be effective in inhibiting the induction of cancer in several models. Several lines of evidence suggest that RA inhibits carcinogenesis by interfering with the promotion stage in the murine multistage carcinogenesis model (Verma et al., 1979, 1982; Verma, 2003). In support of this, a single application of RA one hour before TPA treatment resulted in a 60% reduction in tumour multiplicity (Verma, 2003). Conversely, when RA application was delayed as long as 24 hours post-TPA treatment, RA did not inhibit skin tumour formation. Thus, in order to inhibit the induction of skin tumors, RA treatments had to be scheduled close to TPA application. In addition, an 82% reduction in the number of skin tumours was obtained when RA was applied in conjunction with TPA during the entire promotion period (30 weeks), demonstrating that inhibition of skin tumour promotion is dependent on the duration of RA treatment (Verma et al., 1979). Furthermore, retinoids have been shown to inhibit the growth of transformed cells and the appearance of precancerous lesions in various organs (Lotan et al., 1990; Sun and Lotan, 2002; Verma et al., 1979, 1982, 1986). They are also able to inhibit carcinoma development from chemically-induced squamous papillomas, further providing evidence that retinoids inhibit both the promotion and progression stage during tumorigenesis (Chen et al., 1994, 1995; De Luca et al., 1993, 1996).

The inhibitory action of RA on skin carcinogenesis appears to be mediated at the level of RARs. Several studies have indicated that neoplastic cells progressively lose RARs during tumour promotion and malignant progression (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995; Xu *et al.*, 2001). For example, transformation of mouse epidermal keratinocytes with oncogenic Ha-*ras* also results in concomitant reduction in RAR transcript levels (Darwiche *et al.*, 1996). RAR α transcripts are abundant in papillomas and

differentiated carcinomas but are lost in undifferentiated carcinoma and more malignant spindle cell carcinoma (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995; Xu *et al.*, 2001). RAR γ , on the other hand, is expressed in the suprabasal layers of the epidermis and papillomas but not in differentiated or undifferentiated carcinomas nor in spindle cell carcinoma (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995; Xu *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, we have shown that RAR γ is the predominant receptor that mediates RA-induced cell cycle arrest in wild-type keratinocytes (Goyette *et al.*, 2000). Also of note, RAR γ -null or RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes are predisposed to Ras-induced tumorigenesis, indicating that loss of RAR γ predisposes to tumor formation (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Although expressed in the epidermis, RXR transcripts remain at high levels in both normal epidermis and tumors, suggesting that RARs mediate the anti-tumor retinoid activity in skin (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995).

Although RAR β is not expressed in the epidermis, several lines of evidence suggest that loss of RAR β is associated with tumor progression (Altucci and Gronemeyer, 2001). For example, downregulation of RAR β is observed in a diverse range of solid tumours including head and neck SCC, non-small cell lung cancer, colon, breast, oesophageal and cervical cancers (Altucci and Gronemeyer, 2001; Sun and Lotan, 2002). Furthermore, the growth inhibitory effects of RA in these solid tumours correlate with increased expression of RAR^β and/or induced RAR^β promoter activity, suggesting that RAR β acts as a tumour suppressor. In support of this, transgenic mice expressing anti-sense RAR β 2 develop solid tumours of the lung whereas constitutive overexpression of RAR β 2 decreases the tumoriginicity of lung carcinoma cells (Berard et al., 1996; Houle et al., 1993). This is in contrast to RAR^β-null mice, which do not develop tumors (Ghyselinck et al., 1997). There is also accumulating evidence that the RAR β 2 promoter may be hypermethylated and thus silenced in several epithelial cancers (Hayashi et al., 2001a; Ivanova et al., 2002; Kwong et al., 2002; Lamy et al., Consistent with this, treatment with 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine restores the 2001). inducibility of the RAR β gene by RA in breast cancer carinoma cells (Bovenzi and Momparler, 2001; Widschwendter et al., 2000).

Aberrant expression of RAR α has been associated with acute myeloid leukemia (APL). APL is characterized by a block in differentiation of hematopoietic cells at the

promeylocytic stage (Lin *et al.*, 2001). In almost all cases, APL is associated with a t(15;17) chromosomal translocation that fuses the RAR α gene and the promeylocytic leukemia gene (PML; Piazza *et al.*, 2001). In rare cases, the RAR α gene can be fused to the promeylocytic leukemia zinc finger (PLZF) gene, the nucleophosmin (NPM) gene, the nuclear mitotic apparatus (NUMA) or the signal transducer and activator of transcription 5B (STAT5B; Pandolfi, 2001; Zelent *et al.*, 2001).

The PML-RAR α fusion protein acts as a potent transcriptional repressor by virtue of a higher affinity for corepressors (Grignani *et al.*, 1998; He *et al.*, 1998; Lin *et al.*, 1998). Thus, signaling is constituvely repressed by corepressor-associated HDAC activity under physiological RA levels, leading to transcriptional silencing and a maturation block. Consistent with this, HDAC inhibitors, in combination with RA, can overcome the repressor activity of PML-RAR α and trigger terminal differentiation of APL cells (Lin *et al.*, 1998, 2001). Lin *et al.* proposed a model to explain APL pathogenesis mediated by oncogenic activation of RAR α . In this model, transcriptional repression and promeylocytic differentiation blockage occurs under physiological RA levels (10^{-8} - 10^{-9} M RA) as a result of increased association with corepressor complexes whereas pharmacological RA concentrations leads to the association of coactivator complexes, activation of gene expression, leukemia cell differentiation and clinical remission (Lin *et al.*, 2001).

A number of studies have implicated RA in the regulation of myeloid differentiation. In support of this, exogenous RA can induce granulocyte differentiation of the myeloid leukemia cell line HL-60 (Breitman *et al.*, 1980). Moreover, the PML-RAR α fusion protein in APL has been shown to negatively inhibit RA signalling (Lin *et al.*, 1999). Also, several RA-target genes such as *p21WAF*, *C/EBP\beta* and *HoxA1* are known to play important roles in regulating myeloid cell proliferation and differentiation blockage (Lin *et al.*, 2001). Activation of these target genes by pharmacological concentrations of RA may induce a cascade of gene expression that triggers leukemia cell differentiation and clinical remission (Lin *et al.*, 1999). Also worthy to mention, the PML-RAR α fusion protein can also inhibit gene expression through non-DNA binding mechanisms. Of note, the PML-RAR α fusion protein is able

to abolish DNA binding and transactivation of the neutrophilic differentiation factor C/EBPα, leading to a blockage of myeloid differentiation (Pabst *et al.*, 2001).

Topical application of TPA to mouse skin causes a decrease in the expression of both RAR α and RAR γ transcripts (Kumar *et al.*, 1994). As TPA increases protein kinase C (PKC) signaling, this result suggests that PKC-dependent mechanisms may be involved in RAR silencing. Consistent with this, Darwiche *et al.* showed that inactivation of PKC activity can restore RAR levels in Ras-transformed keratinocytes (Darwiche *et al.*, 1996).

Activated AP-1 plays important roles in epithelial tumorigenesis, especially in the promotion stage (section 1.5.3; Bowden *et al.*, 1994; Jochum *et al.*, 2001). Thus, there has been considerable effort to identify compounds that could downregulate AP-1 activity and thereby oppose the unregulated cell growth leading to the formation of papillomas and squamous cell carcinomas (SCCs). RARs, like several other NRs, have been reported to inhibit AP-1 activity and several mechanisms have been proposed to underlie this *trans*-repression (Karin *et al.*, 1997; Pfahl, 1993; Schule *et al.*, 1991). These include competitive titration between RAR and AP-1 for common coregulators such as CBP/p300, downregulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) activity and inhibition of AP-1 DNA binding (Benkoussa *et al.*, 2002; Caelles *et al.*, 1997; Kamei *et al.*, 1996; Schule *et al.*, 1991).

1.6.3. Retinoids and chemoprevention of cancer

Retinoids have been found to be effective in suppressing tumor development in several carcinogenesis models including skin, breast, bladder, pancreas, prostate, lung and oral cavity (Lotan, 1996; Moon *et al.*, 1994). Retinoids have been tested in a number of clinical trials and are able to suppress precancerous lesions, such as oral leukoplakia, cervical dysplasia and xeroderma pigmentosum (Sun and Lotan, 2002). Isotretinoin (13-*cis*-RA) reduces second aerodigestive tract tumors in patients with head and neck cancers (Lotan, 1996; Niles, 2002). RA has also been used topically for the treatment of AK, a pre-malignant precursor of SCC (Lotan, 1996).

Nearly all cases that are diagnosed with APL undergo clinical remission with retinoid monotherapy although many patients will relapse (Freemantle *et al.*, 2003).

The basis for the success of the RA-based differentiation therapy is that RAR α agonists will bind to the PML-RAR α LBD, resulting in dissociation of the HDAC-corepressor complex (Pandolfi, 2001). Subsequent, activation of gene expression results in the induction of terminal differentiation and clinical remission. Given that HDAC activity underlies APL, research has focussed on the development of HDAC inhibitors (HDACi) as a new therapeutic avenue. Treatment with the HDACi sodium phenylbutyrate, in combination with RA, results in clinical remission for 7 months before the patient developed resistance against this treatment (Warrell *et al.*, 1998). HDACi plus RA has also been shown to induce PLZF-RAR α APL cell differentiation, indicating that these compounds could be used to treat primary RA-resistant APL cases (Lin *et al.*, 2001). Reversal of DNA hypermethylation by the demethylating agent 5-aza-2'-deoxycitidine has also been shown to restore RA-mediated differentiation of several leukemia and solid tumor cells *in vitro* (Altucci and Gronemeyer, 2001).

Even though retinoids offer a potential avenue for therapy, 10-15 % of patients suffer from the RA syndrome, the main side effect of retinoid treatment (Altucci and Gronemeyer, 2001; Miller, 1998). Typical signs include fever, respiratory distress, weight gain, oedema of the lower extremities, pleural or pericardial effusions, and, occasionally, renal failure. Furthermore, chronic administration of high doses of RA to APL patients can lead to hypervitaminosis A, characterized by anorexia, weight loss, bone and joint pain, apolecia, fever, cracked and bleeding lips and skin and mucous membrane changes, among others (Miller, 1998). Except for bone toxicity, most of these side effects are reversible upon discontinuation of treatment. Another limitation frequently encountered in clinical use of RA is resistance, which is often associated with relapse of APL. Resistance is thought to be partly due to enhanced expression of P450 and lipoxygenase enzyme activities by RA (Fontana and Rishi, 2002; Muindi and Young, 1993). Induced CRABPII expression is another mechanism by which cells may acquire resistance to RA.

To circumvent these problems, novel retinoids have been developed. One such candidate, N-(4-hydroxyphenyl) retinamide (4-HPR), is being intensively investigated. The modification of the carboxyl group in RA with *N*-4 hydroxyphenyl creates a molecule with reduced toxicity as a chemopreventing agent (Fontana and Rishi, 2002;

Wu *et al.*, 2001). 4-HPR mediates its effects by binding to, and activating, RAR γ and to a lesser extent RAR β (Fanjul *et al.*, 1996; Fontana and Rishi, 2002). However, RARindependent pathways have also been suggested to mediate the apoptotic effects of 4-HPR, as this compound is active in retinoid-resistant cells (Delia *et al.*, 1993; Goyette *et al.*, 2000; Wu *et al.*, 2001). Several lines of evidence indicate that 4-HPR can prevent chemically induced tumours of the breast, prostate, bladder and skin (Pollard *et al.*, 1991; Slawin *et al.*, 1993; Ulukaya and Wood, 1999). Moreover, 4-HPR is highly effective against head and neck squamous carcinoma, ovarian adenocarcinoma and breast adenocarcinoma (Wu *et al.*, 2001). Also, 4-HPR seems to reduce the occurrence of oral carcinoma in patients with leukoplakia, again indicating that it might be highly effective against various cancers (Chiesa *et al.*, 1992). As for other retinoids, 4-HPR has also been shown to reduce secondary tumor formation in patients with breast or head and neck cancers (Wu *et al.*, 2001).

1.7. Hypothesis

As discussed, many studies have shown that RARs are effective in suppressing tumor development in diverse model systems (Lotan, 1996). Evidence also indicates that the anti-tumor activity of retinoids is mediated through inhibition of tumor promotion (Verma, 2003). Overall, this indicates that retinoids are chemopreventive agents and that physiological levels of retinoids protect the organism against the development of pre-cancerous lesions, as well as conversion to malignancy.

RAR γ is the predominant receptor in the epidermis, and mediates RA-induced growth arrest in transformed keratinocytes (Goyette et al., 2000). RARy-null and RARay-null Ha-ras transformed keratinocytes develop tumours when injected in nude mice, indicating that RARy may also act as a tumour suppressor (Chen et al., 2004). Since the RARoy-null keratinocyte cell line behaves exactly as the RARy-null keratinocyte cell line, it became a valuable model to study the means by which RARs suppress tumor formation in the epidermis. However, it remains unknown which RAtarget gene mediates tumour suppression in the epidermis. I reasoned that the genes that were induced by RA in wild-type, but not in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null, keratinocytes were likely candidates to play an important role in epithelial tumorigenesis. To investigate this, I used a suppression subtractive library to isolate genes that were induced by RA in wildtype keratinocytes relative to the RARay-null keratinocyte cell line. Second, given that tumor formation is associated with loss of RAR transcripts, I hypothesized that one or more of the genes would be profoundly reduced in papillomas and/or squamous cell carcinomas (Darwiche et al., 1996). To this end, I have employed the well-defined murine two-stage carcinogenesis model to generate papillomas and demonstrated that expression of one putative RA-target gene is indeed severely reduced in papillomas.

Chapter II

Materials and Methods

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Suppressive subtractive hybridization

Poly A⁺ RNA was purified from wild type and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocyte cultures using the QuickPrepTM Micro mRNA purification kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) according to the manufacturer's instructions. First-strand cDNA synthesis was carried out with 2 µg of poly A⁺ RNA using the SMARTTM PCR cDNA synthesis kit (Clontech) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was used as starting material for the subtraction using the Clontech PCR-SelectTM cDNA subtraction kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Subtracted cDNA fragments were cloned into the pGEM[®]-T cloning vector (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. *E.coli* was transformed with the ligated DNA by electroporation, and plasmid DNA was isolated using the alkali lysis technique. Clones of interest (identified by reverse northern blots) were end-sequenced with T7 by automated sequencing.

2.2. Reverse Northern analysis

Thirty microliters of plasmid DNA containing sub cloned PCR fragments from the subtractive library was digested with Sst I/Sst II and run on a 1.5% agarose gel. The DNA was denatured by two washes of 45 minutes in 0.5 M NaOH and then transferred to a hybond N+ membrane according to the manufacturer's instructions. The membranes were hybridized in a formamide-based buffer [40% deionized formamide, 0.9 M NaCl, 50 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 6.5), 2 mM EDTA, 4x Denhardt's, and 1% SDS] at 42°C overnight with 1.0X10⁶ cpm/ml cDNA probe generated from poly A+ RNA from RA (10⁻⁶ M) treated wild-type or RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-/-}$ keratinocyte cultures as follows: 1/4th of the poly A+ RNA was precipitated at 4°C and resuspended in 10 µl of DEPC H₂O. Half of the mRNA was reverse transcribed with 300 units of M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) in a mixture of 1X first-strand buffer, 10 mM DTT and 40 units RnaseOUTTM recombinant ribonuclease inhibitor at 37°C for 1 hour. The reaction was labelled with 50 µCi of ³²P- α -dCTP with the rediprime^{II} labelling kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) for 2 hours at 37°C. Membranes were washed at 65°C twice for 20 minutes in 2X SCC, 0.1% SDS (1X SSC is 0.15 M NaCl plus 0.015 M sodium citrate) and once for 15 minutes in 1X SCC, 0.1% SDS. Signal was revealed by autoradiography using X-Omat film (Kodak). Signal intensities from the membrane hybridized with the probe derived from wild-type cells were compared to the membrane hybridized with the probe from RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-/-}$ cells in order to identify potential RA-regulated clones.

2.3. Generation of immortalized cell lines and treatment of cells

2.3.a. Primary keratinocyte culture and immortalization

Derivation of the wild-type and RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-1}$ keratinocyte cell lines have already been described (Goyette *et al.*, 2000).

2.3.b. Treatment of immortalized keratinocyte cell lines

For northern blot experiments, cells were seeded in 100 mm plates (approximately $3x10^5$ cells/plate) treated the following day with RA (1µM) or 4-HPR (1µM) in SMEM supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum, adenine (24µg/ml) and MgCl₂ (1.5 mM). Control cultures were treated with DMSO only. RA was dissolved in DMSO at a concentration of 10^{-2} M and 4-HPR was dissolved in ethanol at a concentration of 10^{-2} M. For northen blot analysis, cells were harvested 2-48 hours post-treatment, snap frozen, and stored at -80°C prior to RNA extraction.

To assess the requirement for *de novo* protein synthesis, cells were treated for 1 hour with 15 mg/ml or 30 mg/ml of cycloheximide (Sigma) prior to RA treatment. Otherwise, cells were treated with carrier (DMSO), RA (1 μ M) or 15 μ g/ml or 30 μ g/ml cycloheximide. Cells were harvested 6 hours post-treatment, snap frozen, and stored as described above prior to Northern blot analysis.

In some experiments, cells were treated with RA (1 μ M) and/or TPA (100 ng/ml). TPA was dissolved at a concentration of 1 mg/ml. For Northern blot analysis, cells were harvested 6-24 hours post-treatment, snap frozen, and stored at -80°C prior to RNA purification.

2.4. RNA isolation

2.4.a Total RNA

Total RNA was extracted from frozen skin samples, tumour samples or cell pellets using Trizol[®] reagent (Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's directions. Skin and tumour samples were homogenized using a tissue tearor (Biospec Products) in 1-2 ml of Trizol[®]. The RNA pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of deionized formamide and stored at -80°C.

2.4.b Poly A+ RNA

Poly A+ RNA was isolated from RA (10^{-6} M) treated wild-type and RAR $\alpha\gamma'^{-}$ keratinocyte cultures using the QuickPrep Micro mRNA Purification Kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Poly A+ RNA was stored at -80°C.

2.5. Northern blot analysis

Fifteen microgram of total RNA was size fractionated on a 1% agaroseformaldehyde gel in MOPS buffer and transferred to a MAGNA nylon membrane (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) in 10X SSC overnight as described by the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was fixed to the membrane by crosslinking under UV light for 5 minutes. Hybridizations were performed overnight at 65°C in a SSCbased buffer (6X SSC, 4X Denhardt's, 0.4% SDS, 160 μ g/ml yeast RNA) supplemented with 0.1 mg/ml of denatured salmon sperm DNA with approximately 10⁶ CPM/ml of denatured probe prepared by random labelling with the rediprime^{II} labelling kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). Blots were washed in 2X SSC, 0.1% SDS two times at 65°C and signal was revealed by autoradiography using X-Omat film (Kodak).

2.6. Animals

Female FVB/N mice, 4 weeks of age and CD-1 mice, 6-8 weeks of age, were obtained from the Jackson laboratory. Mice were housed for at least two weeks prior to

use. Mice were fed rodent chow (Purina 5001 Rodent Chow; Purina Mills, Richmond, IN) and water *ad libitum*.

2.7. Treatment of animals

2.7.a. Skin

Female CD-1 mice, 2-3 months of age, were treated with 100 mg/Kg RA by oral gavage. Animals were shaved on their dorsal surface 24 hours post-treatment and animals were sacrificed by cervical dislocation. Dorsal skin sections were fixed in Bouin's fixative for 3-4 days and washed in 50% and 70% ethanol for two days.

2.7.b. Tumour studies

Tumour studies have been described previously (Owens *et al.*, 1999). Briefly, female FVB/N mice, 6 weeks of age, were shaved on their dorsal surface. After two weeks, mice that were in the resting phase of their hair cycle received one topical application of 200 nmol of DMBA in 200 µl acetone. One week later, mice were treated topically twice a week for a period of 6 weeks with 5 nmol TPA in 200 µl acetone. TPA treatments were stopped for one week, after which mice were treated topically with 200 nmol DMBA in 200 µl acetone (second initiation step). One week later, treatment with 5 nmol TPA was resumed for 40 more weeks. Papillomas were scored once weekly. FVB/N mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation, skin tumours were harvested and small portions were snap frozen and stored at -80°C prior to northern blot analysis.

2.8. Immunohistochemistry

Dorsal skin samples from 2-3 month old CD-1 mice were fixed in Bouin's solution, embedded in paraffin and sectioned at 7 μ m. Immunohistochemistry was performed as described previously (Attar *et al.*, 1997; Imakado *et al.*, 1995). Briefly, after deparaffination and rehydration, sections were blocked with 10% serum (Sigma) in PBS/0.2% Tween-20 at room temperature for 1 hour and subsequently incubated with primary antibodies (K5 (Covance), 1:500 dilution; gas3 (from Suter U), 1:500 dilution) at 4°C overnight. Slides were then washed three times with PBS/0.2% Tween-20 re-

blocked with 10% serum and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibodies (1:150 dilution, Vector Laboratories) for one hour. Samples were then washed and incubated with streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (1:1000, Perkin Elmer) and reactivity revealed by incubation with diamino benzidine (DAB, Sigma) solution in TBS (DAB, 0.05%; imidazole, 0.01 M; NiCl₂, 0.064%; H₂O₂, 0.009%) for 5-10 minutes. Slides were counterstained with methyl green (Sigma) before mounting.

Chapter III *Results*

3. **Results**

3.1. Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH)

Unlike other subtraction methods, very small amounts of RNA (500ng-2 μ g poly A⁺ RNA) are required for SSH. This amount can be easily derived from little material. Moreover, SSH can overcome many of the limitations of other subtraction methods and also offers greater than 1000-fold enrichment for differentially expressed genes.

The forward subtraction, used here, was designed to enrich for genes that are expressed in RA-treated wild-type keratinocytes (tester population) but reduced or absent in treated RARay-null keratinocytes (driver population). To generate the subtracted cDNA library, several steps were required including mRNA preparation, cDNA synthesis, adaptor ligation, hybridization of the tester and driver populations and PCR amplification of the subtracted cDNA fragments (Figure 3-1). RNA was isolated from wild-type and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes treated for 6 hours with 1 μ M RA. The restriction enzyme RsaI was used to digest cDNA into smaller fragments because it generated the largest average size of fragments (about 600 bp; Figure 3-1). Furthermore, cutting cDNAs into small fragments allowed a better representation of individual genes and prevented the formation of complex networks arising from long DNA fragments that may inhibit the formation of appropriate hybrids. In the first hybridization step, an excess driver cDNA was added to each tester cDNA, and the samples were heat denatured and allowed to anneal. The remaining single-stranded cDNAs were normalized, meaning that low and high abundance cDNA became roughly equal. Furthermore, tester single-stranded cDNAs were enriched for differentially expressed sequences as non-target cDNAs present in the tester and driver cDNA form hybrids. In the second hybridization step, the samples from the first hybridization were mixed together and fresh denatured driver cDNA was added to further eliminate common sequences between the two populations. New hybrid molecules (b, c and e; Figure 3-1) were formed which consisted of differentially expressed cDNAs with different adaptors on each end. The last step remaining was PCR amplification of the differentially expressed cDNAs. In the first amplification, only double-stranded cDNAs with different adaptor sequences on each end were amplified. In the second

Figure 3-1. Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH)

The SSH technique was designed to enrich for genes that are expressed in wild-type keratinocytes but reduced or absent in RARoy-null keratinocytes. Briefly, this technique relies on several steps including cDNA synthesis, adaptor ligation, hybridization of the tester and driver populations and PCR amplification of the subtracted cDNA fragments. See text for details.


amplification, nested PCR was used to further reduce background and to enrich for differentially expressed fragments. The cDNA fragments were then cloned into an A-T cloning vector to generate the subtracted cDNA library.

3.2. Identification of differentially expressed transcripts from SSH

The subtracted cDNA samples were compared by reverse Northern analysis as described in Section 2.2 using DNA isolated from single colonies. Briefly, inserts were excised by digestion with Sst I/Sst II, obtained from SSH and run on duplicate agarose gels and transferred to nylon membranes. The blots were hybridized with equivalent c.p.m. of ³²P-labeled cDNA. Briefly, poly A+ RNA was purified from wild-type and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes treated for 6 hours with 1 μ M RA and reverse transcribed with M-MLV reverse transcriptase. The cDNA reaction was then labelled with ³²P- α -dCTP. *Tgase II* or *claudin 6* cDNAs were included in all blots as positive controls. *Tgase II* is a classic RA-target gene in the skin and, as expected, was recovered several times from our screen. We showed that claudin 6 was modestly induced in wild-type and undetectable in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes and thus, it was also a good control for differential expression. The fact that both *claudin 6* and *Tgase II* were more abundant in wild-type keratinocytes versus RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes indicated that this pool was enriched for RA-induced genes (Figure 3-2).

One thousand two hundred-and-forty-one clones were screened by reverse Northern and 725 cDNA clones generated a signal after exposure of one to three days (Table 3-1). cDNA fragments that represent low abundance messages could likely not be detected by this method. Of the 725 clones, 219 (17.6%) were more abundant in the RA-treated wild-type cDNA population relative to RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null. However, some cDNAs gave a very strong signal in wild-type keratinocytes. These were homologous to retrotransposons or as ribosomal RNAs (green dots on Figure 3-2). Retrotransposons and ribosomal RNAs are known RA-target genes but they were not interesting for our studies (Islam *et al.*, 1993). In order to avoid picking these candidate genes, we decided to choose clones whose expression in wild-type keratinocytes was less than that typical of retrotransposons and ribosomal RNAs.

Figure 3-2. Differential expression of RA-candidate genes revealed by

reverse northern analysis.

Equal amounts of digested cDNA clones were run on two agarose gels and transferred to nylon membranes. The blots were hybridized with equivalent c.p.m. of ³²P-labeled cDNA generated from RNA extracted from wild-type and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocyte cell lines treated for 6 hours with 1µM RA. Comparison of the blots reveals that some genes are induced in wild-type compared to RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null cultures. *Claudin 6* or *Tgase II* (depending on the membranes) were used as positive controls whereas β -actin served as a control for RNA integrity. Red dots represent candidate clones that were chosen whereas the green dot corresponds to rRNA.



Table 3.1. Suppression Subtractive Hybridization Results

Reverse Northern Analysis

Total number of clones screened	1241	
Total number of clones giving a signal	725	
Total number of clones that appeared more abundant in wild- type keratinocytes	219	
Percentage of visible clones induced by RA	30.2 %	

Northern Analysis

Total number of clones screened	75
Total number of clones giving a signal	68
Induced by RA in wild-type keratinocytes, but not in RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-/-}$ cells	32
Not induced by RA in wild-type keratinocytes, absent/lower in RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-/-}$ cells	7
Not induced by RA in wild-type or RAR-null keratinocytes	29
Percentage of visible clones induced by RA	47.0 %

3.3. Identification of RA-regulated genes

To validate regulation and to eliminate any remaining false positives, Northern blot analysis was performed using RNA from wild-type or RARay-null keratinocytes treated for 6 hours with 1 μ M RA (data not shown). As shown in Table 3-1, 68 of the 75 clones tested gave a signal by Northern analysis. Of these, 32 (42.3%) clones appeared to be induced by RA while the remaining 36 (53.3%) clones exhibited no difference between untreated and RA-treated wild-type keratinocytes but reduced in RAR $\alpha\gamma^{-1}$ keratinocytes. Three classes of expression were observed, 32 clones were induced in wild-type keratinocytes 6 hours post-treatment with RA and were expressed, but not induced, in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null cells. The second category was composed of 29 clones that were not induced by RA in either wild-type or RARay-null keratinocytes. The remaining 7 clones were also not induced in wild-type cells 6 hours post-treatment but their expression was undetectable in RARay-null keratinocytes. Only the clones that were induced by RA in wild-type keratinocytes and those that were not up regulated but largely reduced in RAR-null keratinocytes on Northerns were end-sequenced. Α summary of sequence homologies and regulation is presented in Table 3-2.

For time course analysis, Northern blots were performed using RNA from wildtype and RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. The wild-type cell line was treated with 1 μ M RA and harvested at different time points ranging from 2 hours to 48 hours. RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes were treated with either 1 μ M RA or 1 μ M 4-HPR and harvested at 24 hours. As described in section 1.6.3, 4-HPR binds and activates RAR γ but can also mediate its effects through RA-independent mechanisms. Thus, it was a valuable tool to determine if RA-regulated genes could also be induced independently of RARs in keratinocytes.

Clones #1 and #2 are homologous to the Tgase I and II genes. Transglutaminases are enzymes that catalyze various post-translational modifications, including transamidation, esterification and hydrolysis of proteins, and are induced by RA in skin (Lorand and Graham, 2003; Rubin and Rice, 1986; Yuspa *et al.*, 1982). As expected, we recovered Tgase II several times from the screen (Table 3-2), suggesting that the screen worked efficiently and that Tgase II was a good control for time course analysis.

Clone Number	Sequence homology	Expression pattern
1	Transglutaminase I	induced in WT, not induced in DM
2	Transglutaminase II	induced in WT, not induced in DM
3	Transglutaminase III	induced in WT, not induced in DM
4	Gas 3	induced in WT, not induced in DM
5	NFAT5	induced in WT
6	Mpf	induced in WT
7	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
8	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
9	VL-30	induced in WT, not induced in DM
10	KIAA0227	induced in WT, not induced in DM
11	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
12	MEA6/MGEA11	induced in WT, not induced in DM
13	No stong homologies	induced in WT, not induced in DM
14	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
15	VL-30	induced in WT, not induced in DM
16	KIAA0852	induced in WT, not induced in DM
17	VL-30	induced in WT, not induced in DM
18	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
19	TM protein ER/Golgi	induced in WT, not induced in DM
20	Claudin 6	induced in WT, not induced in DM
21	No stong homologies	induced in WT, not induced in DM
22	MRGX	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
23	Claudin 6	not induced in WT, absent in DM
24	MRGX	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
25	CTLA-2 α/β	induced in WT, not induced in DM
26	clone 1958033	not induced in WT, absent in DM
27	No stong homologies	induced in WT, not induced in DM
28	No stong homologies	not induced in WT, absent in DM
29	A330094D24	induced in WT, not induced in DM
30	MRGX	induced in WT, not induced in DM
31	Retrovirus	not induced in WT, absent in DM
32	MRGX	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
33	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
34	Claudin 6	not induced in WT, absent in DM
35	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
36	Not sequenced	Not visible
37	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
38	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM

Table 3.2. RA-regulated candidate genes

Clone Number	Sequence homology	Expression pattern
39	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
40	Claudin 6	not induced in WT, absent in DM
41	Not sequenced	Not visible
42	VL-30	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
43	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
44	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
45	Not sequenced	Not visible
46	Not sequenced	Not visible
47	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
48	Claudin 6	induced in WT, absent in DM
49	MRGX	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
50	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
51	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
52	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
53	Tm7sf1	induced in WT, absent in DM
54	Claudin 6	not induced in WT, absent in DM
55	Cystatin B	induced in WT, not induced in DM
56	VL-30	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
57	MRGX	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
58	VL-30	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
59	Transglutaminase II	induced in WT, not induced in DM
60	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
61	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
62	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
63	Gag	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
64	VL-30	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
65	Not sequenced	induced in WT, not induced in DM
66	Transglutaminase II	induced in WT, not induced in DM
67	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
68	Not sequenced	Not visible
69	Not sequenced	Not visible
70	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
71	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
72	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
73	Not sequenced	Not visible
74	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM
75	Not sequenced	not induced in WT, not induced in DM

Table 3.2. Cont'd RA-regulated candidate genes

DM, double mutant or RARαγ-null keratinocytes; WT, wild-type keratinocytes

Expression of *Tgase II* in wild-type keratinocytes was induced as early as 8 hours, with maximal levels attained at 48 hours following RA treatment while *Tgase I* was upregulated after 2 hours but its expression only peaked at 24 hours (Figure 3-3). Tgase I and Tgase II were both expressed in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes, but at lower levels, and were not induced 24 hours post-treatment with RA or 4-HPR. The basal expression also suggests that other pathways regulate these genes in keratinocytes.

Clone #4 is homologous to a gene called growth arrest-specific gene 3 (*gas3*), also known as peripheral myelin protein 22 (*Pmp22*) in humans. Gas3 is an important component of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and point mutations in gas3 cause severe neuropathies including the Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1, Dejerine- Sottas syndrome and hereditary neuropathy with liability to pressure palsies, among others (Jetten and Sutter, 2001). Although well characterized in the PNS, its function has never been studied in skin. The expression of *gas3* in wild-type keratinocytes was induced as early as 2 hours in response to RA with maximal levels attained 48 hours post-treatment (Figure 3-3). *Gas3* was not induced following RA nor 4-HPR treatments in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. However, *gas3* is still expressed at low levels in these cells, suggesting that it is regulated, in part, by retinoid-independent mechanisms in keratinocytes.

Clone #55 is homologous to cystatin B, a cystein protease inhibitor. The expression of cystatin B in wild-type keratinocytes was slightly induced after 8 hours with maximal levels attained 16 hours post-treatment (Figure 3-3). Cystatin B transcripts were also highly expressed in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. Several lines of evidence have indicated that cystatin B is expressed in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, especially during metastasis and inflammation (Budihna *et al.*, 1996).

A second category of candidate genes that were isolated was those that were not induced by RA on time courses but that were largely reduced or undetectable in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. Clone #20 is homologous to claudin 6, which encodes a tight junction protein of the epidermis. This protein had previously been shown to be induced by RA in F9 cells (Kubota *et al.*, 2001). In our time course studies, expression of *claudin 6* appeared to be very slightly up-regulated by RA after 2 hours, with



Figure 3-3. Temporal induction of retinoic acid-responsive genes Northern blot analysis of total RNA (15μg) from wild-type and RARαγ-null immortalized keratinocytes treated for various times with all-*trans* RA (1μM) or 4-HPR (1μM). The blot was probed with cDNAs encoding *Cystatin B*, gas3, *Tgase II*, *Tgase I*, *NFAT5*, *Claudin 6* or *MRGX* as indicated. Hybridization to βactin was used as a loading control.

maximum levels attained at 24 hours post-treatment (Figure 3-3). Moreover, *claudin 6* mRNA was undetectable in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. We isolated claudin 6 six times from the subtracted library (clone #20, #23, #34, #40, #48, #54; Table 3-2). However, induction was reproducible (Table 3-2). This may reflect differences in cell densities at the time the cells were treated or other variables.

Clone #22 is homologous to a gene called MORF-related growth factor X (MRGX), a member of the MORF-related transcription factor gene family located on chromosome X (Bertram *et al.*, 1999). These transcription factors are involved in cell senescence in mice and humans. MRGX was not affected by RA treatment in wild-type keratinocytes but its expression was reduced in the RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null cell line (Figure 3-3).

Primary and secondary screens as well as time course studies were done with immortalized keratinocytes. In order to assess if gas3 was induced by RA in a more physiological context, we tested its pattern of expression in primary keratinocytes. Northern blot analysis on RNA from primary keratinocytes treated with 1 μ M RA and harvested at time points ranging from 2 hours to 48 hours was performed. As with immortalized wild-type keratinocytes, expression of gas3 was slightly induced by RA after 2 hours with maximal levels attained 48 hours post-treatment (Figure 3-4). Figure 3-4 also shows two different gas3 expression levels over a period of 48 hours (lane 1 and 7). This is due to trace amounts of RA in the fetal calf serum as it is not treated to remove RA. The pattern of expression of gas3 was similar to that of Tgase II, a known RA-target gene.

3.4. Gas3 expression in skin in vivo

In order to assess if *gas3* is expressed in skin *in vivo*, we performed immunohistochemichal analysis.

Transverse dorsal skin sections were incubated with primary antibodies against K5 or Gas3. K5, a marker of basal keratinocytes, was restricted to basal keratinocytes in the epidermis and in hair follicles (Figure 3-5B, C). Gas3 was expressed throughout the epidermis (Figure 3-5D). Moreover, positive staining was also detected in hair follicles (Figure 3-5E) and in sebaceous glands (Figure 3-5F). We are currently investigating the epidermal expression of Gas3 in response to RA.



Figure 3-4. Gas3 is induced by RA in primary keratinocytes.

Northern blot analysis of total RNA (15µg) from primary keratinocytes treated for different times with 1 µM RA. The blot was probed with cDNAs encoding *Gas3* or *Tgase II* as denoted on the right. β -actin was used as loading control.

3.5. Gas3 induction by RA is independent of de novo protein synthesis

Retinoic acid induces the transcription of a number of genes in the epidermis. Some genes may be direct targets while others are indirectly regulated. As an example, Tgase II is expressed in the epidermis, is induced very early in our time course studies and has been shown to be a direct RA-target gene (Nagy *et al.*, 1997). It was very tempting to speculate that gas3 is also a direct RA-target gene as it was induced very early in response to RA in keratinocytes, similar to Tgase II. To begin to test this hypothesis, cycloheximide (CHX) poisoning experiments were performed.

Northern blot analysis using RNA from wild-type keratinocytes treated with carrier (DMSO), 10^{-6} M RA and/or 15μ g/ml or 30μ g/ml CHX and harvested 6 hours post-treatment were performed. Cycloheximide has been shown to block protein synthesis in a number of other systems at these concentrations. Cells were pre-treated for one hour with CHX before addition of RA to the culture medium. As expected, *gas3* mRNA levels were induced 6 hours following RA treatment (Figure 3-6). An increase in message abundance was also observed upon CHX treatment. This suggests an increase in stability of gas3 message, a general phenomenon observed for many genes. *Gas3* mRNA levels were also highly induced upon treatment with RA and CHX. These results strongly indicate that induction of *gas3* does not depend on *de novo* protein synthesis, consistent with it being a direct RA-target gene.

3.6. Expression of gas3 is reduced in papillomas

RAR transcripts are frequently lost following epidermal tumor promotion and malignant progression (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995). Recent studies from our lab have indicated that RARs, in particular RAR γ , suppress Ha-*Ras* induced tumorigenesis and functions as a tumor suppressor gene in the epidermis (Chen *et al.*, 2004). To further investigate the relationship between *gas3* and tumorigenesis, we have assessed the expression of *gas3* in chemically induced papillomas.

Papillomas were generated by the mouse multistage carcinogenesis protocol, as described in section 2.7.b. Northern blot analysis revealed that gas3 expression was profoundly reduced in all papillomas tested (Figure 3-7). High expression of K10,



Figure 3-5. Gas3 expression in murine skin.

Immunohistochemical analysis of transverse dorsal skin sections from female CD-1 mice stained with K5 (B, C) or gas3 (D, E, F) primary antibodies. (A) No primary antibody control. K5 expression is restricted to hair follicles (B) and the basal layer in the epidermis (C). Expression of gas3 was located to the epidermis (D), hair follicles (E) and sebaceous glands (F). Arrow indicates positive staining. 400X.



Figure 3-6. *Gas3* induction by RA is independent of *de novo* protein synthesis.

Northern blot analysis of total RNA (15µg) from wild-type immortalized keratinocytes treated for 6 hours with carrier (DMSO), 10^{-6} M RA and/or 15mg/ml or 30mg/ml cycloheximide. The blot was probed with *gas3* cDNA as noted on the right. Hybridization with β -actin was used as a loading control.

indicative of tumour progression, was also observed in these samples (Nelson and Slaga, 1982). Analysis of gas3 in squamous carcinomas has not been carried out yet. These studies suggest that suppression of gas3 is an early event in carcinogenesis.

3.7. Antagonistic effects of RA and TPA

TPA is widely used in the murine two-stage carcinogenesis model to promote skin tumour formation. RA has been shown to inhibit papilloma formation by interfering with this promotion step. To investigate the relationship between gas3, RA and/or TPA, we have assessed expression of gas3 in response to RA and/or TPA.

Wild-type keratinocytes treated with DMSO, 10^{-6} M RA and/or 100 ng/ml TPA and harvested for northern blot analysis at different time points ranging from 6 to 24 hours. We used 100 ng/ml TPA because it is the concentration used to induce the formation of tumors in diverse models. As expected from our time course studies (Figure 3-3), gas3 was induced in response to RA treatment. Of note, we found that TPA had the opposite effect on expression of gas3 at all time points tested (Figure 3-8). Furthermore, repression of gas3 was also observed upon combined treatment with RA and TPA, with RA having a slight effect on gas3 expression. Indeed, inhibition of gas3 by TPA may correlate with the increase in the number of papillomas observed on skin. In order to address that gas3 behaves as a tumor suppressor, we need to perform doseresponse experiments with TPA and find if TPA has an effect on gas3 promoter.

Tumours (papillomas)



Figure 3-7. Gas3 expression is reduced in papillomas.

Northern blot analysis of total RNA ($15\mu g$) from wild-type skin or papillomas harvested between weeks 26 and 35 following tumor promotion. Papillomas were generated by the mouse two-stage skin carcinogenesis protocol. The blot was probed with cDNA encoding *Gas3* or *K10* (positive control) as denoted on the right. Hybridization to β -actin was used as loading control.





Northern blot analysis of total RNA (15 μ g) from wild-type keratinocytes treated for various times with carrier (DMSO), 1 μ M RA and/or 100ng/ml TPA. The blot was probed with cDNA encoding *Gas3* or *Tgase II* as denoted on the right.

Chapter IV General Discussion

4.1. Isolation of RA-regulated genes from keratinocytes

The epidermis expresses RAR α and RAR γ , with RAR γ being the predominant receptor subtype (Fisher and Voorhees, 1996). Studies of transgenic mice expressing a dominant negative form of RAR α in the epidermis provided evidence that the retinoid receptors were involved in keratinocyte differentiation (Saitou *et al.*, 1995). In contrast, the complete absence of RARs in the epidermis does not alter the proliferation potential of basal keratinocytes nor does it cause epidermal hyperproliferation, suggesting that they are not involved in the control of homeostatic epidermal proliferation under resting conditions (Chapellier *et al.*, 2002). On the other hand, these authors proposed that RA-induced epidermal hyperplasia is mediated by RXR α /RAR γ heterodimers, suggesting that retinoid signaling plays important roles under pharmacological conditions.

Treatment of skin with tumor promoters or exposure to ultraviolet radiation leads to a decrease in expression of the RARs in the epidermis (Kumar *et al.*, 1994; Wang *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, tumor promotion and malignant conversion are associated with the progressive loss of RARs in the skin (Darwiche *et al.*, 1995). Together, these studies strongly indicate that RARs are involved in epithelial tumorigenesis. Moreover, retinoids have been shown to interfere with tumorigenesis by attenuating the effects of tumor promoters.

The RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocyte cell line, developed by our group, is devoid of all RARs and is resistant to growth arrest in response to RA (Goyette *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, *ras*-transduced RAR $\alpha\gamma'^{-}$ keratinocytes form tumors *in vivo* and this outcome is reversed by re-introduction of a functional RAR, suggesting that the RARs act as tumor suppressors (Chen *et al.*, 2004). This cell line was therefore a valuable model to determine the means by which RARs suppress epidermal tumor formation. As there is still a gap in our knowledge of the genes that function downstream of the RARs involved in epithelial tumorigenesis, I have used suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH) to isolate genes that were expressed in wild-type keratinocytes in response to RA treatment versus RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. Using reverse northern analysis, the mRNA levels of 219 clones isolated by SSH appeared more abundant in RA-treated wild-type relative to RAR-null keratinocytes. Several of these clones were assessed for

RA-regulation by Northern blot analysis and 42.3% were up-regulated in response to RA treatment.

Tgase I and Tgase II belong to a family of enzymes that carry out various biological functions, including cell envelope formation, to maintain skin integrity (Lorand and Graham, 2003). Transglutaminases have long been known to be induced by RA in the skin (Rubin and Rice, 1986; Yuspa *et al.*, 1982). As *Tgase II* was recovered several times in the screen, this indicates that the wild-type pool was enriched for RA-induced genes. *Tgase* I and *Tgase II* mRNA levels were induced early in response to RA with maximum levels attained 24 hours and 48 hours post-treatment but were not up-regulated by RA or 4-HPR in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes.

Expression of *cystatin B* peaked early in response to RA with maximum levels attained at 16 hours. Moreover, *cystatin B* was not up-regulated by RA or 4-HPR in RAR-null keratinocytes. Many studies have associated cystatins with tumour invasion and metastasis in SCC of the head and neck (Budhina *et al.*, 1996; Strojan *et al.*, 2000, 2001). Furthermore, Ebert *et al.* observed that the activity of cystatin B in lung tumours correlated with survival probability, suggesting that cystatin B could act as a prognostic factor (Ebert *et al.*, 1997). This is likely a paradox as the same protein cannot behave differently in other tumors. Overall, these results suggest that cystatin B might play a role in epithelial tumorigenesis.

Even though some RA-target genes were not induced in wild-type keratinocytes, they may still be involved in epithelial differentiation. In support of this, we observed that the expression of several candidate genes was strongly reduced in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes but not induced in wild-type keratinocytes. One of these genes was *claudin* 6, a tight junction (TJ) protein that belongs to a gene family with at least 20 members (Tsukita and Furuse, 2000). Claudins are integral components of TJs, which serve a major role in cell-cell adhesion of endothelial and epithelial cells. Transgenic mice overexpressing claudin 6 suffer from barrier dysfunction and die within two days, suggesting that this gene is involved in epidermal barrier formation (Turksen and Troy, 2002). Furthermore, several studies have reported reduced or undetectable *claudin* 6 mRNA in mammary cancer cell lines, indicating that it may function as a tumour marker (Quan and Lu, 2003). In agreement with this, we have found that *claudin* 6

mRNA levels were undetectable in RAR-null keratinocytes. Also of note, Kubota *et al.* demonstrated that RA induces the expression of *claudin 6* in F9 cells (Kubota *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, we found that expression of claudin 6 was slightly induced 2 hours post-treatment in wild-type keratinocytes with maximum levels attained after 24 hours.

4.2. Regulation of gas3 expression by RA

The *pmp22* gene, also known as *gas3*, codes for a glycoprotein that belongs to the extended tetraspan membrane protein family (Taylor *et al.*, 1995). *Gas3* is expressed in schwann cells of the peripheral nervous system (PNS), where it localizes to the compact myelin, and in various non-neuronal tissues during embryogenesis and in the adult (Baechner *et al.*, 1995). The highest levels of *gas3* mRNA outside the PNS is found in epithelial cells of the lungs and intestines. However, the function of Gas3 in these tissues has not been resolved. Although the function of Gas3 in the PNS is also largely undefined, it is well established that mutations, deletions and duplications are responsible for several heritable demyelinating peripheral neuropathies, including Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 1 (CMT1; Jetten and Suter, 2001).

Using our immortalized cell lines, we found that *gas3* was induced by RA in wild-type keratinocytes. This induction could be detected very early in response to RA treatment, with maximal levels attained 48 hours post-treatment. Consistent with this, we also showed that *gas3* was up-regulated in primary keratinocytes as early as 2 hours in response to RA. Immunohistochemistry indicated that Gas3 is located in the epidermis, hair follicles and sebaceous glands. This pattern of expression in skin correlates with that of RAR α and RAR γ , consistent with Gas3 playing a role in RAR α and RAR γ -dependent epidermal functions.

4-HPR, a synthetic retinoid, can inhibit growth and induce apoptosis in various model systems (Webber *et al.*, 1999). Although it can act directly via RAR γ , and to a lesser extent RAR β , its effects are also mediated by RA-independent mechanisms (Clifford *et al.*, 1999; Delia *et al.*, 1993; Formelli *et al.*, 1996; Goyette *et al.*, 2000). Interestingly, 4-HPR is able to induce apoptosis of RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes, clearly demonstrating an RA-independent mechanism (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Thus, this provided a good model to determine whether some RA-target genes could be induced

independently of the RARs in keratinocytes. My work demonstrated that gas3 was neither induced in response to RA nor 4-HPR treatment in RAR-null keratinocytes, indicating that RA-induction of gas3 is mediated solely by the RARs. As RAR transcripts are reduced in SCC, and gas3 mRNA levels are strongly reduced in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ null keratinocytes, it is tempting to speculate that RARs mediate their tumour suppressive function, at least in part, through activation of gas3 in the epidermis.

4.3. RA regulation of gas3 gene expression

As members of the *Tgase* family are direct RA-target genes, we speculated that *gas3* was directly regulated by retinoids based on its similar pattern of expression in keratinocytes. Cycloheximide (CHX) is a glutarimide antibiotic that specifically inhibits the translation of mRNA on the large 80S ribosomal subunit in eukaryotes (Bennett *et al.*, 1965; Obrig *et al.*, 1971). In response to CHX treatment, some messenger RNAs accumulate in the cell since they cannot be translated. This suggests that a subset mRNAs, which would normally be degraded early, are more stable (Tobey *et al.*, 1966). Consistent with this, *gas3* mRNA levels were strongly induced in response to CHX treatment. A further increase in message abundance was observed upon treatment with RA and CHX. Thus, this induction suggests both an increase in transcription and stability of gas3 message, a general phenomenon for immediate-early target genes (Ichikawa *et al.*, 2003; Magun et Rodland, 1995).

Additional studies are required to confirm if *gas3* is a direct RA-target gene. The *gas3* gene is regulated by two promoters that give rise to two different mRNAs that differ only in their 5' non-coding region (Saberan-Djoneidi *et al.*, 2000; Suter *et al.*, 1994). These two promoters are located immediately upstream of two alternative 5'-noncoding exons (exon 1A and 1B), where transcripts containing exon 1A (CD25 mRNA) are highly expressed in schwann cells whereas transcripts containing exon 1B (S13 mRNA) are predominant in non-neuronal tissues. RT-PCR studies have demonstrated that CD25 mRNA can be detected in the heart, lung, testis, tongue and skeletal muscle, in addition to its well-defined expression in peripheral nerves (van de Wetering *et al.*, 1999). Even though these tissues are strongly innervated organs that can contain small amounts of myelinated peripheral nerves, this strongly suggests that

promoter 1A is active in other tissues. We believe that one of these promoters may contain an RARE. To test this hypothesis, wild-type keratinocytes were transiently transfected with a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by promoter 1A. Although promoter 1A did not seem to respond to RA, an RARE may be located in promoter 1B or a region outside the two promoters.

4.4. Is gas3 involved in epithelial tumorigenesis?

Tumorigenesis is a complex multistage process that involves both genetic and epigenetic changes that occur in a predictable sequence (Yuspa, 1994, 1998). These changes affect cellular processes that control cell proliferation, differentiation, DNA repair and apoptosis. Understanding the molecular basis of tumorigenesis is essential for the development of therapeutic targets for cancer prevention and treatment. The murine model of chemical induced carcinogenesis is one of the best-defined experimental *in vivo* models of epithelial tumorigenesis (Yuspa, 1994). The development of squamous cell carcinoma in multistage carcinogenesis involves three stages including initiation, promotion and progression (Marks and Furstenberger, 1990). Exogenous retinoids are able to attenuate the effects of tumour promoters in this model (Chen *et al.*, 1995; De Luca *et al.*, 1996; Sun and Lotan, 2002). This observation prompted much research into retinoids as chemopreventive agents. Since then, retinoids have been found to display antitumorigenic effects in diverse model systems.

We were tempted to speculate that this gene plays a role in epithelial tumorigenesis as gas3 mRNA levels were barely detectable in RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes. Our key finding was that suppression of gas3 occurs early during multistep mouse skin carcinogenesis. Indeed, expression of gas3 mRNA was detected in normal skin but was profoundly reduced in squamous papillomas. Hence, this suggest that downregulation of gas3 is a common event in the development of SCC and may act as a tumour suppressor gene in the epidermis.

4.5. TPA represses expression of gas3

Promotion causes selective clonal outgrowth of initiated cells to produce benign squamous cell papillomas. This selective growth advantage results from the growth stimulatory effects of exogenous tumor promoters. The most potent tumor promoters are the phorbol esters, like TPA, which activate PKC and give a growth advantage to DMBA-initiated cells. Retinoids, on the other hand, are able to attenuate the effects of tumour promoters in this model.

To understand the relationship of gas3 expression in epithelial tumorigenesis, we investigated the effects of TPA on gas3 in wild-type keratinocytes. Our major finding was that TPA repressed gas3 mRNA levels as early as 6 hours post-treatment. This is a very rapid response, indicating that gas3 is lost early during tumor promotion. *Gas3* expression was also repressed in wild-type keratinocytes treated with both RA and TPA. However, this block in induction by RA may be due, in part, by the concentration of TPA used for these studies. Even though it is the concentration most frequently used in cell culture, it might be too high for RA to overcome the block when cells are treated with both RA and TPA. Another possibility is that TPA would be dominant over RA for gas3 expression. Therefore, this would mean that gas3 is not a key player in TPA-mediated tumor promotion. To test the effects of TPA at lower doses of TPA, then gas3 is an important player in TPA-mediated tumor promotion.

Within cells, TPA mimics the effects of the second messenger diacylglycerol (DAG), activating several PKC isoforms and influencing cellular signalling and gene regulation (Mellor and Parker, 1998). TPA also induces the expression of many genes associated with signal transduction, cell cycle, epithelial differentiation, cell metabolism and cell structure. These include *Vl30*, *Jun B*, *cathepsin*, *serine proteinase*, *metallothionein 1* and 2, s100 protein family and *orthinine decarboxylase (ODC)*, among others (Schlingemann *et al.*, 2003). One class of transcription factors that mediates gene regulation in response to phorbol esters is the AP-1 complex. Increased expression of AP-1 target genes is observed both after treatment of murine skin with TPA and in different stages of skin tumor development (Tuckermann *et al.*, 1999). It is therefore possible that downregulation of gas3 may be mediated by TPA-induced expression of AP-1.

The efficacy of retinoids in chemoprevention of cancer can be explained by several mechanisms. It has been suggested that the growth inhibitory effects of RA are mediated by trans-repression of the AP-1 complex (Goyette et al., 2000; Jochum et al., 2001; Karin et al., 1997). The potential mechanisms that underlie trans-repression include competitive titration between RAR and AP-1 for common co-regulators such as CBP/p300, downregulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase activity and inhibition of AP-1 DNA binding (Benkoussa et al., 2002; Caelles et al., 1997; Kamei et al., 1996; Schule et al., 1991). Recently, it has been suggested that RA does not seem to deplete AP-1 coactivators or AP-1 monomers but rather targets JunB and/or Fra-1 dimers (Suzukawa and Colburn, 2002). In support of this, TPA treatment increases the transcriptional activities of full-length JunB and Fra-1, but not the transactivation domain fusions, whereas RA suppresses their activity. It is possible that gas3 is an AP-1 target. To test this possibility, transient transfections with a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by the gas3 promoter or a region located outside of the promoter could be performed. Therefore, induction of gas3 expression in response to RA may result from the *trans*repression of AP-1.

4.6. Future Perspectives

Our model suggests that RA activates the transcription of various target genes in the epidermis, including gas3 and we hypothesize that Gas3 may contribute to the antitumorigenic effects of retinoids.

RARs are able to induce growth arrest of wild-type transformed keratinocytes. Cell cycle arrest is associated with the induction of $p21^{cip1}$ and $p27^{kip1}$ and loss of cdk1 expression (Gartel *et al.*, 1996; Sgambato *et al.*, 2000). RARs have been found to impact on the expression of these proteins, correlating with growth arrest (Dimberg *et al.*, 2002; Langenfeld *et al.*, 1997; Liu *et al.*, 1996). However, the primary targets mediating RA-induced growth arrest are presently unknown. Several groups have reported that overexpression of *gas3* induces apoptosis and growth arrest of schwann cells (Fabbretti *et al.*, 1995; Zoidl *et al.*, 1995). However, growth appeared to be restricted to the induction of cell cycle entry of resting cells. In order to test if Gas3 carries out the same function in keratinocytes, we could generate wild-type

keratinocytes stably overexpressing *gas3* using a conditional system such as tet-on/off that allows induction/repression of gas3 expression by the simple addition/removal of tetracycline.

We have demonstrated that gas3 mRNA levels are profoundly reduced in skin papillomas, suggesting that Gas3 may act as a tumor suppressor gene. To further confirm this hypothesis, one could study gas3 expression in several skin SCC cell lines. We now have $Gas3^{-/-}$ mice in our possession (generously provided by Dr. Ueli Suter). In order to test if Gas3 is truly involved in tumorigenesis, one could use the murine multistage carcinogenesis protocol, and compare Gas3^{-/-} to wild-type mice. If Gas3 behaves as a tumor suppressor, we would expect to see an increased number of papillomas on gas3-null mice, tumors that appear more rapidly or a higher frequency of papillomas that progress to SCCs. Another way to test our theory would be to inject *ras*-transformed RAR $\alpha\gamma$ -null keratinocytes stably overexpressing *gas3* into nude mice. Similar studies, from our lab, have clearly indicated that loss of RAR γ or RAR $\alpha\gamma$ leads to tumor formation (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, we anticipate that overexpression of *gas3* will inhibit tumor development in these mice. This studies will bring stronger evidence that gas3 is downstream of the RARs and inhibits tumor promotion.

Some of my work suggest that downregulation of *gas3* occurs early upon TPA treatment. To confirm that this outcome also occurs *in vivo*, we could repeat the same experiment but using mice instead of transformed keratinocytes. Thus, immunohistochemistry analysis of murine skin treated for various times with either acetone, RA and/or TPA could be performed.

4.7. Summary

The genes that function downstream of the RARs, which are involved in epithelial tumorigenesis are largely unknown. My work led to the cloning of *gas3* as a gene induced very early by RA in immortalized and primary keratinocytes. Moreover, *gas3* is expressed in the epidermis and epidermal appendages, indicating that it may play a role in RAR α and RAR γ epidermal functions. *Gas3* expression is also profoundly reduced in skin squamous cell papillomas and is repressed by TPA 6 hours post-treatment, consistent with a tumour suppressor function. Together, these studies

may lead to a better understanding of the role of gas3 in the epidermis and in tumorigenesis.

REFERENCES

Abu-Abed, S.S., Beckett, B.R., Chiba, H., Chithalen, J.V., Jones, G., Metzger, D., Chambon, P., and Petkovich, M. (1998). Mouse P450RAI (CYP26) expression and retinoic acid-inducible retinoic acid metabolism in F9 cells are regulated by retinoic acid receptor gamma and retinoid X receptor alpha. J Biol. Chem. 273, 2409-2415.

Abu-Abed, S., Dolle, P., Metzger, D., Beckett, B., Chambon, P., and Petkovich, M. (2001). The retinoic acid-metabolizing enzyme, CYP26A1, is essential for normal hindbrain patterning, vertebral identity, and development of posterior structures. Genes Dev. 15, 226-240.

Abu-Abed, S., MacLean, G., Fraulob, V., Chambon, P., Petkovich, M., and Dolle, P. (2002). Differential expression of the retinoic acid-metabolizing enzymes CYP26A1 and CYP26B1 during murine organogenesis. Mech. Dev. *110*, 173-177.

Akhurst, R.J., Fee, F., and Balmain, A. (1988). Localized production of TGF-beta mRNA in tumour promoter-stimulated mouse epidermis. Nature *331*, 363-365.

Alam, M. and Ratner, D. (2001). Cutaneous squamous-cell carcinoma. N. Engl. J Med. 344, 975-983.

Alani, R., Brown, P., Binetruy, B., Dosaka, H., Rosenberg, R.K., Angel, P., Karin, M., and Birrer, M.J. (1991). The transactivating domain of the c-Jun proto-oncoprotein is required for cotransformation of rat embryo cells. Mol. Cell Biol. *11*, 6286-6295.

Aldaz, C.M., Conti, C.J., Klein-Szanto, A.J., and Slaga, T.J. (1987). Progressive dysplasia and aneuploidy are hallmarks of mouse skin papillomas: relevance to malignancy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *84*, 2029-2032.

Aldaz, C.M., Trono, D., Larcher, F., Slaga, T.J., and Conti, C.J. (1989). Sequential trisomization of chromosomes 6 and 7 in mouse skin premalignant lesions. Mol. Carcinog. 2, 22-26.

Alland, L., Muhle, R., Hou, H., Jr., Potes, J., Chin, L., Schreiber-Agus, N., and DePinho, R.A. (1997). Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 49-55.

Allenby, G., Bocquel, M.T., Saunders, M., Kazmer, S., Speck, J., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A., Kastner, P., Grippo, J.F., Chambon, P. (1993). Retinoic acid receptors and retinoid X receptors: interactions with endogenous retinoic acids. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *90*, 30-34.

Altucci, L. and Gronemeyer, H. (2001). The promise of retinoids to fight against cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 1, 181-193.

Ang, H.L., Deltour, L., Hayamizu, T.F., Zgombic-Knight, M., and Duester, G. (1996a). Retinoic acid synthesis in mouse embryos during gastrulation and craniofacial development linked to class IV alcohol dehydrogenase gene expression. J Biol. Chem. 271, 9526-9534.

Ang, H.L., Deltour, L., Zgombic-Knight, M., Wagner, M.A., and Duester, G. (1996b). Expression patterns of class I and class IV alcohol dehydrogenase genes in developing epithelia suggest a role for alcohol dehydrogenase in local retinoic acid synthesis. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. 20, 1050-1064.

Ang, H.L. and Duester, G. (1999a). Retinoic acid biosynthetic enzyme ALDH1 localizes in a subset of retinoid-dependent tissues during xenopus development. Dev. Dyn. 215, 264-272.

Ang, H.L. and Duester, G. (1999b). Stimulation of premature retinoic acid synthesis in Xenopus embryos following premature expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase ALDH1. Eur. J Biochem. 260, 227-234.

Angel, P., Imagawa, M., Chiu, R., Stein, B., Imbra, R.J., Rahmsdorf, H.J., Jonat, C., Herrlich, P., and Karin, M. (1987). Phorbol ester-inducible genes contain a common cis element recognized by a TPA-modulated trans-acting factor. Cell 49, 729-739.

Angel, P. and Karin, M. (1991). The role of Jun, Fos and the AP-1 complex in cellproliferation and transformation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1072, 129-157.

Angel, P., Szabowski, A., and Schorpp-Kistner, M. (2001). Function and regulation of AP-1 subunits in skin physiology and pathology. Oncogene 20, 2413-2423.

Anzick, S.L., Kononen, J., Walker, R.L., Azorsa, D.O., Tanner, M.M., Guan, X.Y., Sauter, G., Kallioniemi, O.P., Trent, J.M., and Meltzer, P.S. (1997). AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science 277, 965-968.

Aranda, A. and Pascual, A. (2001). Nuclear hormone receptors and gene expression. Physiol Rev. 81, 1269-1304.

Attar, P.S., Wertz, P.W., McArthur, M., Imakado, S., Bickenbach, J.R., and Roop, D.R. (1997). Inhibition of retinoid signaling in transgenic mice alters lipid processing and disrupts epidermal barrier function. Mol. Endocrinol. *11*, 792-800.

Aumailley, M., Battaglia, C., Mayer, U., Reinhardt, D., Nischt, R., Timpl, R., and Fox, J.W. (1993). Nidogen mediates the formation of ternary complexes of basement membrane components. Kidney Int. 43, 7-12.

Aumailley, M., Wiedemann, H., Mann, K., and Timpl, R. (1989). Binding of nidogen and the laminin-nidogen complex to basement membrane collagen type IV. Eur. J Biochem. *184*, 241-248.

Ayer, D.E., Lawrence, Q.A., and Eisenman, R.N. (1995). Mad-Max transcriptional repression is mediated by ternary complex formation with mammalian homologs of yeast repressor Sin3. Cell 80, 767-776.

Baechner, D., Liehr, T., Hameister, H., Altenberger, H., Grehl, H., Suter, U., and Rautenstrauss, B. (1995). Widespread expression of the peripheral myelin protein-22 gene (PMP22) in neural and non-neural tissues during murine development. J Neurosci. Res. 42, 733-741.

Balmain, A. and Pragnell, I.B. (1983). Mouse skin carcinomas induced in vivo by chemical carcinogens have a transforming Harvey-ras oncogene. Nature 303, 72-74.

Bannister, A.J. and Kouzarides, T. (1996). The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature 384, 641-643.

Barrandon, Y. and Green, H. (1987). Three clonal types of keratinocyte with different capacities for multiplication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 84, 2302-2306.

Barthelman, M., Chen, W., Gensler, H.L., Huang, C., Dong, Z., and Bowden, G.T. (1998). Inhibitory effects of perillyl alcohol on UVB-induced murine skin cancer and AP-1 transactivation. Cancer Res. 58, 711-716.

Bastien, J., Adam-Stitah, S., Riedl, T., Egly, J.M., Chambon, P., and Rochette-Egly, C. (2000). TFIIH interacts with the retinoic acid receptor gamma and phosphorylates its AF-1-activating domain through cdk7. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 21896-21904.

Begemann, G., Schilling, T.F., Rauch, G.J., Geisler, R., and Ingham, P.W. (2001). The zebrafish neckless mutation reveals a requirement for raldh2 in mesodermal signals that pattern the hindbrain. Development *128*, 3081-3094.

Benkoussa, M., Brand, C., Delmotte, M.H., Formstecher, P., and Lefebvre, P. (2002). Retinoic acid receptors inhibit AP1 activation by regulating extracellular signal-regulated kinase and CBP recruitment to an AP1-responsive promoter. Mol. Cell Biol. 22, 4522-4534.

Bennett, L.L., Jr., Ward, V.L., and Brockman, R.W. (1965). Inhibition of protein synthesis in vitro by cycloheximide and related glutarimide antibiotics. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 103, 478-485.

Berard, J., Laboune, F., Mukuna, M., Masse, S., Kothary, R., and Bradley, W.E. (1996). Lung tumors in mice expressing an antisense RARbeta2 transgene. FASEB J 10, 1091-1097.

Berggren, K., McCaffery, P., Drager, U., and Forehand, C.J. (1999). Differential distribution of retinoic acid synthesis in the chicken embryo as determined by immunolocalization of the retinoic acid synthetic enzyme, RALDH-2. Dev. Biol. 210, 288-304.

Bertram, M.J., Berube, N.G., Hang-Swanson, X., Ran, Q., Leung, J.K., Bryce, S., Spurgers, K., Bick, R.J., Baldini, A., Ning, Y., Clark, L.J., Parkinson, E.K., Barrett, J.C., Smith, J.R., and Pereira-Smith, O.M. (1999). Identification of a gene that reverses the immortal phenotype of a subset of cells and is a member of a novel family of transcription factor-like genes. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 1479-1485.

Bianchi, A.B., Fischer, S.M., Robles, A.I., Rinchik, E.M., and Conti, C.J. (1993). Overexpression of cyclin D1 in mouse skin carcinogenesis. Oncogene 8, 1127-1133.

Bikle, D.D., Ratnam, A., Mauro, T., Harris, J., and Pillai, S. (1996). Changes in calcium responsiveness and handling during keratinocyte differentiation. Potential role of the calcium receptor. J Clin. Invest 97, 1085-1093.

Bilanchone, V., Duester, G., Edwards, Y., and Smith, M. (1986). Multiple mRNAs for human alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH): developmental and tissue specific differences. Nucleic Acids Res. 14, 3911-3926.

Blaner, WS., Olson, JA. Retinoids and retinoic acid metabolism. In: Sporn MB, Roberts AB, Goodman DS. ed; The retinoids: Biology, Chemistry, and Medicine. New York; Raven Press. 1994, p 229-256.

Blentic, A., Gale, E., and Maden, M. (2003). Retinoic acid signalling centres in the avian embryo identified by sites of expression of synthesising and catabolising enzymes. Dev. Dyn. 227, 114-127.

Boleda, M.D., Saubi, N., Farres, J., and Pares, X. (1993). Physiological substrates for rat alcohol dehydrogenase classes: aldehydes of lipid peroxidation, omega-hydroxyfatty acids, and retinoids. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. *307*, 85-90.

Boutwell, R.K. (1974). The function and mechanism of promoters of carcinogenesis. CRC Crit Rev. Toxicol. 2, 419-443.

Bovenzi, V. and Momparler, R.L. (2001). Antineoplastic action of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine and histone deacetylase inhibitor and their effect on the expression of retinoic acid receptor beta and estrogen receptor alpha genes in breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 48, 71-76.

Bowden, G.T., Schneider, B., Domann, R., and Kulesz-Martin, M. (1994). Oncogene activation and tumor suppressor gene inactivation during multistage mouse skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 54, 1882s-1885s.

Breitman, T.R., Selonick, S.E., and Collins, S.J. (1980). Induction of differentiation of the human promyelocytic leukemia cell line (HL-60) by retinoic acid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 77, 2936-2940.

Brown, K., Buchmann, A., and Balmain, A. (1990). Carcinogen-induced mutations in the mouse c-Ha-ras gene provide evidence of multiple pathways for tumor progression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 87, 538-542.

Brown, K., Quintanilla, M., Ramsden, M., Kerr, I.B., Young, S., and Balmain, A. (1986). v-ras genes from Harvey and BALB murine sarcoma viruses can act as initiators of two-stage mouse skin carcinogenesis. Cell *46*, 447-456.

Brown, P.H., Alani, R., Preis, L.H., Szabo, E., and Birrer, M.J. (1993). Suppression of oncogene-induced transformation by a deletion mutant of c-jun. Oncogene 8, 877-886.

Bruckner-Tuderman, L. (1999). Biology and pathology of the skin basement membrane zone. Matrix Biol. 18, 3-4.

Budihna, M., Strojan, P., Smid, L., Skrk, J., Vrhovec, I., Zupevc, A., Rudolf, Z., Zargi, M., Krasovec, M., Svetic, B., Kopitar-Jerala, N., and Kos, J. (1996). Prognostic value of cathepsins B, H, L, D and their endogenous inhibitors stefins A and B in head and neck carcinoma. Biol. Chem. Hoppe Seyler *377*, 385-390.

Bugge, T.H., Pohl, J., Lonnoy, O., and Stunnenberg, H.G. (1992). RXR alpha, a promiscuous partner of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptors. EMBO J. 11, 1409-1418.

Burgeson, R.E. and Christiano, A.M. (1997). The dermal-epidermal junction. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 9, 651-658.

Byrne, C. and Hardman, M. (2002). Integumentary structures. In Mouse developmentpatterning, morphogenesis, and organogenesis, J.Rossant and P.Tam, eds. (San Diego: Academic Press), pp. 567-589.

Byrne, C., Tainsky, M., and Fuchs, E. (1994). Programming gene expression in developing epidermis. Development 120, 2369-2383.

Caelles, C., Gonzalez-Sancho, J.M., and Munoz, A. (1997). Nuclear hormone receptor antagonism with AP-1 by inhibition of the JNK pathway. Genes Dev. 11, 3351-3364.

Candi, E., Tarcsa, E., Digiovanna, J.J., Compton, J.G., Elias, P.M., Marekov, L.N., and Steinert, P.M. (1998). A highly conserved lysine residue on the head domain of type II keratins is essential for the attachment of keratin intermediate filaments to the cornified cell envelope through isopeptide crosslinking by transglutaminases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 95, 2067-2072.

Candi, E., Tarcsa, E., Idler, W.W., Kartasova, T., Marekov, L.N., and Steinert, P.M. (1999). Transglutaminase cross-linking properties of the small proline-rich 1 family of cornified cell envelope proteins. Integration with loricrin. J Biol. Chem. 274, 7226-7237.

Carrasco, D. and Bravo, R. (1995). Tissue-specific expression of the fos-related transcription factor fra-2 during mouse development. Oncogene *10*, 1069-1079.

Cavailles, V., Dauvois, S., Danielian, P.S., and Parker, M.G. (1994). Interaction of proteins with transcriptionally active estrogen receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *91*, 10009-10013.

Chai, X., Zhai, Y., and Napoli, J.L. (1997). cDNA cloning and characterization of a cisretinol/3alpha-hydroxysterol short-chain dehydrogenase. J Biol. Chem. 272, 33125-33131.

Chakravarti, D., LaMorte, V.J., Nelson, M.C., Nakajima, T., Schulman, I.G., Juguilon, H., Montminy, M., and Evans, R.M. (1996). Role of CBP/P300 in nuclear receptor signalling. Nature *383*, 99-103.

Chapellier, B., Mark, M., Messaddeq, N., Calleja, C., Warot, X., Brocard, J., Gerard, C., Li, M., Metzger, D., Ghyselinck, N.B., and Chambon, P. (2002). Physiological and retinoid-induced proliferations of epidermis basal keratinocytes are differently controlled. EMBO J 21, 3402-3413.

Chen, C.F., Goyette, P., and Lohnes, D. (2004). RARgamma acts as a tumor suppressor in mouse keratinocytes. Oncogene.

Chen, H., Lin, R.J., Schiltz, R.L., Chakravarti, D., Nash, A., Nagy, L., Privalsky, M.L., Nakatani, Y., and Evans, R.M. (1997). Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyltransferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell *90*, 569-580.

Chen, J.D. and Evans, R.M. (1995). A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature 377, 454-457.

Chen, L.C., Sly, L., and De Luca, L.M. (1994). High dietary retinoic acid prevents malignant conversion of skin papillomas induced by a two-stage carcinogenesis protocol in female SENCAR mice. Carcinogenesis 15, 2383-2386.

Chen, L.C., Tarone, R., Huynh, M., and De Luca, L.M. (1995). High dietary retinoic acid inhibits tumor promotion and malignant conversion in a two-stage skin carcinogenesis protocol using 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene as the initiator and mezerein as the tumor promoter in female SENCAR mice. Cancer Lett. 95, 113-118.

Chiesa, F., Tradati, N., Marazza, M., Rossi, N., Boracchi, P., Mariani, L., Clerici, M., Formelli, F., Barzan, L., Carrassi, A. (1992). Prevention of local relapses and new localisations of oral leukoplakias with the synthetic retinoid fenretinide (4-HPR). Preliminary results. Eur. J Cancer B Oral Oncol. 28B, 97-102.

Chithalen, J.V., Luu, L., Petkovich, M., and Jones, G. (2002). HPLC-MS/MS analysis of the products generated from all-trans-retinoic acid using recombinant human CYP26A. J Lipid Res. 43, 1133-1142.

Coffey, R.J., Jr., Sipes, N.J., Bascom, C.C., Graves-Deal, R., Pennington, C.Y., Weissman, B.E., and Moses, H.L. (1988). Growth modulation of mouse keratinocytes by transforming growth factors. Cancer Res. *48*, 1596-1602.

Cohen, R.N., Wondisford, F.E., and Hollenberg, A.N. (1998). Two separate NCoR (nuclear receptor corepressor) interaction domains mediate corepressor action on thyroid hormone response elements. Mol. Endocrinol. *12*, 1567-1581.

Cohen, S. (1965). The stimulation of epidermal proliferation by a specific protein (EGF). Dev. Biol. 12, 394-407.

Cohen, S., Carpenter, G., and King, L., Jr. (1980). Epidermal growth factor-receptorprotein kinase interactions. Co-purification of receptor and epidermal growth factorenhanced phosphorylation activity. J Biol. Chem. 255, 4834-4842.

Cohen, S. and ELLIOTT, G.A. (1963). The stimulation of epidermal keratinization by a protein isolated from the submaxillary gland of the mouse. J Invest Dermatol 40, 1-5.

Connor, M.J., Ashton, R.E., and Lowe, N.J. (1986). A comparative study of the induction of epidermal hyperplasia by natural and synthetic retinoids. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 237, 31-35.

Conti, C.J., Aldaz, C.M., O'Connell, J., Klein-Szanto, A.J., and Slaga, T.J. (1986). Aneuploidy, an early event in mouse skin tumor development. Carcinogenesis 7, 1845-1848.

Crow, J.A. and Ong, D.E. (1985). Cell-specific immunohistochemical localization of a cellular retinol-binding protein (type two) in the small intestine of rat. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 82, 4707-4711.

Cui, W., Fowlis, D.J., Cousins, F.M., Duffie, E., Bryson, S., Balmain, A., and Akhurst, R.J. (1995). Concerted action of TGF-beta 1 and its type II receptor in control of epidermal homeostasis in transgenic mice. Genes Dev. 9, 945-955.

Dajee, M., Lazarov, M., Zhang, J.Y., Cai, T., Green, C.L., Russell, A.J., Marinkovich, M.P., Tao, S., Lin, Q., Kubo, Y., and Khavari, P.A. (2003). NF-kappaB blockade and oncogenic Ras trigger invasive human epidermal neoplasia. Nature *421*, 639-643.

Darimont, B.D., Wagner, R.L., Apriletti, J.W., Stallcup, M.R., Kushner, P.J., Baxter, J.D., Fletterick, R.J., and Yamamoto, K.R. (1998). Structure and specificity of nuclear receptor-coactivator interactions. Genes Dev. *12*, 3343-3356.

Darwiche, N., Celli, G., Tennenbaum, T., Glick, A.B., Yuspa, S.H., and De Luca, L.M. (1995). Mouse skin tumor progression results in differential expression of retinoic acid and retinoid X receptors. Cancer Res. *55*, 2774-2782.

Darwiche, N., Scita, G., Jones, C., Rutberg, S., Greenwald, E., Tennenbaum, T., Collins, S.J., De Luca, L.M., and Yuspa, S.H. (1996). Loss of retinoic acid receptors in mouse skin and skin tumors is associated with activation of the ras(Ha) oncogene and high risk for premalignant progression. Cancer Res. *56*, 4942-4949.

De Leeuw, A.M., Gaur, V.P., Saari, J.C., and Milam, A.H. (1990). Immunolocalization of cellular retinol-, retinaldehyde- and retinoic acid-binding proteins in rat retina during preand postnatal development. J Neurocytol. *19*, 253-264.

De Luca, L.M., Sly, L., Jones, C.S., and Chen, L.C. (1993). Effects of dietary retinoic acid on skin papilloma and carcinoma formation in female SENCAR mice. Carcinogenesis 14, 539-542.

De Luca, L.M., Tarone, R., Huynh, M., Jones, C.S., and Chen, L.C. (1996). Dietary retinoic acid inhibits mouse skin carcinogenesis irrespective of age at initiation. Nutr. Cancer 25, 249-257.

de Roos, K., Sonneveld, E., Compaan, B., ten Berge, D., Durston, A.J., and van der Saag, P.T. (1999). Expression of retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase (CYP26) during mouse and Xenopus laevis embryogenesis. Mech. Dev. 82, 205-211.

Delia, D., Aiello, A., Lombardi, L., Pelicci, P.G., Grignani, F., Grignani, F., Formelli, F., Menard, S., Costa, A., Veronesi, U. (1993). N-(4-hydroxyphenyl)retinamide induces apoptosis of malignant hemopoietic cell lines including those unresponsive to retinoic acid. Cancer Res. 53, 6036-6041.

Delmotte, M.H., Tahayato, A., Formstecher, P., and Lefebvre, P. (1999). Serine 157, a retinoic acid receptor alpha residue phosphorylated by protein kinase C in vitro, is involved in RXR.RARalpha heterodimerization and transcriptional activity. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 38225-38231.

Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., and Duester, G. (1999a). Impaired retinol utilization in Adh4 alcohol dehydrogenase mutant mice. Dev. Genet. 25, 1-10.

Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., and Duester, G. (1999b). Metabolic deficiencies in alcohol dehydrogenase Adh1, Adh3, and Adh4 null mutant mice. Overlapping roles of Adh1 and Adh4 in ethanol clearance and metabolism of retinol to retinoic acid. J Biol. Chem. 274, 16796-16801.

Deltour, L., Haselbeck, R.J., Ang, H.L., and Duester, G. (1997). Localization of class I and class IV alcohol dehydrogenases in mouse testis and epididymis: potential retinol dehydrogenases for endogenous retinoic acid synthesis. Biol. Reprod. *56*, 102-109.

Delva, L., Bastie, J.N., Rochette-Egly, C., Kraiba, R., Balitrand, N., Despouy, G., Chambon, P., and Chomienne, C. (1999). Physical and functional interactions between cellular retinoic acid binding protein II and the retinoic acid-dependent nuclear complex. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 7158-7167.

Deng, J., Miller, S.A., Wang, H.Y., Xia, W., Wen, Y., Zhou, B.P., Li, Y., Lin, S.Y., and Hung, M.C. (2002). beta-catenin interacts with and inhibits NF-kappa B in human colon and breast cancer. Cancer Cell 2, 323-334.

Denning, M.F. (2004). Epidermal keratinocytes: regulation of multiple cell phenotypes by multiple protein kinase C isoforms. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. *36*, 1141-1146.

Desai, D.S., Hirai, S., Karnes, W.E., Jr., Niles, R.M., and Ohno, S. (1999). Cloning and characterization of the murine PKC alpha promoter: identification of a retinoic acid response element. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 263, 28-34.

Deucher, A., Efimova, T., and Eckert, R.L. (2002). Calcium-dependent involucrin expression is inversely regulated by protein kinase C (PKC)alpha and PKCdelta. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 17032-17040.

Diatchenko, L., Lau, Y.F., Campbell, A.P., Chenchik, A., Moqadam, F., Huang, B., Lukyanov, S., Lukyanov, K., Gurskaya, N., Sverdlov, E.D., and Siebert, P.D. (1996). Suppression subtractive hybridization: a method for generating differentially regulated or tissue-specific cDNA probes and libraries. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *93*, 6025-6030.

Dickman, E.D., Thaller, C., and Smith, S.M. (1997). Temporally-regulated retinoic acid depletion produces specific neural crest, ocular and nervous system defects. Development *124*, 3111-3121.

Dimberg, A., Bahram, F., Karlberg, I., Larsson, L.G., Nilsson, K., and Oberg, F. (2002). Retinoic acid-induced cell cycle arrest of human myeloid cell lines is associated with sequential down-regulation of c-Myc and cyclin E and posttranscriptional up-regulation of p27(Kip1). Blood *99*, 2199-2206.

Ding, X.F., Anderson, C.M., Ma, H., Hong, H., Uht, R.M., Kushner, P.J., and Stallcup, M.R. (1998). Nuclear receptor-binding sites of coactivators glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) and steroid receptor coactivator 1 (SRC-1): multiple motifs with different binding specificities. Mol. Endocrinol. *12*, 302-313.

Dlugosz, A.A. and Yuspa, S.H. (1993). Coordinate changes in gene expression which mark the spinous to granular cell transition in epidermis are regulated by protein kinase C. J Cell Biol. *120*, 217-225.

Dolle, P., Ruberte, E., Leroy, P., Morriss-Kay, G., and Chambon, P. (1990). Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins. I. A systematic study of their differential pattern of transcription during mouse organogenesis. Development *110*, 1133-1151.

Dong, Z., Birrer, M.J., Watts, R.G., Matrisian, L.M., and Colburn, N.H. (1994). Blocking of tumor promoter-induced AP-1 activity inhibits induced transformation in JB6 mouse epidermal cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *91*, 609-613.

Donovan, M., Olofsson, B., Gustafson, A.L., Dencker, L., and Eriksson, U. (1995). The cellular retinoic acid binding proteins. J Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 53, 459-465.

Driessen, C.A., Winkens, H.J., Hoffmann, K., Kuhlmann, L.D., Janssen, B.P., van Vugt, A.H., Van Hooser, J.P., Wieringa, B.E., Deutman, A.F., Palczewski, K., Ruether, K., and
Janssen, J.J. (2000). Disruption of the 11-cis-retinol dehydrogenase gene leads to accumulation of cis-retinols and cis-retinyl esters. Mol. Cell Biol. 20, 4275-4287.

Driessen, C.A., Winkens, H.J., Kuhlmann, E.D., Janssen, A.P., van Vugt, A.H., Deutman, A.F., and Janssen, J.J. (1998). The visual cycle retinol dehydrogenase: possible involvement in the 9-cis retinoic acid biosynthetic pathway. FEBS Lett. *428*, 135-140.

Duester, G. (1999). Function of alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase gene families in retinoid signaling. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 463, 311-319.

Duester, G. (2000). Families of retinoid dehydrogenases regulating vitamin A function: production of visual pigment and retinoic acid. Eur. J Biochem. 267, 4315-4324.

Duester, G. (2001). Genetic dissection of retinoid dehydrogenases. Chem. Biol. Interact. 130-132, 469-480.

Duester, G., Mic, F.A., and Molotkov, A. (2003). Cytosolic retinoid dehydrogenases govern ubiquitous metabolism of retinol to retinaldehyde followed by tissue-specific metabolism to retinoic acid. Chem. Biol. Interact. 143-144, 201-210.

Duguid, J.R. and Dinauer, M.C. (1990). Library subtraction of in vitro cDNA libraries to identify differentially expressed genes in scrapie infection. Nucleic Acids Res. *18*, 2789-2792.

Dupe, V., Matt, N., Garnier, J.M., Chambon, P., Mark, M., and Ghyselinck, N.B. (2003). A newborn lethal defect due to inactivation of retinaldehyde dehydrogenase type 3 is prevented by maternal retinoic acid treatment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *100*, 14036-14041.

E X, Zhang, L., Lu, J., Tso, P., Blaner, W.S., Levin, M.S., and Li, E. (2002). Increased neonatal mortality in mice lacking cellular retinol-binding protein II. J Biol. Chem. 277, 36617-36623.

Eckert, R.L. and Welter, J.F. (1996). Transcription factor regulation of epidermal keratinocyte gene expression. Mol. Biol. Rep. 23, 59-70.

Eckner, R., Arany, Z., Ewen, M., Sellers, W., and Livingston, D.M. (1994). The adenovirus E1A-associated 300-kD protein exhibits properties of a transcriptional coactivator and belongs to an evolutionarily conserved family. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *59*, 85-95.

Erickson, C.A. (1993). From the crest to the periphery: control of pigment cell migration and lineage segregation. Pigment Cell Res. 6, 336-347.

Evans, R.M. (1988). The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240, 889-895.

Fabbretti, E., Edomi, P., Brancolini, C., and Schneider, C. (1995). Apoptotic phenotype induced by overexpression of wild-type gas3/PMP22: its relation to the demyelinating peripheral neuropathy CMT1A. Genes Dev. 9, 1846-1856.

Fan, X., Molotkov, A., Manabe, S., Donmoyer, C.M., Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., Cuenca, A.E., Blaner, W.S., Lipton, S.A., and Duester, G. (2003). Targeted disruption of Aldh1a1 (Raldh1) provides evidence for a complex mechanism of retinoic acid synthesis in the developing retina. Mol. Cell Biol. 23, 4637-4648.

Fanjul, A.N., Delia, D., Pierotti, M.A., Rideout, D., Yu, J.Q., Pfahl, M., and Qiu, J. (1996). 4-Hydroxyphenyl retinamide is a highly selective activator of retinoid receptors. J Biol. Chem. 271, 22441-22446.

Fawcett, D., Pasceri, P., Fraser, R., Colbert, M., Rossant, J., and Giguere, V. (1995). Postaxial polydactyly in forelimbs of CRABP-II mutant mice. Development 121, 671-679.

Fernandez, M.R., Biosca, J.A., Norin, A., Jornvall, H., and Pares, X. (1995). Class III alcohol dehydrogenase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae: structural and enzymatic features differ toward the human/mammalian forms in a manner consistent with functional needs in formaldehyde detoxication. FEBS Lett. *370*, 23-26.

Fisher, G.J., Talwar, H.S., Xiao, J.H., Datta, S.C., Reddy, A.P., Gaub, M.P., Rochette-Egly, C., Chambon, P., and Voorhees, J.J. (1994). Immunological identification and functional quantitation of retinoic acid and retinoid X receptor proteins in human skin. J Biol. Chem. 269, 20629-20635.

Fisher, G.J. and Voorhees, J.J. (1996). Molecular mechanisms of retinoid actions in skin. FASEB J 10, 1002-1013.

Fondell, J.D., Ge, H., and Roeder, R.G. (1996). Ligand induction of a transcriptionally active thyroid hormone receptor coactivator complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 93, 8329-8333.

Fontana, J.A. and Rishi, A.K. (2002). Classical and novel retinoids: their targets in cancer therapy. Leukemia *16*, 463-472.

Forman, B.M. and Evans, R.M. (1995). Nuclear hormone receptors activate direct, inverted, and everted repeats. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 761, 29-37.

Formelli, F., Barua, A.B., and Olson, J.A. (1996). Bioactivities of N-(4-hydroxyphenyl) retinamide and retinoyl beta-glucuronide. FASEB J 10, 1014-1024.

Fowlis, D.J., Flanders, K.C., Duffie, E., Balmain, A., and Akhurst, R.J. (1992). Discordant transforming growth factor beta 1 RNA and protein localization during chemical carcinogenesis of the skin. Cell Growth Differ. *3*, 81-91.

Frazier, C. and Hu, C. (1931). Cutaneous lesions associated with a deficiency in vitamin A in man. Arch. Intern. Med. 48, 507-514.

Freedman, L.P. (1999). Multimeric Coactivator Complexes for Steroid/Nuclear Receptors. Trends Endocrinol. Metab 10, 403-407.

Freemantle, S.J., Spinella, M.J., and Dmitrovsky, E. (2003). Retinoids in cancer therapy and chemoprevention: promise meets resistance. Oncogene 22, 7305-7315.

Fuchs, E. (1995). Keratins and the skin. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 11, 123-153.

Fuchs, E. and Green, H. (1981). Regulation of terminal differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes by vitamin A. Cell 25, 617-625.

Fuchs, E. and Raghavan, S. (2002). Getting under the skin of epidermal morphogenesis. Nat. Rev. Genet. 3, 199-209.

Fujii, H., Sato, T., Kaneko, S., Gotoh, O., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Osawa, K., Kato, S., and Hamada, H. (1997). Metabolic inactivation of retinoic acid by a novel P450 differentially expressed in developing mouse embryos. EMBO J *16*, 4163-4173.

Fukuyama, K., Kakimi, S., and Epstein, W.L. (1980). Detection of a fibrous component in keratohyalin granules of newborn rat epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 74, 174-180.

Gamble, M.V., Shang, E., Zott, R.P., Mertz, J.R., Wolgemuth, D.J., and Blaner, W.S. (1999). Biochemical properties, tissue expression, and gene structure of a short chain dehydrogenase/ reductase able to catalyze cis-retinol oxidation. J Lipid Res. 40, 2279-2292.

Genchi, G., Wang, W., Barua, A., Bidlack, W.R., and Olson, J.A. (1996). Formation of beta-glucuronides and of beta-galacturonides of various retinoids catalyzed by induced and noninduced microsomal UDP-glucuronosyltransferases of rat liver. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1289*, 284-290.

Ghosh, S. and Karin, M. (2002). Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell 109 Suppl, S81-S96.

Ghyselinck, N.B., Bavik, C., Sapin, V., Mark, M., Bonnier, D., Hindelang, C., Dierich, A., Nilsson, C.B., Hakansson, H., Sauvant, P., Azais-Braesco, V., Frasson, M., Picaud, S., and Chambon, P. (1999). Cellular retinol-binding protein I is essential for vitamin A homeostasis. EMBO J. *18*, 4903-4914.

Ghyselinck, N.B., Chapellier, B., Calleja, C., Kumar, I.A., Li, M., Messaddeq, N., Mark, M., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2002). [Genetic dissection of retinoic acid function in epidermis physiology]. Ann. Dermatol Venereol. *129*, 793-799.

Ghyselinck, N.B., Dupe, V., Dierich, A., Messaddeq, N., Garnier, J.M., Rochette-Egly, C., Chambon, P., and Mark, M. (1997). Role of the retinoic acid receptor beta (RARbeta) during mouse development. Int. J Dev. Biol. *41*, 425-447.

Gianni, M., Bauer, A., Garattini, E., Chambon, P., and Rochette-Egly, C. (2002a). Phosphorylation by p38MAPK and recruitment of SUG-1 are required for RA-induced RAR gamma degradation and transactivation. EMBO J. 21, 3760-3769.

Gianni, M., Kopf, E., Bastien, J., Oulad-Abdelghani, M., Garattini, E., Chambon, P., and Rochette-Egly, C. (2002b). Down-regulation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway is involved in retinoic acid-induced phosphorylation, degradation, and transcriptional activity of retinoic acid receptor gamma 2. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 24859-24862.

Gianni, M., Tarrade, A., Nigro, E.A., Garattini, E., and Rochette-Egly, C. (2003). The AF-1 and AF-2 domains of RAR gamma 2 and RXR alpha cooperate for triggering the transactivation and the degradation of RAR gamma 2/RXR alpha heterodimers. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 34458-34466.

Giguere, V. and Evans, R.M. (1990). Identification of receptors for retinoids as members of the steroid and thyroid hormone receptor family. Methods Enzymol. *189*, 223-232.

Giguere, V., Ong, E.S., Segui, P., and Evans, R.M. (1987). Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature *330*, 624-629.

Gilmore, T.D. (1997). Clinically relevant findings. J Clin. Invest 100, 2935-2936.

Glass, C.K. (1994). Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor monomers, dimers, and heterodimers. Endocr. Rev. 15, 391-407.

Glass, C.K. and Rosenfeld, M.G. (2000). The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. Genes Dev. 14, 121-141.

Glick, A.B., Lee, M.M., Darwiche, N., Kulkarni, A.B., Karlsson, S., and Yuspa, S.H. (1994). Targeted deletion of the TGF-beta 1 gene causes rapid progression to squamous cell carcinoma. Genes Dev. 8, 2429-2440.

Gottesman, M.E., Quadro, L., and Blaner, W.S. (2001). Studies of vitamin A metabolism in mouse model systems. Bioessays 23, 409-419.

Goyette, P., Feng, C.C., Wang, W., Seguin, F., and Lohnes, D. (2000). Characterization of retinoic acid receptor-deficient keratinocytes. J Biol. Chem. 275, 16497-16505.

Green, K.J. and Jones, J.C. (1996). Desmosomes and hemidesmosomes: structure and function of molecular components. FASEB J 10, 871-881.

Grignani, F., De Matteis, S., Nervi, C., Tomassoni, L., Gelmetti, V., Cioce, M., Fanelli, M., Ruthardt, M., Ferrara, F.F., Zamir, I., Seiser, C., Grignani, F., Lazar, M.A., Minucci,

S., and Pelicci, P.G. (1998). Fusion proteins of the retinoic acid receptor-alpha recruit histone deacetylase in promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 815-818.

Gronemeyer, H. and Miturski, R. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of retinoid action. Cell Mol. Biol. Lett. 6, 3-52.

Grossman, D. and Leffell, D.J. (1997). The molecular basis of nonmelanoma skin cancer: new understanding. Arch. Dermatol 133, 1263-1270.

Grun, F., Hirose, Y., Kawauchi, S., Ogura, T., and Umesono, K. (2000). Aldehyde dehydrogenase 6, a cytosolic retinaldehyde dehydrogenase prominently expressed in sensory neuroepithelia during development. J Biol. Chem. 275, 41210-41218.

Gu, W., Malik, S., Ito, M., Yuan, C.X., Fondell, J.D., Zhang, X., Martinez, E., Qin, J., and Roeder, R.G. (1999). A novel human SRB/MED-containing cofactor complex, SMCC, involved in transcription regulation. Mol. Cell *3*, 97-108.

Guenther, M.G., Barak, O., and Lazar, M.A. (2001). The SMRT and N-CoR corepressors are activating cofactors for histone deacetylase 3. Mol. Cell Biol. 21, 6091-6101.

Gustafson, A.L., Dencker, L., and Eriksson, U. (1993). Non-overlapping expression of CRBP I and CRABP I during pattern formation of limbs and craniofacial structures in the early mouse embryo. Development *117*, 451-460.

Haake, A., Scott, G., and Holbrook, K. (2001). Structure and function of the skin: overview of the epidermis and dermis. In The biology of the skin, R.Freinkel and D.Woodley, eds. (New York: The Parthenon Publishing Group), pp. 19-45.

Haeseleer, F., Huang, J., Lebioda, L., Saari, J.C., and Palczewski, K. (1998). Molecular characterization of a novel short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase that reduces all-transretinal. J Biol. Chem. 273, 21790-21799.

Hansen, L.A., Alexander, N., Hogan, M.E., Sundberg, J.P., Dlugosz, A., Threadgill, D.W., Magnuson, T., and Yuspa, S.H. (1997). Genetically null mice reveal a central role for epidermal growth factor receptor in the differentiation of the hair follicle and normal hair development. Am. J Pathol. *150*, 1959-1975.

Haque, M. and Anreola, F. (1998). The cloning and characterization of a novel cytochrome P450 family, CYP26, with specificity toward retinoic acid. Nutr. Rev. 56, 84-85.

Hara, E., Kato, T., Nakada, S., Sekiya, S., and Oda, K. (1991). Subtractive cDNA cloning using oligo(dT)30-latex and PCR: isolation of cDNA clones specific to undifferentiated human embryonal carcinoma cells. Nucleic Acids Res. *19*, 7097-7104.

Hartwig, J.H., Kung, S., Kovacsovics, T., Janmey, P.A., Cantley, L.C., Stossel, T.P., and Toker, A. (1996). D3 phosphoinositides and outside-in integrin signaling by glycoprotein

IIb-IIIa mediate platelet actin assembly and filopodial extension induced by phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 32986-32993.

Haselbeck, R.J., Ang, H.L., Deltour, L., and Duester, G. (1997). Retinoic acid and alcohol/retinol dehydrogenase in the mouse adrenal gland: a potential endocrine source of retinoic acid during development. Endocrinology *138*, 3035-3041.

Haselbeck, R.J., Hoffmann, I., and Duester, G. (1999). Distinct functions for Aldh1 and Raldh2 in the control of ligand production for embryonic retinoid signaling pathways. Dev. Genet. 25, 353-364.

Hassig, C.A., Fleischer, T.C., Billin, A.N., Schreiber, S.L., and Ayer, D.E. (1997). Histone deacetylase activity is required for full transcriptional repression by mSin3A. Cell 89, 341-347.

Hayashi, K., Yokozaki, H., Goodison, S., Oue, N., Suzuki, T., Lotan, R., Yasui, W., and Tahara, E. (2001a). Inactivation of retinoic acid receptor beta by promoter CpG hypermethylation in gastric cancer. Differentiation *68*, 13-21.

He, L.Z., Guidez, F., Tribioli, C., Peruzzi, D., Ruthardt, M., Zelent, A., and Pandolfi, P.P. (1998). Distinct interactions of PML-RARalpha and PLZF-RARalpha with co-repressors determine differential responses to RA in APL. Nat. Genet. *18*, 126-135.

Heery, D.M., Kalkhoven, E., Hoare, S., and Parker, M.G. (1997). A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature *387*, 733-736.

Heinzel, T., Lavinsky, R.M., Mullen, T.M., Soderstrom, M., Laherty, C.D., Torchia, J., Yang, W.M., Brard, G., Ngo, S.D., Davie, J.R., Seto, E., Eisenman, R.N., Rose, D.W., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1997). A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature *387*, 43-48.

Hennings, H., Holbrook, K., Steinert, P., and Yuspa, S. (1980a). Growth and differentiation of mouse epidermal cells in culture: effects of extracellular calcium. Curr. Probl. Dermatol 10, 3-25.

Hennings, H., Michael, D., Cheng, C., Steinert, P., Holbrook, K., and Yuspa, S.H. (1980b). Calcium regulation of growth and differentiation of mouse epidermal cells in culture. Cell 19, 245-254.

Herr, F.M. and Ong, D.E. (1992). Differential interaction of lecithin-retinol acyltransferase with cellular retinol binding proteins. Biochemistry *31*, 6748-6755.

Heyman, R.A., Mangelsdorf, D.J., Dyck, J.A., Stein, R.B., Eichele, G., Evans, R.M., and Thaller, C. (1992). 9-cis retinoic acid is a high affinity ligand for the retinoid X receptor. Cell *68*, 397-406.

Hittelman, A.B., Burakov, D., Iniguez-Lluhi, J.A., Freedman, L.P., and Garabedian, M.J. (1999). Differential regulation of glucocorticoid receptor transcriptional activation via AF-1-associated proteins. EMBO J *18*, 5380-5388.

Hoffmann, I., Ang, H.L., and Duester, G. (1998). Alcohol dehydrogenases in Xenopus development: conserved expression of ADH1 and ADH4 in epithelial retinoid target tissues. Dev. Dyn. 213, 261-270.

Holbrook, K.A. (1989). Biologic structure and function: perspectives on morphologic approaches to the study of the granular layer keratinocyte. J Invest Dermatol 92, 84S-104S.

Hollemann, T., Chen, Y., Grunz, H., and Pieler, T. (1998). Regionalized metabolic activity establishes boundaries of retinoic acid signalling. EMBO J 17, 7361-7372.

Horlein, A.J., Naar, A.M., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Gloss, B., Kurokawa, R., Ryan, A., Kamei, Y., Soderstrom, M., Glass, C.K. (1995). Ligand-independent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature *377*, 397-404.

Houle, B., Rochette-Egly, C., and Bradley, W.E. (1993). Tumor-suppressive effect of the retinoic acid receptor beta in human epidermoid lung cancer cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *90*, 985-989.

Hsu, L.C., Chang, W.C., Hiraoka, L., and Hsieh, C.L. (1994). Molecular cloning, genomic organization, and chromosomal localization of an additional human aldehyde dehydrogenase gene, ALDH6. Genomics 24, 333-341.

Hu, X. and Lazar, M.A. (1999). The CoRNR motif controls the recruitment of corepressors by nuclear hormone receptors. Nature 402, 93-96.

Hu, X. and Lazar, M.A. (2000). Transcriptional repression by nuclear hormone receptors. Trends Endocrinol. Metab 11, 6-10.

Hu, X., Li, Y., and Lazar, M.A. (2001). Determinants of CoRNR-dependent repression complex assembly on nuclear hormone receptors. Mol. Cell Biol. 21, 1747-1758.

Hu, Y., Baud, V., Delhase, M., Zhang, P., Deerinck, T., Ellisman, M., Johnson, R., and Karin, M. (1999). Abnormal morphogenesis but intact IKK activation in mice lacking the IKKalpha subunit of IkappaB kinase. Science 284, 316-320.

Huang, E.Y., Zhang, J., Miska, E.A., Guenther, M.G., Kouzarides, T., and Lazar, M.A. (2000). Nuclear receptor corepressors partner with class II histone deacetylases in a Sin3-independent repression pathway. Genes Dev. *14*, 45-54.

Imakado, S., Bickenbach, J.R., Bundman, D.S., Rothnagel, J.A., Attar, P.S., Wang, X.J., Walczak, V.R., Wisniewski, S., Pote, J., Gordon, J.S. (1995). Targeting expression of a

dominant-negative retinoic acid receptor mutant in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in loss of barrier function. Genes Dev. 9, 317-329.

Iannaccone, P.M., Weinberg, W.C., and Deamant, F.D. (1987). On the clonal origin of tumors: a review of experimental models. Int. J Cancer 39, 778-784.

Ise, K., Nakamura, K., Nakao, K., Shimizu, S., Harada, H., Ichise, T., Miyoshi, J., Gondo, Y., Ishikawa, T., Aiba, A., and Katsuki, M. (2000). Targeted deletion of the H-ras gene decreases tumor formation in mouse skin carcinogenesis. Oncogene *19*, 2951-2956.

Ishizuka, T. and Lazar, M.A. (2003). The N-CoR/histone deacetylase 3 complex is required for repression by thyroid hormone receptor. Mol. Cell Biol. 23, 5122-5131.

Islam, T.C., Bugge, T.H., and Bohm, S. (1993). The long terminal repeat of VL30 retrotransposons contains sequences that determine retinoic acid-induced transcription in cultured keratinocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 3251-3259.

Ito, M. and Roeder, R.G. (2001). The TRAP/SMCC/Mediator complex and thyroid hormone receptor function. Trends Endocrinol. Metab 12, 127-134.

Ito, M., Yuan, C.X., Malik, S., Gu, W., Fondell, J.D., Yamamura, S., Fu, Z.Y., Zhang, X., Qin, J., and Roeder, R.G. (1999). Identity between TRAP and SMCC complexes indicates novel pathways for the function of nuclear receptors and diverse mammalian activators. Mol. Cell *3*, 361-370.

Iulianella, A., Beckett, B., Petkovich, M., and Lohnes, D. (1999). A molecular basis for retinoic acid-induced axial truncation. Dev. Biol. 205, 33-48.

Ivanova, T., Petrenko, A., Gritsko, T., Vinokourova, S., Eshilev, E., Kobzeva, V., Kisseljov, F., and Kisseljova, N. (2002). Methylation and silencing of the retinoic acid receptor-beta 2 gene in cervical cancer. BMC. Cancer 2, 4.

Jetten, A.M. and Suter, U. (2000). The peripheral myelin protein 22 and epithelial membrane protein family. Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 64, 97-129.

Jochum, W., Passegue, E., and Wagner, E.F. (2001). AP-1 in mouse development and tumorigenesis. Oncogene 20, 2401-2412.

Jones, J.C., Hopkinson, S.B., and Goldfinger, L.E. (1998). Structure and assembly of hemidesmosomes. Bioessays 20, 488-494.

Jones, P.H. and Watt, F.M. (1993). Separation of human epidermal stem cells from transit amplifying cells on the basis of differences in integrin function and expression. Cell 73, 713-724.

Jornvall, H., Persson, B., Krook, M., Atrian, S., Gonzalez-Duarte, R., Jeffery, J., and Ghosh, D. (1995). Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR). Biochemistry 34, 6003-6013.

Jost, M., Kari, C., and Rodeck, U. (2000). The EGF receptor - an essential regulator of multiple epidermal functions. Eur. J Dermatol 10, 505-510.

Kalinin, A.E., Kajava, A.V., and Steinert, P.M. (2002). Epithelial barrier function: assembly and structural features of the cornified cell envelope. Bioessays 24, 789-800.

Kalluri, R. (2003). Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3, 422-433.

Kamei, Y., Xu, L., Heinzel, T., Torchia, J., Kurokawa, R., Gloss, B., Lin, S.C., Heyman, R.A., Rose, D.W., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1996). A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell *85*, 403-414.

Karin, M. and Ben Neriah, Y. (2000). Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 18, 621-663.

Karin, M., Cao, Y., Greten, F.R., and Li, Z.W. (2002). NF-kappaB in cancer: from innocent bystander to major culprit. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 301-310.

Karin, M., Liu, Z., and Zandi, E. (1997). AP-1 function and regulation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 9, 240-246.

Kashiwagi, M., Ohba, M., Chida, K., and Kuroki, T. (2002). Protein kinase C eta (PKC eta): its involvement in keratinocyte differentiation. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) *132*, 853-857.

Kastner, P., Krust, A., Mendelsohn, C., Garnier, J.M., Zelent, A., Leroy, P., Staub, A., and Chambon, P. (1990). Murine isoforms of retinoic acid receptor gamma with specific patterns of expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *87*, 2700-2704.

Khorasanizadeh, S. and Rastinejad, F. (2001). Nuclear-receptor interactions on DNA-response elements. Trends Biochem. Sci. 26, 384-390.

Kliewer, S.A., Umesono, K., Mangelsdorf, D.J., and Evans, R.M. (1992a). Retinoid X receptor interacts with nuclear receptors in retinoic acid, thyroid hormone and vitamin D3 signalling. Nature *355*, 446-449.

Kliewer, S.A., Umesono, K., Noonan, D.J., Heyman, R.A., and Evans, R.M. (1992b). Convergence of 9-cis retinoic acid and peroxisome proliferator signalling pathways through heterodimer formation of their receptors. Nature 358, 771-774.

Kobayashi, T., Hashimoto, K., Okumura, H., Asada, H., and Yoshikawa, K. (1998). Endogenous EGF-family growth factors are necessary for the progression from the G1 to S phase in human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol *111*, 616-620.

Koenig, R.J., Brent, G.A., Larsen, P.R., and Moore, D.D. (1990). Direct repeats. Nature 345, 584.

Kojima, R., Fujimori, T., Kiyota, N., Toriya, Y., Fukuda, T., Ohashi, T., Sato, T., Yoshizawa, Y., Takeyama, K., Mano, H. (1994). In vivo isomerization of retinoic acids. Rapid isomer exchange and gene expression. J Biol. Chem. *269*, 32700-32707.

Komuves, L., Oda, Y., Tu, C.L., Chang, W.H., Ho-Pao, C.L., Mauro, T., and Bikle, D.D. (2002). Epidermal expression of the full-length extracellular calcium-sensing receptor is required for normal keratinocyte differentiation. J Cell Physiol *192*, 45-54.

Kopf, E., Plassat, J.L., Vivat, V., de The, H., Chambon, P., and Rochette-Egly, C. (2000). Dimerization with retinoid X receptors and phosphorylation modulate the retinoic acid-induced degradation of retinoic acid receptors alpha and gamma through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 33280-33288.

Krieg, P., Schnapke, R., Furstenberger, G., Vogt, I., and Marks, F. (1991). TGF-beta 1 and skin carcinogenesis: antiproliferative effect in vitro and TGF-beta 1 mRNA expression during epidermal hyperproliferation and multistage tumorigenesis. Mol. Carcinog. *4*, 129-137.

Kubota, H., Chiba, H., Takakuwa, Y., Osanai, M., Tobioka, H., Kohama, G., Mori, M., and Sawada, N. (2001). Retinoid X receptor alpha and retinoic acid receptor gamma mediate expression of genes encoding tight-junction proteins and barrier function in F9 cells during visceral endodermal differentiation. Exp. Cell Res. *263*, 163-172.

Kulesz-Martin, M.F., Fabian, D., and Bertram, J.S. (1984). Differential calcium requirements for growth of mouse skin epithelial and fibroblast cells. Cell Tissue Kinet. *17*, 525-533.

Kumar, R., Shoemaker, A.R., and Verma, A.K. (1994). Retinoic acid nuclear receptors and tumor promotion: decreased expression of retinoic acid nuclear receptors by the tumor promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate. Carcinogenesis *15*, 701-705.

Kumar, R. and Thompson, E.B. (1999). The structure of the nuclear hormone receptors. Steroids 64, 310-319.

Kumar, R. and Thompson, E.B. (2003). Transactivation functions of the N-terminal domains of nuclear hormone receptors: protein folding and coactivator interactions. Mol. Endocrinol. *17*, 1-10.

Kurokawa, R., DiRenzo, J., Boehm, M., Sugarman, J., Gloss, B., Rosenfeld, M.G., Heyman, R.A., and Glass, C.K. (1994). Regulation of retinoid signalling by receptor polarity and allosteric control of ligand binding. Nature *371*, 528-531.

Kurokawa, R., Soderstrom, M., Horlein, A., Halachmi, S., Brown, M., Rosenfeld, M.G., and Glass, C.K. (1995). Polarity-specific activities of retinoic acid receptors determined by a co-repressor. Nature *377*, 451-454.

Kurokawa, R., Yu, V.C., Naar, A., Kyakumoto, S., Han, Z., Silverman, S., Rosenfeld, M.G., and Glass, C.K. (1993). Differential orientations of the DNA-binding domain and

carboxy-terminal dimerization interface regulate binding site selection by nuclear receptor heterodimers. Genes Dev. 7, 1423-1435.

Kwa, R.E., Campana, K., and Moy, R.L. (1992). Biology of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. J Am. Acad. Dermatol 26, 1-26.

Kwok, R.P., Lundblad, J.R., Chrivia, J.C., Richards, J.P., Bachinger, H.P., Brennan, R.G., Roberts, S.G., Green, M.R., and Goodman, R.H. (1994). Nuclear protein CBP is a coactivator for the transcription factor CREB. Nature *370*, 223-226.

Kwong, J., Lo, K.W., To, K.F., Teo, P.M., Johnson, P.J., and Huang, D.P. (2002). Promoter hypermethylation of multiple genes in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Clin. Cancer Res. 8, 131-137.

Laherty, C.D., Yang, W.M., Sun, J.M., Davie, J.R., Seto, E., and Eisenman, R.N. (1997). Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell 89, 349-356.

Lamph, W.W., Wamsley, P., Sassone-Corsi, P., and Verma, I.M. (1988). Induction of proto-oncogene JUN/AP-1 by serum and TPA. Nature *334*, 629-631.

Lampron, C., Rochette-Egly, C., Gorry, P., Dolle, P., Mark, M., Lufkin, T., LeMeur, M., and Chambon, P. (1995). Mice deficient in cellular retinoic acid binding protein II (CRABPII) or in both CRABPI and CRABPII are essentially normal. Development *121*, 539-548.

Lamy, A., Metayer, J., Thiberville, L., Frebourg, T., and Sesboue, R. (2001). Re: Promoter methylation and silencing of the retinoic acid receptor-beta gene in lung carcinomas. J Natl. Cancer Inst. 93, 66-68.

Langenfeld, J., Kiyokawa, H., Sekula, D., Boyle, J., and Dmitrovsky, E. (1997). Posttranslational regulation of cyclin D1 by retinoic acid: a chemoprevention mechanism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 94, 12070-12074.

Lee, M.S., Kliewer, S.A., Provencal, J., Wright, P.E., and Evans, R.M. (1993). Structure of the retinoid X receptor alpha DNA binding domain: a helix required for homodimeric DNA binding. Science 260, 1117-1121.

Lee, S.K., Kim, H.J., Na, S.Y., Kim, T.S., Choi, H.S., Im, S.Y., and Lee, J.W. (1998). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 coactivates activating protein-1-mediated transactivations through interaction with the c-Jun and c-Fos subunits. J Biol. Chem. 273, 16651-16654.

Leo, C. and Chen, J.D. (2000). The SRC family of nuclear receptor coactivators. Gene 245, 1-11.

Leo, M.A., Kim, C.I., and Lieber, C.S. (1987). NAD+-dependent retinol dehydrogenase in liver microsomes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 259, 241-249.

Leroy, P., Krust, A., Zelent, A., Mendelsohn, C., Garnier, J.M., Kastner, P., Dierich, A., and Chambon, P. (1991). Multiple isoforms of the mouse retinoic acid receptor alpha are generated by alternative splicing and differential induction by retinoic acid. EMBO J. *10*, 59-69.

Levin, A.A., Sturzenbecker, L.J., Kazmer, S., Bosakowski, T., Huselton, C., Allenby, G., Speck, J., Kratzeisen, C., Rosenberger, M., Lovey, A. (1992). 9-cis retinoic acid stereoisomer binds and activates the nuclear receptor RXR alpha. Nature *355*, 359-361.

Levin, M.S. (1993). Cellular retinol-binding proteins are determinants of retinol uptake and metabolism in stably transfected Caco-2 cells. J Biol. Chem. 268, 8267-8276.

Li, E., Demmer, L.A., Sweetser, D.A., Ong, D.E., and Gordon, J.I. (1986). Rat cellular retinol-binding protein II: use of a cloned cDNA to define its primary structure, tissue-specific expression, and developmental regulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *83*, 5779-5783.

Li, E. and Norris, A.W. (1996). Structure/function of cytoplasmic vitamin A-binding proteins. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 16, 205-234.

Li, H., Gomes, P.J., and Chen, J.D. (1997a). RAC3, a steroid/nuclear receptor-associated coactivator that is related to SRC-1 and TIF2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 94, 8479-8484.

Li, H., Leo, C., Schroen, D.J., and Chen, J.D. (1997b). Characterization of receptor interaction and transcriptional repression by the corepressor SMRT. Mol. Endocrinol. *11*, 2025-2037.

Li, H., Wagner, E., McCaffery, P., Smith, D., Andreadis, A., and Drager, U.C. (2000a). A retinoic acid synthesizing enzyme in ventral retina and telencephalon of the embryonic mouse. Mech. Dev. *95*, 283-289.

Li, M., Chiba, H., Warot, X., Messaddeq, N., Gerard, C., Chambon, P., and Metzger, D. (2001). RXR-alpha ablation in skin keratinocytes results in alopecia and epidermal alterations. Development *128*, 675-688.

Li, M., Indra, A.K., Warot, X., Brocard, J., Messaddeq, N., Kato, S., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2000b). Skin abnormalities generated by temporally controlled RXRalpha mutations in mouse epidermis. Nature 407, 633-636.

Li, Q., Lu, Q., Hwang, J.Y., Buscher, D., Lee, K.F., Izpisua-Belmonte, J.C., and Verma, I.M. (1999). IKK1-deficient mice exhibit abnormal development of skin and skeleton. Genes Dev. 13, 1322-1328.

Lin, R.J., Egan, D.A., and Evans, R.M. (1999). Molecular genetics of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Trends Genet. 15, 179-184.

Lin, R.J., Nagy, L., Inoue, S., Shao, W., Miller, W.H., Jr., and Evans, R.M. (1998). Role of the histone deacetylase complex in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Nature *391*, 811-814.

Lin, R.J., Sternsdorf, T., Tini, M., and Evans, R.M. (2001). Transcriptional regulation in acute promyelocytic leukemia. Oncogene 20, 7204-7215.

Liu, M., Iavarone, A., and Freedman, L.P. (1996). Transcriptional activation of the human p21(WAF1/CIP1) gene by retinoic acid receptor. Correlation with retinoid induction of U937 cell differentiation. J Biol. Chem. 271, 31723-31728.

Liu, Q. and Linney, E. (1993). The mouse retinoid-X receptor-gamma gene: genomic organization and evidence for functional isoforms. Mol. Endocrinol. 7, 651-658.

Lohnes, D., Kastner, P., Dierich, A., Mark, M., LeMeur, M., and Chambon, P. (1993). Function of retinoic acid receptor gamma in the mouse. Cell 73, 643-658.

Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Mendelsohn, C., Dolle, P., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., Gansmuller, A., and Chambon, P. (1994). Function of the retinoic acid receptors (RARs) during development (I). Craniofacial and skeletal abnormalities in RAR double mutants. Development *120*, 2723-2748.

Lorand, L. and Graham, R.M. (2003). Transglutaminases: crosslinking enzymes with pleiotropic functions. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 140-156.

Lotan, R. (1996). Retinoids in cancer chemoprevention. FASEB J 10, 1031-1039.

Lotan, R., Lotan, D., and Sacks, P.G. (1990). Inhibition of tumor cell growth by retinoids. Methods Enzymol. *190*, 100-110.

Loudig, O., Babichuk, C., White, J., Abu-Abed, S., Mueller, C., and Petkovich, M. (2000). Cytochrome P450RAI(CYP26) promoter: a distinct composite retinoic acid response element underlies the complex regulation of retinoic acid metabolism. Mol. Endocrinol. *14*, 1483-1497.

Lu, P.J., Shieh, W.R., Rhee, S.G., Yin, H.L., and Chen, C.S. (1996). Lipid products of phosphoinositide 3-kinase bind human profilin with high affinity. Biochemistry 35, 14027-14034.

Lufkin, T., Lohnes, D., Mark, M., Dierich, A., Gorry, P., Gaub, M.P., LeMeur, M., and Chambon, P. (1993). High postnatal lethality and testis degeneration in retinoic acid receptor alpha mutant mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *90*, 7225-7229.

MacLean, G., Abu-Abed, S., Dolle, P., Tahayato, A., Chambon, P., and Petkovich, M. (2001). Cloning of a novel retinoic-acid metabolizing cytochrome P450, Cyp26B1, and comparative expression analysis with Cyp26A1 during early murine development. Mech. Dev. *107*, 195-201.

Maden, M. (1994). Distribution of cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins I and II in the chick embryo and their relationship to teratogenesis. Teratology 50, 294-301.

Mader, S., Chen, J.Y., Chen, Z., White, J., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1993). The patterns of binding of RAR, RXR and TR homo- and heterodimers to direct repeats are dictated by the binding specificites of the DNA binding domains. EMBO J. *12*, 5029-5041.

Madison, K.C. (2003). Barrier function of the skin: "la raison d'etre" of the epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 121, 231-241.

Malik, S. and Roeder, R.G. (2000). Transcriptional regulation through Mediator-like coactivators in yeast and metazoan cells. Trends Biochem. Sci. 25, 277-283.

Mangelsdorf, D.J. and Evans, R.M. (1995). The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell 83, 841-850.

Mangelsdorf, D.J., Ong, E.S., Dyck, J.A., and Evans, R.M. (1990). Nuclear receptor that identifies a novel retinoic acid response pathway. Nature 345, 224-229.

Mangelsdorf, D.J., Thummel, C., Beato, M., Herrlich, P., Schutz, G., Umesono, K., Blumberg, B., Kastner, P., Mark, M., Chambon, P. (1995). The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell *83*, 835-839.

Manning, A.M., Williams, A.C., Game, S.M., and Paraskeva, C. (1991). Differential sensitivity of human colonic adenoma and carcinoma cells to transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta): conversion of an adenoma cell line to a tumorigenic phenotype is accompanied by a reduced response to the inhibitory effects of TGF-beta. Oncogene 6, 1471-1476.

Marks, F. and Furstenberger, G. (1990). The conversion stage of skin carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 11, 2085-2092.

McCaffery, P., Wagner, E., O'Neil, J., Petkovich, M., and Drager, U.C. (1999). Dorsal and ventral retinal territories defined by retinoic acid synthesis, break-down and nuclear receptor expression. Mech. Dev. 82, 119-130.

McInerney, E.M., Rose, D.W., Flynn, S.E., Westin, S., Mullen, T.M., Krones, A., Inostroza, J., Torchia, J., Nolte, R.T., Assa-Munt, N., Milburn, M.V., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1998). Determinants of coactivator LXXLL motif specificity in nuclear receptor transcriptional activation. Genes Dev. *12*, 3357-3368.

McKenna, N.J., Lanz, R.B., and O'Malley, B.W. (1999). Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocr. Rev. 20, 321-344.

Mercurio, A.M. (1995). Laminin receptors: achieving specificity through cooperation. Trends Cell Biol. 5, 419-423.

Mercurio, A.M. and Rabinovitz, I. (2001). Towards a mechanistic understanding of tumor invasion-lessons from the alpha6beta 4 integrin. Semin. Cancer Biol. 11, 129-141.

Mic, F.A. and Duester, G. (2003). Patterning of forelimb bud myogenic precursor cells requires retinoic acid signaling initiated by Raldh2. Dev. Biol. 264, 191-201.

Mic, F.A., Haselbeck, R.J., Cuenca, A.E., and Duester, G. (2002). Novel retinoic acid generating activities in the neural tube and heart identified by conditional rescue of Raldh2 null mutant mice. Development *129*, 2271-2282.

Mic, F.A., Molotkov, A., Fan, X., Cuenca, A.E., and Duester, G. (2000). RALDH3, a retinaldehyde dehydrogenase that generates retinoic acid, is expressed in the ventral retina, otic vesicle and olfactory pit during mouse development. Mech. Dev. 97, 227-230.

Miettinen, P.J., Berger, J.E., Meneses, J., Phung, Y., Pedersen, R.A., Werb, Z., and Derynck, R. (1995). Epithelial immaturity and multiorgan failure in mice lacking epidermal growth factor receptor. Nature 376, 337-341.

Miller, R.A. (1998). Side effects of acne therapy and their management. J Cutan. Med. Surg. 2 Suppl 3, 14-18.

Miller, S.J. (1991). Biology of basal cell carcinoma (Part I). J Am. Acad. Dermatol 24, 1-13.

Minucci, S., Leid, M., Toyama, R., Saint-Jeannet, J.P., Peterson, V.J., Horn, V., Ishmael, J.E., Bhattacharyya, N., Dey, A., Dawid, I.B., and Ozato, K. (1997). Retinoid X receptor (RXR) within the RXR-retinoic acid receptor heterodimer binds its ligand and enhances retinoid-dependent gene expression. Mol. Cell Biol. *17*, 644-655.

Moller, R., Reymann, F., and Hou-Jensen, K. (1979). Metastases in dermatological patients with squamous cell carcinoma. Arch. Dermatol 115, 703-705.

Molotkov, A., Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., Cuenca, A.E., and Duester, G. (2002a). Distinct retinoid metabolic functions for alcohol dehydrogenase genes Adh1 and Adh4 in protection against vitamin A toxicity or deficiency revealed in double null mutant mice. J Biol. Chem. 277, 13804-13811.

Molotkov, A., Fan, X., Deltour, L., Foglio, M.H., Martras, S., Farres, J., Pares, X., and Duester, G. (2002b). Stimulation of retinoic acid production and growth by ubiquitously expressed alcohol dehydrogenase Adh3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *99*, 5337-5342.

Montplaisir, V., Lan, N.C., Guimond, J., Savineau, C., Bhat, P.V., and Mader, S. (2002). Recombinant class I aldehyde dehydrogenases specific for all-trans- or 9-cis-retinal. J Biol. Chem. 277, 17486-17492.

Monzon, R.I., McWilliams, N., and Hudson, L.G. (1996). Suppression of cornified envelope formation and type 1 transglutaminase by epidermal growth factor in neoplastic keratinocytes. Endocrinology *137*, 1727-1734.

Moon, R.C. (1994). Vitamin A, retinoids and breast cancer. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 364, 101-107.

Moras, D. and Gronemeyer, H. (1998). The nuclear receptor ligand-binding domain: structure and function. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10, 384-391.

Muindi, J.F. and Young, C.W. (1993). Lipid hydroperoxides greatly increase the rate of oxidative catabolism of all-trans-retinoic acid by human cell culture microsomes genetically enriched in specified cytochrome P-450 isoforms. Cancer Res. 53, 1226-1229.

Myer, V.E. and Young, R.A. (1998). RNA polymerase II holoenzymes and subcomplexes. J Biol. Chem. 273, 27757-27760.

Na, S.Y., Lee, S.K., Han, S.J., Choi, H.S., Im, S.Y., and Lee, J.W. (1998). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with the p50 subunit and coactivates nuclear factor kappaB-mediated transactivations. J Biol. Chem. 273, 10831-10834.

Naar, A.M., Beaurang, P.A., Zhou, S., Abraham, S., Solomon, W., and Tjian, R. (1999). Composite co-activator ARC mediates chromatin-directed transcriptional activation. Nature *398*, 828-832.

Nagata, T., Kanno, Y., Ozato, K., and Taketo, M. (1994). The mouse Rxrb gene encoding RXR beta: genomic organization and two mRNA isoforms generated by alternative splicing of transcripts initiated from CpG island promoters. Gene *142*, 183-189.

Nagpal, S., Friant, S., Nakshatri, H., and Chambon, P. (1993). RARs and RXRs: evidence for two autonomous transactivation functions (AF-1 and AF-2) and heterodimerization in vivo. EMBO J. *12*, 2349-2360.

Nagpal, S., Zelent, A., and Chambon, P. (1992). RAR-beta 4, a retinoic acid receptor isoform is generated from RAR-beta 2 by alternative splicing and usage of a CUG initiator codon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 89, 2718-2722.

Nagy, L., Kao, H.Y., Chakravarti, D., Lin, R.J., Hassig, C.A., Ayer, D.E., Schreiber, S.L., and Evans, R.M. (1997). Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell *89*, 373-380.

Nagy, L., Kao, H.Y., Love, J.D., Li, C., Banayo, E., Gooch, J.T., Krishna, V., Chatterjee, K., Evans, R.M., and Schwabe, J.W. (1999). Mechanism of corepressor binding and release from nuclear hormone receptors. Genes Dev. *13*, 3209-3216.

Nagy, L., Thomazy, V.A., Saydak, M.M., Stein, J.P., and Davies, P.J. (1997). The promoter of the mouse tissue transglutaminase gene directs tissue-specific, retinoid-regulated and apoptosis-linked expression. Cell Death. Differ. 4, 534-547.

Nanney, L.B., Stoscheck, C.M., King, L.E., Jr., Underwood, R.A., and Holbrook, K.A. (1990). Immunolocalization of epidermal growth factor receptors in normal developing human skin. J Invest Dermatol *94*, 742-748.

Napoli, J.L. (1996). Retinoic acid biosynthesis and metabolism. FASEB J. 10, 993-1001.

Napoli, J.L. (1999b). Retinoic acid: its biosynthesis and metabolism. Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol. 63, 139-188.

Napoli, J.L. (2000). A gene knockout corroborates the integral function of cellular retinol-binding protein in retinoid metabolism. Nutr. Rev. 58, 230-236.

Napoli, J.L., Posch, K.P., Fiorella, P.D., and Boerman, M.H. (1991). Physiological occurrence, biosynthesis and metabolism of retinoic acid: evidence for roles of cellular retinol-binding protein (CRBP) and cellular retinoic acid-binding protein (CRABP) in the pathway of retinoic acid homeostasis. Biomed. Pharmacother. 45, 131-143.

Napoli, J.L. and Race, K.R. (1990). Microsomes convert retinol and retinal into retinoic acid and interfere in the conversions catalyzed by cytosol. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1034*, 228-232.

Narisawa, Y., Hashimoto, K., and Kohda, H. (1996). Merkel cells participate in the induction and alignment of epidermal ends of arrector pili muscles of human fetal skin. Br. J Dermatol 134, 494-498.

Nelson, D.R. (1999). A second CYP26 P450 in humans and zebrafish: CYP26B1. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 371, 345-347.

Nelson, K.G. and Slaga, T.J. (1982). Keratin modifications in epidermis, papillomas, and carcinomas during two-stage carcinogenesis in the SENCAR mouse. Cancer Res. 42, 4176-4181.

Nemes, Z., Marekov, L.N., and Steinert, P.M. (1999). Involucrin cross-linking by transglutaminase 1. Binding to membranes directs residue specificity. J Biol. Chem. 274, 11013-11021.

Niederreither, K., Abu-Abed, S., Schuhbaur, B., Petkovich, M., Chambon, P., and Dolle, P. (2002). Genetic evidence that oxidative derivatives of retinoic acid are not involved in retinoid signaling during mouse development. Nat. Genet. *31*, 84-88.

Niederreither, K., McCaffery, P., Drager, U.C., Chambon, P., and Dolle, P. (1997). Restricted expression and retinoic acid-induced downregulation of the retinaldehyde dehydrogenase type 2 (RALDH-2) gene during mouse development. Mech. Dev. 62, 67-78.

Niederreither, K., Subbarayan, V., Dolle, P., and Chambon, P. (1999). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for early mouse post-implantation development. Nat. Genet. 21, 444-448.

Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Le, R., I, Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., and Dolle, P. (2003). The regional pattern of retinoic acid synthesis by RALDH2 is essential for the

development of posterior pharyngeal arches and the enteric nervous system. Development 130, 2525-2534.

Niederreither, K., Vermot, J., Messaddeq, N., Schuhbaur, B., Chambon, P., and Dolle, P. (2001). Embryonic retinoic acid synthesis is essential for heart morphogenesis in the mouse. Development *128*, 1019-1031.

Niles, R.M. (2002). The use of retinoids in the prevention and treatment of skin cancer. Expert. Opin. Pharmacother. *3*, 299-303.

Notterpek, L., Roux, K.J., Amici, S.A., Yazdanpour, A., Rahner, C., and Fletcher, B.S. (2001). Peripheral myelin protein 22 is a constituent of intercellular junctions in epithelia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 98, 14404-14409.

Noy, N. (2000). Retinoid-binding proteins: mediators of retinoid action. Biochem. J 348 Pt 3, 481-495.

Obrig, T.G., Culp, W.J., McKeehan, W.L., and Hardesty, B. (1971). The mechanism by which cycloheximide and related glutarimide antibiotics inhibit peptide synthesis on reticulocyte ribosomes. J Biol. Chem. 246, 174-181.

Odland, G. (1991). Structure of the skin. In Physiology, biochemistry, and molecular biology of the skin, L.Goldsmith, ed. (New York: Oxford University Press), pp. 3-62.

Oda, Y., Tu, C.L., Chang, W., Crumrine, D., Komuves, L., Mauro, T., Elias, P.M., and Bikle, D.D. (2000). The calcium sensing receptor and its alternatively spliced form in murine epidermal differentiation. J Biol. Chem. 275, 1183-1190.

Oda, Y., Tu, C.L., Pillai, S., and Bikle, D.D. (1998). The calcium sensing receptor and its alternatively spliced form in keratinocyte differentiation. J Biol. Chem. 273, 23344-23352.

Ogryzko, V.V., Schiltz, R.L., Russanova, V., Howard, B.H., and Nakatani, Y. (1996). The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell 87, 953-959.

Onate, S.A., Boonyaratanakornkit, V., Spencer, T.E., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.J., Edwards, D.P., and O'Malley, B.W. (1998). The steroid receptor coactivator-1 contains multiple receptor interacting and activation domains that cooperatively enhance the activation function 1 (AF1) and AF2 domains of steroid receptors. J Biol. Chem. 273, 12101-12108.

Onate, S.A., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.J., and O'Malley, B.W. (1995). Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 270, 1354-1357.

Ong, D.E. (1987). Cellular retinoid-binding proteins. Arch. Dermatol. 123, 1693-1695a.

Ong, D.E. (1994). Cellular transport and metabolism of vitamin A: roles of the cellular retinoid-binding proteins. Nutr. Rev. 52, S24-S31.

Ong, D.E., MacDonald, P.N., and Gubitosi, A.M. (1988). Esterification of retinol in rat liver. Possible participation by cellular retinol-binding protein and cellular retinol-binding protein II. J Biol. Chem. 263, 5789-5796.

Owens, D.M., Wei, S., and Smart, R.C. (1999). A multihit, multistage model of chemical carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 20, 1837-1844.

Pabst, T., Mueller, B.U., Zhang, P., Radomska, H.S., Narravula, S., Schnittger, S., Behre, G., Hiddemann, W., and Tenen, D.G. (2001). Dominant-negative mutations of CEBPA, encoding CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-alpha (C/EBPalpha), in acute myeloid leukemia. Nat. Genet. 27, 263-270.

Padmanabhan, R. (1998). Retinoic acid-induced caudal regression syndrome in the mouse fetus. Reprod. Toxicol. 12, 139-151.

Pandolfi, P.P. (2001). Oncogenes and tumor suppressors in the molecular pathogenesis of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Hum. Mol. Genet. 10, 769-775.

Perissi, V., Staszewski, L.M., McInerney, E.M., Kurokawa, R., Krones, A., Rose, D.W., Lambert, M.H., Milburn, M.V., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1999). Molecular determinants of nuclear receptor-corepressor interaction. Genes Dev. *13*, 3198-3208.

Perlmann, T., Rangarajan, P.N., Umesono, K., and Evans, R.M. (1993). Determinants for selective RAR and TR recognition of direct repeat HREs. Genes Dev. 7, 1411-1422.

Persson, B., Krook, M., and Jornvall, H. (1995). Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 372, 383-395.

Petkovich, M., Brand, N.J., Krust, A., and Chambon, P. (1987). A human retinoic acid receptor which belongs to the family of nuclear receptors. Nature *330*, 444-450.

Peus, D., Hamacher, L., and Pittelkow, M.R. (1997). EGF-receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition induces keratinocyte growth arrest and terminal differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 109, 751-756.

Pfahl, M. (1993). Nuclear receptor/AP-1 interaction. Endocr. Rev. 14, 651-658.

Piazza, F., Gurrieri, C., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2001). The theory of APL. Oncogene 20, 7216-7222.

Pillai, S., Bikle, D.D., Mancianti, M.L., Cline, P., and Hincenbergs, M. (1990). Calcium regulation of growth and differentiation of normal human keratinocytes: modulation of differentiation competence by stages of growth and extracellular calcium. J Cell Physiol *143*, 294-302.

Pollard, M. and Luckert, P.H. (1991). The inhibitory effect of 4-hydroxyphenyl retinamide (4-HPR) on metastasis of prostate adenocarcinoma-III cells in Lobund-Wistar rats. Cancer Lett. 59, 159-163.

Predki, P.F., Zamble, D., Sarkar, B., and Giguere, V. (1994). Ordered binding of retinoic acid and retinoid-X receptors to asymmetric response elements involves determinants adjacent to the DNA-binding domain. Mol. Endocrinol. *8*, 31-39.

Prockop, D.J. and Kivirikko, K.I. (1995). Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 64, 403-434.

Quadro, L., Blaner, W.S., Salchow, D.J., Vogel, S., Piantedosi, R., Gouras, P., Freeman, S., Cosma, M.P., Colantuoni, V., and Gottesman, M.E. (1999). Impaired retinal function and vitamin A availability in mice lacking retinol-binding protein. EMBO J. *18*, 4633-4644.

Quadro, L., Hamberger, L., Colantuoni, V., Gottesman, M.E., and Blaner, W.S. (2003). Understanding the physiological role of retinol-binding protein in vitamin A metabolism using transgenic and knockout mouse models. Mol. Aspects Med. 24, 421-430.

Quan, C. and Lu, S.J. (2003). Identification of genes preferentially expressed in mammary epithelial cells of Copenhagen rat using subtractive hybridization and microarrays. Carcinogenesis 24, 1593-1599.

Quintanilla, M., Brown, K., Ramsden, M., and Balmain, A. (1986). Carcinogen-specific mutation and amplification of Ha-ras during mouse skin carcinogenesis. Nature *322*, 78-80.

Rabinovitz, I. and Mercurio, A.M. (1996). The integrin alpha 6 beta 4 and the biology of carcinoma. Biochem. Cell Biol. 74, 811-821.

Rabinovitz, I. and Mercurio, A.M. (1997). The integrin alpha6beta4 functions in carcinoma cell migration on laminin-1 by mediating the formation and stabilization of actin-containing motility structures. J Cell Biol. *139*, 1873-1884.

Rachez, C., Gamble, M., Chang, C.P., Atkins, G.B., Lazar, M.A., and Freedman, L.P. (2000). The DRIP complex and SRC-1/p160 coactivators share similar nuclear receptor binding determinants but constitute functionally distinct complexes. Mol. Cell Biol. 20, 2718-2726.

Rachez, C., Suldan, Z., Ward, J., Chang, C.P., Burakov, D., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Freedman, L.P. (1998). A novel protein complex that interacts with the vitamin D3 receptor in a ligand-dependent manner and enhances VDR transactivation in a cell-free system. Genes Dev. *12*, 1787-1800.

Rastinejad, F. (2001). Retinoid X receptor and its partners in the nuclear receptor family. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 11, 33-38.

Rastinejad, F., Perlmann, T., Evans, R.M., and Sigler, P.B. (1995). Structural determinants of nuclear receptor assembly on DNA direct repeats. Nature *375*, 203-211.

Rastinejad, F., Wagner, T., Zhao, Q., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2000). Structure of the RXR-RAR DNA-binding complex on the retinoic acid response element DR1. EMBO J. 19, 1045-1054.

Ray, W.J., Bain, G., Yao, M., and Gottlieb, D.I. (1997). CYP26, a novel mammalian cytochrome P450, is induced by retinoic acid and defines a new family. J Biol. Chem. 272, 18702-18708.

Reichrath, J., Mittmann, M., Kamradt, J., and Muller, S.M. (1997). Expression of retinoid-X receptors (-alpha,-beta,-gamma) and retinoic acid receptors (-alpha,-beta,-gamma) in normal human skin: an immunohistological evaluation. Histochem. J 29, 127-133.

Ribeiro, R.C., Kushner, P.J., and Baxter, J.D. (1995). The nuclear hormone receptor gene superfamily. Annu. Rev. Med. 46, 443-453.

Rigtrup, K.M., McEwen, L.R., Said, H.M., and Ong, D.E. (1994). Retinyl ester hydrolytic activity associated with human intestinal brush border membranes. Am. J Clin. Nutr. 60, 111-116.

Rigtrup, K.M. and Ong, D.E. (1992). A retinyl ester hydrolase activity intrinsic to the brush border membrane of rat small intestine. Biochemistry 31, 2920-2926.

Robles, A.I., Rodriguez-Puebla, M.L., Glick, A.B., Trempus, C., Hansen, L., Sicinski, P., Tennant, R.W., Weinberg, R.A., Yuspa, S.H., and Conti, C.J. (1998). Reduced skin tumor development in cyclin D1-deficient mice highlights the oncogenic ras pathway in vivo. Genes Dev. *12*, 2469-2474.

Rochette-Egly, C. (2003). Nuclear receptors: integration of multiple signalling pathways through phosphorylation. Cell Signal. *15*, 355-366.

Rochette-Egly, C., Adam, S., Rossignol, M., Egly, J.M., and Chambon, P. (1997). Stimulation of RAR alpha activation function AF-1 through binding to the general transcription factor TFIIH and phosphorylation by CDK7. Cell *90*, 97-107.

Rochette-Egly, C., Oulad-Abdelghani, M., Staub, A., Pfister, V., Scheuer, I., Chambon, P., and Gaub, M.P. (1995). Phosphorylation of the retinoic acid receptor-alpha by protein kinase A. Mol. Endocrinol. *9*, 860-871.

Rodriguez-Puebla, M.L., Robles, A.I., and Conti, C.J. (1999). ras activity and cyclin D1 expression: an essential mechanism of mouse skin tumor development. Mol. Carcinog. 24, 1-6.

Romani, N., Lenz, A., Glassel, H., Stossel, H., Stanzl, U., Majdic, O., Fritsch, P., and Schuler, G. (1989). Cultured human Langerhans cells resemble lymphoid dendritic cells in phenotype and function. J Invest Dermatol *93*, 600-609.

Roop, D.R., Krieg, T.M., Mehrel, T., Cheng, C.K., and Yuspa, S.H. (1988). Transcriptional control of high molecular weight keratin gene expression in multistage mouse skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 48, 3245-3252.

Ruberte, E., Friederich, V., Morriss-Kay, G., and Chambon, P. (1992). Differential distribution patterns of CRABP I and CRABP II transcripts during mouse embryogenesis. Development *115*, 973-987.

Rubin, A.L. and Rice, R.H. (1986). Differential regulation by retinoic acid and calcium of transglutaminases in cultured neoplastic and normal human keratinocytes. Cancer Res. *46*, 2356-2361.

Rutberg, S.E., Saez, E., Glick, A., Dlugosz, A.A., Spiegelman, B.M., and Yuspa, S.H. (1996). Differentiation of mouse keratinocytes is accompanied by PKC-dependent changes in AP-1 proteins. Oncogene 13, 167-176.

Saberan-Djoneidi, D., Sanguedolce, V., Assouline, Z., Levy, N., Passage, E., and Fontes, M. (2000). Molecular dissection of the Schwann cell specific promoter of the PMP22 gene. Gene 248, 223-231.

Saitou, M., Sugai, S., Tanaka, T., Shimouchi, K., Fuchs, E., Narumiya, S., and Kakizuka, A. (1995). Inhibition of skin development by targeted expression of a dominant-negative retinoic acid receptor. Nature *374*, 159-162.

Sakai, Y., Meno, C., Fujii, H., Nishino, J., Shiratori, H., Saijoh, Y., Rossant, J., and Hamada, H. (2001). The retinoic acid-inactivating enzyme CYP26 is essential for establishing an uneven distribution of retinoic acid along the anterio-posterior axis within the mouse embryo. Genes Dev. 15, 213-225.

Sande, S. and Privalsky, M.L. (1996). Identification of TRACs (T3 receptor-associating cofactors), a family of cofactors that associate with, and modulate the activity of, nuclear hormone receptors. Mol. Endocrinol. *10*, 813-825.

Schaefer, W.H., Kakkad, B., Crow, J.A., Blair, I.A., and Ong, D.E. (1989). Purification, primary structure characterization, and cellular distribution of two forms of cellular retinol-binding protein, type II from adult rat small intestine. J Biol. Chem. 264, 4212-4221.

Schlingemann, J., Hess, J., Wrobel, G., Breitenbach, U., Gebhardt, C., Steinlein, P., Kramer, H., Furstenberger, G., Hahn, M., Angel, P., and Lichter, P. (2003). Profile of gene expression induced by the tumour promotor TPA in murine epithelial cells. Int. J Cancer *104*, 699-708.

Schittny, J.C. and Yurchenco, P.D. (1989). Basement membranes: molecular organization and function in development and disease. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 1, 983-988.

Schneider, R.A., Hu, D., Rubenstein, J.L., Maden, M., and Helms, J.A. (2001). Local retinoid signaling coordinates forebrain and facial morphogenesis by maintaining FGF8 and SHH. Development *128*, 2755-2767.

Schule, R., Rangarajan, P., Yang, N., Kliewer, S., Ransone, L.J., Bolado, J., Verma, I.M., and Evans, R.M. (1991). Retinoic acid is a negative regulator of AP-1-responsive genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 88, 6092-6096.

Seitz, C.S., Lin, Q., Deng, H., and Khavari, P.A. (1998). Alterations in NF-kappaB function in transgenic epithelial tissue demonstrate a growth inhibitory role for NF-kappaB. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 95, 2307-2312.

Seleiro, E.A., Darling, D., and Brickell, P.M. (1994). The chicken retinoid-X-receptorgamma gene gives rise to two distinct species of mRNA with different patterns of expression. Biochem. J. 301 (*Pt 1*), 283-288.

Seol, W., Mahon, M.J., Lee, Y.K., and Moore, D.D. (1996). Two receptor interacting domains in the nuclear hormone receptor corepressor RIP13/N-CoR. Mol. Endocrinol. *10*, 1646-1655.

Shang, E., Lai, K., Packer, A.I., Paik, J., Blaner, W.S., de, M., V, Gouras, P., and Wolgemuth, D.J. (2002). Targeted disruption of the mouse cis-retinol dehydrogenase gene: visual and nonvisual functions. J Lipid Res. 43, 590-597.

Shaulian, E. and Karin, M. (2002). AP-1 as a regulator of cell life and death. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, E131-E136.

Shaw, L.M., Rabinovitz, I., Wang, H.H., Toker, A., and Mercurio, A.M. (1997). Activation of phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase by the alpha6beta4 integrin promotes carcinoma invasion. Cell *91*, 949-960.

Shirley, M.A., Bennani, Y.L., Boehm, M.F., Breau, A.P., Pathirana, C., and Ulm, E.H. (1996). Oxidative and reductive metabolism of 9-cis-retinoic acid in the rat. Identification of 13,14-dihydro-9-cis-retinoic acid and its taurine conjugate. Drug Metab Dispos. 24, 293-302.

Slaga, T.J. (1984). Multistage skin carcinogenesis: a useful model for the study of the chemoprevention of cancer. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. (Copenh) 55 Suppl 2, 107-124.

Slawin, K., Kadmon, D., Park, S.H., Scardino, P.T., Anzano, M., Sporn, M.B., and Thompson, T.C. (1993). Dietary fenretinide, a synthetic retinoid, decreases the tumor incidence and the tumor mass of ras+myc-induced carcinomas in the mouse prostate reconstitution model system. Cancer Res. *53*, 4461-4465.

Smack, D.P., Korge, B.P., and James, W.D. (1994). Keratin and keratinization. J Am. Acad. Dermatol *30*, 85-102.

Sonneveld, E., van den Brink, C.E., van der Leede, B.M., Schulkes, R.K., Petkovich, M., van der, B.B., and van der Saag, P.T. (1998). Human retinoic acid (RA) 4-hydroxylase (CYP26) is highly specific for all-trans-RA and can be induced through RA receptors in human breast and colon carcinoma cells. Cell Growth Differ. 9, 629-637.

Steinert, P.M. (2000). The complexity and redundancy of epithelial barrier function. J Cell Biol. 151, F5-F8.

Steinert, P.M., Candi, E., Kartasova, T., and Marekov, L. (1998). Small proline-rich proteins are cross-bridging proteins in the cornified cell envelopes of stratified squamous epithelia. J Struct. Biol. *122*, 76-85.

Steinert, P.M., Candi, E., Tarcsa, E., Marekov, L.N., Sette, M., Paci, M., Ciani, B., Guerrieri, P., and Melino, G. (1999). Transglutaminase crosslinking and structural studies of the human small proline rich 3 protein. Cell Death. Differ. *6*, 916-930.

Steinert, P.M. and Marekov, L.N. (1999). Initiation of assembly of the cell envelope barrier structure of stratified squamous epithelia. Mol. Biol. Cell 10, 4247-4261.

Strickland, J.E., Greenhalgh, D.A., Koceva-Chyla, A., Hennings, H., Restrepo, C., Balaschak, M., and Yuspa, S.H. (1988). Development of murine epidermal cell lines which contain an activated rasHa oncogene and form papillomas in skin grafts on athymic nude mouse hosts. Cancer Res. 48, 165-169.

Strojan, P., Budihna, M., Smid, L., Svetic, B., Vrhovec, I., Kos, J., and Skrk, J. (2000). Prognostic significance of cysteine proteinases cathepsins B and L and their endogenous inhibitors stefins A and B in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Clin. Cancer Res. *6*, 1052-1062.

Strojan, P., Budihna, M., Smid, L., Svetic, B., Vrhovec, I., and Skrk, J. (2001). Cathepsin B and L and stefin A and B levels as serum tumor markers in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Neoplasma 48, 66-71.

Sun, S.Y. and Lotan, R. (2002). Retinoids and their receptors in cancer development and chemoprevention. Crit Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 41, 41-55.

Suter, U., Snipes, G.J., Schoener-Scott, R., Welcher, A.A., Pareek, S., Lupski, J.R., Murphy, R.A., Shooter, E.M., and Patel, P.I. (1994). Regulation of tissue-specific expression of alternative peripheral myelin protein-22 (PMP22) gene transcripts by two promoters. J Biol. Chem. 269, 25795-25808.

Suzukawa, K. and Colburn, N.H. (2002). AP-1 transrepressing retinoic acid does not deplete coactivators or AP-1 monomers but may target specific Jun or Fos containing dimers. Oncogene 21, 2181-2190.

Suzuki, R., Shintani, T., Sakuta, H., Kato, A., Ohkawara, T., Osumi, N., and Noda, M. (2000). Identification of RALDH-3, a novel retinaldehyde dehydrogenase, expressed in the ventral region of the retina. Mech. Dev. *98*, 37-50.

Swartzendruber, D.C., Wertz, P.W., Madison, K.C., and Downing, D.T. (1987). Evidence that the corneocyte has a chemically bound lipid envelope. J Invest Dermatol 88, 709-713.

Swindell, E.C. and Eichele, G. (1999). Retinoid metabolizing enzymes in development. Biofactors 10, 85-89.

Swindell, E.C., Thaller, C., Sockanathan, S., Petkovich, M., Jessell, T.M., and Eichele, G. (1999). Complementary domains of retinoic acid production and degradation in the early chick embryo. Dev. Biol. *216*, 282-296.

Tachibana, T. (1995). The Merkel cell: recent findings and unresolved problems. Arch. Histol. Cytol. 58, 379-396.

Tahayato, A., Dolle, P., and Petkovich, M. (2003). Cyp26C1 encodes a novel retinoic acid-metabolizing enzyme expressed in the hindbrain, inner ear, first branchial arch and tooth buds during murine development. Gene Expr. Patterns. *3*, 449-454.

Taimi, M., Helvig, C., Wisniewski, J., Ramshaw, H., White, J., Amad, M., Korczak, B., and Petkovich, M. (2004). A novel human cytochrome P450, CYP26C1, involved in metabolism of 9-cis and all-trans isomers of retinoic acid. J Biol. Chem. 279, 77-85.

Takase, S., Ong, D.E., and Chytil, F. (1986). Transfer of retinoic acid from its complex with cellular retinoic acid-binding protein to the nucleus. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 247, 328-334.

Takeshita, A., Cardona, G.R., Koibuchi, N., Suen, C.S., and Chin, W.W. (1997). TRAM-1, A novel 160-kDa thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule, exhibits distinct properties from steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol. Chem. 272, 27629-27634.

Tarcsa, E., Candi, E., Kartasova, T., Idler, W.W., Marekov, L.N., and Steinert, P.M. (1998). Structural and transglutaminase substrate properties of the small proline-rich 2 family of cornified cell envelope proteins. J Biol. Chem. 273, 23297-23303.

Taunton, J., Hassig, C.A., and Schreiber, S.L. (1996). A mammalian histone deacetylase related to the yeast transcriptional regulator Rpd3p. Science 272, 408-411.

Taylor, V., Welcher, A.A., Program, A.E., and Suter, U. (1995). Epithelial membrane protein-1, peripheral myelin protein 22, and lens membrane protein 20 define a novel gene family. J Biol. Chem. 270, 28824-28833.

Tenbaum, S. and Baniahmad, A. (1997). Nuclear receptors: structure, function and involvement in disease. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 29, 1325-1341.

Tennenbaum, T., Weiner, A.K., Belanger, A.J., Glick, A.B., Hennings, H., and Yuspa, S.H. (1993). The suprabasal expression of alpha 6 beta 4 integrin is associated with a high risk for malignant progression in mouse skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 53, 4803-4810.

Thacher, S.M., Standeven, A.M., Athanikar, J., Kopper, S., Castilleja, O., Escobar, M., Beard, R.L., and Chandraratna, R.A. (1997). Receptor specificity of retinoid-induced epidermal hyperplasia: effect of RXR-selective agonists and correlation with topical irritation. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 282, 528-534.

Threadgill, D.W., Dlugosz, A.A., Hansen, L.A., Tennenbaum, T., Lichti, U., Yee, D., LaMantia, C., Mourton, T., Herrup, K., Harris, R.C. (1995). Targeted disruption of mouse EGF receptor: effect of genetic background on mutant phenotype. Science 269, 230-234.

Tibudan, S.S., Wang, Y., and Denning, M.F. (2002). Activation of protein kinase C triggers irreversible cell cycle withdrawal in human keratinocytes. J. Invest Dermatol. *119*, 1282-1289.

Torchia, J., Rose, D.W., Inostroza, J., Kamei, Y., Westin, S., Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. (1997). The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. Nature *387*, 677-684.

Tsukita, S. and Furuse, M. (2000). The structure and function of claudins, cell adhesion molecules at tight junctions. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 915, 129-135.

Turksen, K. and Troy, T.C. (2002). Permeability barrier dysfunction in transgenic mice overexpressing claudin 6. Development *129*, 1775-1784.

Ulukaya, E. and Wood, E.J. (1999). Fenretinide and its relation to cancer. Cancer Treat. Rev. 25, 229-235.

Vallee, B.L. and Bazzone, T.J. (1983). Isozymes of human liver alcohol dehydrogenase. Isozymes. Curr. Top. Biol. Med. Res. 8, 219-244.

van Bennekum, A.M., Fisher, E.A., Blaner, W.S., and Harrison, E.H. (2000). Hydrolysis of retinyl esters by pancreatic triglyceride lipase. Biochemistry 39, 4900-4906.

van de Wetering, R.A., Gabreels-Festen, A.A., Kremer, H., Kalscheuer, V.M., Gabreels, F.J., and Mariman, E.C. (1999). Regulation and expression of the murine PMP22 gene. Mamm. Genome *10*, 419-422.

van Hogerlinden, M., Rozell, B.L., Ahrlund-Richter, L., and Toftgard, R. (1999). Squamous cell carcinomas and increased apoptosis in skin with inhibited Rel/nuclear factor-kappaB signaling. Cancer Res. *59*, 3299-3303.

Van Wauwe, J.P., Coene, M.C., Goossens, J., Cools, W., and Monbaliu, J. (1990). Effects of cytochrome P-450 inhibitors on the in vivo metabolism of all-trans-retinoic acid in rats. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 252, 365-369.

Vasiliou, V., Bairoch, A., Tipton, K.F., and Nebert, D.W. (1999). Eukaryotic aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) genes: human polymorphisms, and recommended nomenclature based on divergent evolution and chromosomal mapping. Pharmacogenetics *9*, 421-434.

Verma, A.K. (1988). Inhibition of phorbol ester-induced ornithine decarboxylase gene transcription by retinoic acid: a possible mechanism of antitumor promoting activity of retinoids. Prog. Clin. Biol. Res. 259, 245-260.

Verma, A.K. (2003). Retinoids in chemoprevention of cancer. J Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents 17, 92-97.

Verma, A.K., Conrad, E.A., and Boutwell, R.K. (1982). Differential effects of retinoic acid and 7,8-benzoflavone on the induction of mouse skin tumors by the complete carcinogenesis process and by the initiation-promotion regimen. Cancer Res. 42, 3519-3525.

Verma, A.K., Erickson, D., and Dolnick, B.J. (1986). Increased mouse epidermal ornithine decarboxylase activity by the tumour promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate involves increased amounts of both enzyme protein and messenger RNA. Biochem. J 237, 297-300.

Verma, A.K., Shapas, B.G., Rice, H.M., and Boutwell, R.K. (1979). Correlation of the inhibition by retinoids of tumor promoter-induced mouse epidermal ornithine decarboxylase activity and of skin tumor promotion. Cancer Res. *39*, 419-425.

Voegel, J.J., Heine, M.J., Tini, M., Vivat, V., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1998). The coactivator TIF2 contains three nuclear receptor-binding motifs and mediates transactivation through CBP binding-dependent and -independent pathways. EMBO J *17*, 507-519.

Vogel, S., Gamble, MV., Blaner, WS. Biosynthesis, absorption, metabolism, and transport of retinoids. Chapter 2. In: Nau H, Blaner WS. ed; The Handbook of Experimental pharmacology, The retinoids. Heidelberg: Springer Verlag. 1999, p 31-96.

Vogel, S., Piantedosi, R., O'Byrne, S.M., Kako, Y., Quadro, L., Gottesman, M.E., Goldberg, I.J., and Blaner, W.S. (2002). Retinol-binding protein-deficient mice: biochemical basis for impaired vision. Biochemistry 41, 15360-15368.

Vonesch, J.L., Nakshatri, H., Philippe, M., Chambon, P., and Dolle, P. (1994). Stage and tissue-specific expression of the alcohol dehydrogenase 1 (Adh-1) gene during mouse development. Dev. Dyn. *199*, 199-213.

Vuorio, E. and de Crombrugghe, B. (1990). The family of collagen genes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 59, 837-872.

Wagner, E., McCaffery, P., and Drager, U.C. (2000). Retinoic acid in the formation of the dorsoventral retina and its central projections. Dev. Biol. 222, 460-470.

Wang, X.J. (2001). Role of TGFbeta signaling in skin carcinogenesis. Microsc. Res. Tech. 52, 420-429.

Wang, Z., Boudjelal, M., Kang, S., Voorhees, J.J., and Fisher, G.J. (1999). Ultraviolet irradiation of human skin causes functional vitamin A deficiency, preventable by all-trans retinoic acid pre-treatment. Nat. Med. 5, 418-422.

Wardlaw, S.A., Bucco, R.A., Zheng, W.L., and Ong, D.E. (1997). Variable expression of cellular retinol- and cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins in the rat uterus and ovary during the estrous cycle. Biol. Reprod. *56*, 125-132.

Warnmark, A., Treuter, E., Wright, A.P., and Gustafsson, J.A. (2003). Activation functions 1 and 2 of nuclear receptors: molecular strategies for transcriptional activation. Mol. Endocrinol. *17*, 1901-1909.

Warrell, R.P., Jr., He, L.Z., Richon, V., Calleja, E., and Pandolfi, P.P. (1998). Therapeutic targeting of transcription in acute promyelocytic leukemia by use of an inhibitor of histone deacetylase. J Natl. Cancer Inst. 90, 1621-1625.

Watt, F.M. (1998). Epidermal stem cells: markers, patterning and the control of stem cell fate. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond B Biol. Sci. *353*, 831-837.

Webber, M.M., Bello-DeOcampo, D., Quader, S., Deocampo, N.D., Metcalfe, W.S., and Sharp, R.M. (1999). Modulation of the malignant phenotype of human prostate cancer cells by N-(4-hydroxyphenyl)retinamide (4-HPR). Clin. Exp. Metastasis *17*, 255-263.

Wendling, O., Dennefeld, C., Chambon, P., and Mark, M. (2000). Retinoid signaling is essential for patterning the endoderm of the third and fourth pharyngeal arches. Development *127*, 1553-1562.

Wendling, O., Ghyselinck, N.B., Chambon, P., and Mark, M. (2001). Roles of retinoic acid receptors in early embryonic morphogenesis and hindbrain patterning. Development *128*, 2031-2038.

White, J.A., Guo, Y.D., Baetz, K., Beckett-Jones, B., Bonasoro, J., Hsu, K.E., Dilworth, F.J., Jones, G., and Petkovich, M. (1996). Identification of the retinoic acid-inducible all-trans-retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase. J Biol. Chem. 271, 29922-29927.

White, J.A., Ramshaw, H., Taimi, M., Stangle, W., Zhang, A., Everingham, S., Creighton, S., Tam, S.P., Jones, G., and Petkovich, M. (2000a). Identification of the human cytochrome P450, P450RAI-2, which is predominantly expressed in the adult cerebellum and is responsible for all-trans-retinoic acid metabolism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 97, 6403-6408.

White, J.C., Highland, M., Kaiser, M., and Clagett-Dame, M. (2000b). Vitamin A deficiency results in the dose-dependent acquisition of anterior character and shortening of the caudal hindbrain of the rat embryo. Dev. Biol. 220, 263-284.

Widschwendter, M., Berger, J., Hermann, M., Muller, H.M., Amberger, A., Zeschnigk, M., Widschwendter, A., Abendstein, B., Zeimet, A.G., Daxenbichler, G., and Marth, C. (2000). Methylation and silencing of the retinoic acid receptor-beta2 gene in breast cancer. J Natl. Cancer Inst. *92*, 826-832.

Williams, J.B. and Napoli, J.L. (1987). Inhibition of retinoic acid metabolism by imidazole antimycotics in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. *36*, 1386-1388.

Witkowski, C.M., Bowden, G.T., Nagle, R.B., and Cress, A.E. (2000). Altered surface expression and increased turnover of the alpha6beta4 integrin in an undifferentiated carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 21, 325-330.

Wolbach, S. and Howe, P. (1925). Tissue changes following deprivation of fat-soluble A vitamin. J. Exp. Med. 42, 753-777.

Wu, J.M., DiPietrantonio, A.M., and Hsieh, T.C. (2001). Mechanism of fenretinide (4-HPR)-induced cell death. Apoptosis. *6*, 377-388.

Wurtz, J.M., Bourguet, W., Renaud, J.P., Vivat, V., Chambon, P., Moras, D., and Gronemeyer, H. (1996). A canonical structure for the ligand-binding domain of nuclear receptors. Nat. Struct. Biol. *3*, 206.

Xu, J. and Li, Q. (2003). Review of the in vivo functions of the p160 steroid receptor coactivator family. Mol. Endocrinol. 17, 1681-1692.

Xu, X.C., Wong, W.Y., Goldberg, L., Baer, S.C., Wolf, J.E., Ramsdell, W.M., Alberts, D.S., Lippman, S.M., and Lotan, R. (2001). Progressive decreases in nuclear retinoid receptors during skin squamous carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. *61*, 4306-4310.

Yamamoto, H., Ochiya, T., Takeshita, F., Toriyama-Baba, H., Hirai, K., Sasaki, H., Sasaki, H., Sakamoto, H., Yoshida, T., Saito, I., and Terada, M. (2002). Enhanced skin carcinogenesis in cyclin D1-conditional transgenic mice: cyclin D1 alters keratinocyte response to calcium-induced terminal differentiation. Cancer Res. *62*, 1641-1647.

Yanagisawa, J., Yanagi, Y., Masuhiro, Y., Suzawa, M., Watanabe, M., Kashiwagi, K., Toriyabe, T., Kawabata, M., Miyazono, K., and Kato, S. (1999). Convergence of transforming growth factor-beta and vitamin D signaling pathways on SMAD transcriptional coactivators. Science 283, 1317-1321.

Yang, Z.N., Davis, G.J., Hurley, T.D., Stone, C.L., Li, T.K., and Bosron, W.F. (1994). Catalytic efficiency of human alcohol dehydrogenases for retinol oxidation and retinal reduction. Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res. *18*, 587-591.

Yang-Yen, H.F., Zhang, X.K., Graupner, G., Tzukerman, M., Sakamoto, B., Karin, M., and Pfahl, M. (1991). Antagonism between retinoic acid receptors and AP-1: implications for tumor promotion and inflammation. New Biol. *3*, 1206-1219.

Yao, T.P., Oh, S.P., Fuchs, M., Zhou, N.D., Ch'ng, L.E., Newsome, D., Bronson, R.T., Li, E., Livingston, D.M., and Eckner, R. (1998). Gene dosage-dependent embryonic development and proliferation defects in mice lacking the transcriptional integrator p300. Cell 93, 361-372.

Yashiro, K., Zhao, X., Uehara, M., Yamashita, K., Nishijima, M., Nishino, J., Saijoh, Y., Sakai, Y., and Hamada, H. (2004). Regulation of retinoic acid distribution is required for proximodistal patterning and outgrowth of the developing mouse limb. Dev. Cell *6*, 411-422.

Yokota, J. (2000). Tumor progression and metastasis. Carcinogenesis 21, 497-503.

Yoshida, A., Rzhetsky, A., Hsu, L.C., and Chang, C. (1998). Human aldehyde dehydrogenase gene family. Eur. J Biochem. 251, 549-557.

Yoshizawa, T., Handa, Y., Uematsu, Y., Takeda, S., Sekine, K., Yoshihara, Y., Kawakami, T., Arioka, K., Sato, H., Uchiyama, Y., Masushige, S., Fukamizu, A., Matsumoto, T., and Kato, S. (1997). Mice lacking the vitamin D receptor exhibit impaired bone formation, uterine hypoplasia and growth retardation after weaning. Nat. Genet. *16*, 391-396.

Yost, R.W., Harrison, E.H., and Ross, A.C. (1988). Esterification by rat liver microsomes of retinol bound to cellular retinol-binding protein. J Biol. Chem. 263, 18693-18701.

Yuan, C.X., Ito, M., Fondell, J.D., Fu, Z.Y., and Roeder, R.G. (1998). The TRAP220 component of a thyroid hormone receptor- associated protein (TRAP) coactivator complex interacts directly with nuclear receptors in a ligand-dependent fashion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 95, 7939-7944.

Yurchenco, P.D. and Furthmayr, H. (1984). Self-assembly of basement membrane collagen. Biochemistry 23, 1839-1850.

Yuspa, S.H. (1994). The pathogenesis of squamous cell cancer: lessons learned from studies of skin carcinogenesis--thirty-third G. H. A. Clowes Memorial Award Lecture. Cancer Res. 54, 1178-1189.

Yuspa, S.H. (1998). The pathogenesis of squamous cell cancer: lessons learned from studies of skin carcinogenesis. J Dermatol Sci. 17, 1-7.

Yuspa, S.H., Ben, T., Hennings, H., and Lichti, U. (1982). Divergent responses in epidermal basal cells exposed to the tumor promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate. Cancer Res. 42, 2344-2349.

Yuspa, S.H., Kilkenny, A.E., Steinert, P.M., and Roop, D.R. (1989). Expression of murine epidermal differentiation markers is tightly regulated by restricted extracellular calcium concentrations in vitro. J Cell Biol. *109*, 1207-1217.

Yuspa, S.H., Lichti, U., Morgan, D., and Hennings, H. (1980). Chemical carcinogenesis studies in mouse epidermal cell cultures. Curr. Probl. Dermatol 10, 171-191.

Zamir, I., Harding, H.P., Atkins, G.B., Horlein, A., Glass, C.K., Rosenfeld, M.G., and Lazar, M.A. (1996). A nuclear hormone receptor corepressor mediates transcriptional silencing by receptors with distinct repression domains. Mol. Cell Biol. *16*, 5458-5465.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.Q., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994a). Dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains determine the cooperative binding of RXR/RAR and RXR/TR heterodimers to DR5 and DR4 elements. EMBO J. *13*, 1414-1424.

Zechel, C., Shen, X.Q., Chen, J.Y., Chen, Z.P., Chambon, P., and Gronemeyer, H. (1994b). The dimerization interfaces formed between the DNA binding domains of RXR, RAR and TR determine the binding specificity and polarity of the full-length receptors to direct repeats. EMBO J. *13*, 1425-1433.

Zelent, A., Guidez, F., Melnick, A., Waxman, S., and Licht, J.D. (2001). Translocations of the RARalpha gene in acute promyelocytic leukemia. Oncogene 20, 7186-7203.

Zelent, A., Mendelsohn, C., Kastner, P., Krust, A., Garnier, J.M., Ruffenach, F., Leroy, P., and Chambon, P. (1991). Differentially expressed isoforms of the mouse retinoic acid receptor beta generated by usage of two promoters and alternative splicing. EMBO J. 10, 71-81.

Zetterstrom, R.H., Simon, A., Giacobini, M.M., Eriksson, U., and Olson, L. (1994). Localization of cellular retinoid-binding proteins suggests specific roles for retinoids in the adult central nervous system. Neuroscience 62, 899-918.

Zhang, Y., Iratni, R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Reinberg, D. (1997). Histone deacetylases and SAP18, a novel polypeptide, are components of a human Sin3 complex. Cell 89, 357-364.

Zhao, D., McCaffery, P., Ivins, K.J., Neve, R.L., Hogan, P., Chin, W.W., and Drager, U.C. (1996). Molecular identification of a major retinoic-acid-synthesizing enzyme, a retinaldehyde-specific dehydrogenase. Eur. J Biochem. 240, 15-22.

Zheng, W.L. and Ong, D.E. (1998). Spatial and temporal patterns of expression of cellular retinol-binding protein and cellular retinoic acid-binding proteins in rat uterus during early pregnancy. Biol. Reprod. 58, 963-970.

Zoidl, G., Blass-Kampmann, S., D'Urso, D., Schmalenbach, C., and Muller, H.W. (1995). Retroviral-mediated gene transfer of the peripheral myelin protein PMP22 in Schwann cells: modulation of cell growth. EMBO J *14*, 1122-1128.

Zoumpourlis, V., Papassava, P., Linardopoulos, S., Gillespie, D., Balmain, A., and Pintzas, A. (2000). High levels of phosphorylated c-Jun, Fra-1, Fra-2 and ATF-2 proteins correlate with malignant phenotypes in the multistage mouse skin carcinogenesis model. Oncogene *19*, 4011-4021.

Zoumpourlis, V., Solakidi, S., Papathoma, A., and Papaevangeliou, D. (2003). Alterations in signal transduction pathways implicated in tumour progression during multistage mouse skin carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 24, 1159-1165.

Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire

R SUBSTANCES AND	PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES	Licence Number
ON DEVICES	SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET	Numéro de permis
<u>.</u>	LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT	•

AIRE DE PERMIS

Conformément à l'article 24 (2) de la Loi sur la sûreté et la réglementation nucléaires, le présent permis est délivré à:

Institut de recherches cliniques de Montréal 110, avenue des Pins Ouest Montréal (Québec) H2W 1R7 Canada

Ci-après désigné sous le nom de «titulaire de permis»

)DE

Ce permis est valide du 1er février 2003 au 31 janvier 2008.

ITÉS AUTORISÉES

Le présent permis autorise le titulaire à posséder, transférer, importer, exporter, utiliser et entreposer les substances nucléaires et les équipements autorisés qui sont énumérés dans la section IV) du présent permis.

Le présent permis est délivré pour le type d'utilisation: études de laboratoire - 10 laboratoires ou plus où des radio-isotopes sont utilisés ou manutentionnés (836)

STANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET ÉQUIPEMENT AUTORISÉ

ARTICLE	SUBSTANCE NUCLÉAIRE	SOURCE NON SCELLÉE QUANTITÉ MAXIMALE	ASSEMBLAGE DE LA SOURCE SCELLÉE QUANTITÉ MAXIMALE	ÉQUIPEMENT - FABRICANT ET MODÈLE
1	Calcium 45	100 MBg	s/o	s/o
2	Cobalt 57	40 MBq	s/o	s/o
3	Cobalt 59	40 MBq	s/o	s/o
4	Chrome 51	400 MBq	s/o	s/o
5	Fer 59	2 GBq	s/o	s/o
6	Hydrogène 3	3 GBq	s/o	s/o
7	Iode 123	500 MBq	s/o	s/o
8	Iode 125	3 GBq	s/o ·	s/o
9	Iode 131	500 MBq	s/o	s/o
10	Phosphore 32	30 GBq	s/o	s/o
11	Phosphore 33	100 MBq	s/o	s/o
12	Rubidium 86	40 MBq	s/o	s/o
13	Soufre 35	3 GBq	· s/o	s/o
14	Zinc 65	40 MBq	s/o	s/o
15	Césium 137	s/o	400 kBq	s/o
16	Radium 226	s/o	400 kBq	s/o
17	Césium 137	s/o	1110 kBq	Beckman LS series
18	Radium 226	s/o	370 kBq	Wallac Série 1200

La quantité totale d'une substance nucléaire non scellée possédée ne doit pas excéder la quantité maximale qui est indiquée pour une source non scellée correspondante. La quantité de substance nucléaire par source scellée ne doit pas excéder la quantité maximale indiquée par source scellée correspondante. Les sources scellées doivent être utilisées seulement dans l'équipement indiqué corrrespondant.

ROIT(S) OÙ LES ACTIVITÉS AUTORISÉES PEUVENT ÊTRE EXERCÉES

utilisées ou entreposées à (aux) endroit(s) suivant(s):

110, avenue des Pins Ouest

Copie de la commission

.../ 2

Canadian Nuclear Commission canadienne Safety Commission de sûreté nucléaire

SUBSTANCES AND I DEVICES	PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT		Licence Number Numéro de permis
-----------------------------	---	--	------------------------------------

Page 2

Montréal (Québec)

TIONS

- Interdiction visant l'utilisation chez les humains Le permis n'autorise pas l'utilisation des substances nucléaires dans ou sur le corps d'une personne. (2696 - 0)
- Classification des zones, pièces et enceintes Le titulaire de permis désigne chaque zone, pièce ou enceinte où on utilise plus d'une quantité d'exemption d'une substance nucléaire non scellée à un moment donné selon la classification suivante :

(a) de niveau élementaire si la quantité ne dépasse pas 5 LAI,(b) de niveau intermédiaire si la quantité utilisée ne dépasse pas 50 LAI,

(c) de niveau supérieur si la quantité ne dépasse pas 500 LAI,
(d) de confinement si la quantité dépasse 500 LAI;
(e) à vocation spéciale, avec l'autorisation écrite de la Commission ou d'une personne autorisée par celle-ci.

À l'exception du niveau élementaire, le titulaire de permis n'utilise pas de substances nucléaires non scellées dans ces zones, pièces ou enceintes sans l'autorisation écrite de la Commission ou d'une personne autorisée par celle-ci. (2108-1)

Liste des laboratoires ١. Le titulaire de permis tient à jour une liste de toutes les zones, salles et enceintes dans lesquelles plus d'une quantité d'exemption d'une substance nucléaire est utilisée ou stockée. (2569-1)

Procédures de laboratoire 1. Le titulaire affiche en tout temps et bien en évidence dans les zones, les salles ou les enceintes où des substances nucléaires sont la Commission ou une personne autorisée par la Commission et qui correspond à la classification de la zone, de la salle ou de l'enceinte. (2570 - 1)

- j. Surveillance thyroïdienne
 - La personne a) qui utilise à un moment donné une quantité d'iode 125 ou d'iode
 131 volatiles dépassant :
 (i) 5 MBq dans une pièce ouverte,
 (ii) 50 MBq dans une hotte,
 (iii) 500 MBq dans une boîte à gants,
 (iii) toute autre quantité dans une enceinte de confinement approuv

toute autre quantité dans une enceinte de confinement approuvée (iv) par écrit par la Commission ou une personne autorisée par celle-ci; (b) qui est impliqué dans un déversement mettant en cause plus de 5
 MBq d'iode 125 ou d'iode 131 volatiles;
 (c) chez laquelle on détecte une contamination externe à l'iode 125 ou l'iode 131; doit se prêter à un dépistage thyroïdien dans les cinq jours suivant l'exposition.

(2046-7)

- Dépistage thyroïdien ŝ. Le dépistage de l'iode 125 et de l'iode 131 internes se fait : (a) par mesure directe à l'aide d'un instrument capable de détecter 1 kBq d'iode 125 ou d'iode 131; (b) par essai biologique approuvé par la Commission ou une personne autorisée par celle-ci. (2600-1)
- Essai biologique thyroïdien Si la charge thyroïdienne dans une personne depasse 10 kBq d'iode 125 ou d'iode 131, le titulaire de permis doit présenter immédiatement un rapport préliminaire à la Commission ou à une personne autorisée par

Copie de la commission

.../ 3

Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission		Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire	
	,		03055-1-08.0
sue N De	STANCES AND PERM VICES SUBS LES	NIS PORTANT SUR LES STANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT	Licence Number Numéro de permis
			Page 3
	celle-ci. Dans subir des essai Commission à of (2601-4)	s un délai de 24 heures, la es biologiques par une per frir un service de dosimét	personne en question doit sonne autorisée par la rie interne.
3.	Dosimétrie des extrémités Le titulaire de permis veille à ce que toute personne qui manipule un contenant renfermant plus de 50 MBq de phosphore 32, de strontium 89, d'yttrium 90, de samarium 153 ou de rhénium 186 porte une bague dosimètre. Le dosimètre est fourni et lu par un service de dosimétrie aùtorisé par la Commission. (2578-0)		
	Critères de con En ce qui a tra «Classification permis, le titu (a) la contamin enceintes où or scellées ne dép (i) 3 Bq/cm2 (ii) 30 Bq/cm2 (iii) 30 Bq/cm2 (b) la contamin dépasse pas : (i) 0,3 Bq/cr2 (ii) 30 Bq/cm2 selon une moyer (1ii) 30 Bq/cm2 selon une moyer (2642-2)	ntamination nit aux substances nucléair n des radionucléides» du gu ilaire de permis veille à c nation non fixée dans toute n utilise ou stocke des sub basse pas : pour tous les radionucléi 2 pour tous les radionucléi 2 pour tous les radionucléi nation non fixée pour toute nation non fixée pour toute a2 pour tous les radionucléi pour tous les radionucléi 2 pour tous les radionucléi ne établie pour une surfac	es figurant au tableau ide sur les demandes de e que : s les zones, pièces ou stances nucléaires non es de catégorie A, des de catégorie B, ides de catégorie C, e ne dépassant pas 100 cm2; s les autres zones ne ides de catégorie A, es de catégorie B, des de catégorie C, e ne dépassant pas 100 cm2.
ιο.	Déclassement Avant le décla: s'est déroulée ce que : (a) la contamin figurant au tal les demandes di (i) 0,3 Bq/cm (ii) 3 Bq/cm2 (iii) 30 Bq/cm2 (iii) 10 Bq/cm2 (i) la mise en contenant une moyen (b) la mise en contenant une se rayonnement on (d) tous les pa été retirés ou (2571-2)	ssement d'une zone, d'une p l'activité autorisée, le t nation non fixée pour les s bleau «Classification des r e permis ne dépasse pas : n2 pour tous les radionucléi pour tous les radionucléi ne établie pour une surfac disponibilité de toute zon contamination fixée soit ap utorisée par celle-ci; substances nucléaires et t t été transférés conforméme anneaux de mise en garde co ont été rendus illisible.	ièce ou d'une enceinte où itulaire de permis veille à ubstances nucléaires adionucléides» du guide sur ides de catégorie A, es de catégorie B, des de catégorie C, e ne dépassant pas 100 cm2; e, pièce ou enceinte prouvée par la Commission ou ous les appareils à nt aux conditions du permis; ntre les rayonnements ont
ι1.	 Stockage Le titulaire : a) veille à ce que seules les personnes autorisées par lui aient accès aux substances nucléaires radioactives ou aux appareils à rayonnement stockés; b) veille à ce qu'à tout endroit occupé à l'extérieur de la zone, de la salle ou de l'enceinte de stockage le débit de dose provenant des substances ou appareils stockés ne dépasse pas 2,5 microSv/h; c) a des mesures en place pour assurer que les limites de dose indiquées dans le Règlement sur la radioprotection ne sont pas dépassées en raison du stockage de ces substances ou appareils. 		
ι2.	Évacuation (la Lorsqu'il évac décharge munic veille à ce qu	boratoires) ue des substances nucléaire ipale ou un réseau d'égouts e les limites suivantes ne	s non scellées dans une , le titulaire de permis soient pas dépassées :

COLONNE 1	COLONNE 2(a)	COLONNE 3(b)
-	LIMITES	LIMITES
Substance	solides à la	liquides

Copie de la commission

.../ 4

.

R SUBSTANCES AND DN DEVICES PERMIS PORTANT SUR LES SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES

SUBSTANCES NUCLÉAIRES ET LES APPAREILS À RAYONNEMENT

Licence Number Numéro de permis

Page 4

nucléaire - -	décharge municipale (quantité au kg)	(hydrosolubles) l'égout municipal (quantité par an)
Carbone 14	3,7 MBq	10 000 MBq
Chrome 51	3,7 MBq	100 MBq
Cobalt 57	0,37 MBq	1000 MBq
Cobalt 58	0,37 MBq	100 мBq
Hydrogène 3	37 MBq	1 000 000 MBq
Iode 125	0,037 MBq	100 MBq
Iode 131	0,037 MBq	10 MBq
Phosphore 32	0,37 MBq	1 MBq
Phosphore 33	1 MBq	10 MBq
Soufre 35	0,37 MBq	1000 MBq
Technétium 99m	3,7 MBq	1000 МВд

(a) Les limites indiquées à la colonne 2 s'appliquent aux quantités de déchets solides de moins de trois tonnes par an. Les substances nucléaires évacuées dans la décharge municipale doivent être sous forme solide et distribuées uniformément dans les déchets; la concentration doit être inférieure aux limites indiquées à la colonne 2. Lorsqu'on évacue plus d'une substance nucléaire à la fois, le quotient obtenu en divisant la quantité de chaque substance par sa limite correspondante de la colonne 2 ne doit par dépaser un limite correspondante de la colonne 2 ne doit pas dépasser un.

(b) Les limites indiquées à la colonne 3 s'appliquent à la forme liquide (hydrosoluble) de chaque substance nucléaire qui peut être évacuée par an et par bâtiment. (2161 - 3)

13. Exigences concernant les contaminamètres Le titulaire de permis met en tout temps à la disposition des travailleurs sur les lieux de l'activité autorisée un contaminamètre portatif en bon état de fonctionnement. (2572 - 1)

.4. Rapport annuel de conformité Deux mois avant l'anniversaire de la date d'expiration indiquée à la section II de son permis, le titulaire de permis soumet par écrit à la Commission, ou à une personne autorisée par celle-ci, un rapport annuel de conformité de l'activité autorisée qui contient des renseignements opérationnels suffisants et sous une forme que la Commission iune personnels suffisants et sous une forme que la Commission juge acceptable. (2916 - 4)

Fonctionnaire désigné en vertu du paragraphe 37(2)(c) de la Loi sur la sûreté et la réglementation nucléaires

Copie de la commission